
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 9 February 2022 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Reception, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor David Airey 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2021. 
 

2.   Apologies  
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

4.   Recommendations from Committees (To Follow) 
 

5.   Corporate Action Plan 2022/23 (Pages 11 - 30) 
 

6.   Corporate Performance (Pages 31 - 90) 
 

7.   General Fund Revenue Budget (Pages 91 - 118) 
 

8.   Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategy (Pages 119 - 172) 
 

9.   Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts 2020/21 (Pages 173 - 180) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 24 March 2022 at 6:30 pm 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

 

CABINET 
 

Thursday, 9 December 2021  (6:30 pm – 7:05 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Bicknell, Airey, Corben, Craig, Kyrle 
and Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Gomer, Garton and Duguid  
 

________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

61. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel made the following 
recommendations relating to the Asset Transfer Policy at their meeting on 
14 October 2021 (Paper 4): 
 

(1) That Eastleigh Borough Council communicate with the Parishes to 
understand and address issues and concerns relating to asset 
transfers that are currently in progress, regardless of the outcome 
of the policy decision. 

 
(2) Ensure that asset transfer legal agreements clearly state the need 

for the Parish to provide specific expertise to appropriately 
manage sites with complex biodiversity features; and for the 
Borough Council to consider how to support Parishes achieve this, 
e.g., with training from Council staff; and  

 
(3) Ensure that asset transfer legal agreements allow for latent defects 

in assets to be addressed by the Borough Council post transfer 
where the defect has occurred through no fault of the Parish and 
could not be known about at the time of transfer, within a specified 
time period, to be agreed. 

 
The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel made the following 
recommendations relating to the Asset Transfer Policy at their meeting on 
6 December 2021 (Paper 6): 
 

(1) Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan: (1) That 
Cabinet look into exploring credible carbon offset programmes 
and consider their material impact on net emissions; and (2) 
An interim update to the action plan is brought to Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel in June 2022, but that new 
actions should be progressed as soon as operationally 
practical and should not wait for the June or December 2022 
reviews. 

3

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet agree to accept four recommendations. 
 

62. ASSET TRANSFER POLICY 
 
Issue 
 
The Council has had a policy of Asset Transfers to town and parish 
councils since 1994.  This report collates various previous related policy 
documents into a single and up-to-date policy that reflects this approach. 
(Paper 5) 
 
Consideration 
 
The Council has transferred a large number of assets to parish and town 
councils over many years, enabling those more local councils to make 
decisions and manage facilities closer to the people who use and benefit 
from those assets.  The Policy highlights the rationale and benefits of 
transferring assets. The Policy reflects the existing policy approach to 
Asset Transfers, so is therefore helpful for new Council staff, as well as 
parish and town councils, to understand the approach.  

RESOLVED –  

That Cabinet approve the Asset Transfer Policy as at Appendix A to 
the report. 

 
63. ONE HORTON HEATH PROPERTY TRANSACTION 

 
Issue 
 
The Council has previously purchased land and assets to deliver a new 
community west of Horton Heath in the borough (total 320 acres i.e. 129 
hectares). Land purchases and the Project Brief followed Cabinet 
approvals in October 2017, July 2018, April 2019, and September 2020, 
and the project is known as One Horton Heath. (Paper 6) 
 
Consideration 
 
2. Cabinet approval is sought to approve the budget for the Secondary 

Infrastructure Delivery (SID) and updates.  In the context of One 
Horton Heath, secondary infrastructure includes the following 
elements within the site boundary, between development parcels 
and enroute to key destinations within the site layout such as the 
school local centre and sports provision, the cost breakdown is 
shown in Appendix A. 

(a) Carriageways, footways & cycleways. 

4



3 
 

 

(b) Mains drainage, water, electricity, telecoms and broadband. 

(c) Formal and informal open spaces. 

(d) Surface water management via on site Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS). 

(e) Destination play facilities. 

(f) On site sports provision. 

(g) Ecological mitigation. 

(h) Nutrient mitigation via on site SuDS. 

(i) Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 

(1) Approve additional expenditure of £30.7M (Appendix A) to 
bring forward the delivery of secondary infrastructure at One 
Horton Heath funded by borrowing repaid from future sales 
and rental income; 

(2) Approve the revised serviced plot business plan (Appendix B); 
and 

(3) Approve the revised First Reserved Parcel (FRP) business plan 
(Appendix C) 

 
 

64. TREES AND DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 
 
Issue 
 
The Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
provides guidance on the approach to trees alongside new development in 
the Borough. This is the final draft version which includes limited changes 
following public consultation in June – July 2021. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration 
 
The guidance in this document will be used by Development Management 
when negotiating new development proposals and determining planning 
applications. Until the adoption of the Local Plan, this will be interim 
planning guidance. Once the Local Plan has been adopted, the Trees and 
Development SPD will become part of the Council’s Local Plan and Policy 
Framework. 
 

5



4 
 

 

RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1) Approve the final draft Eastleigh Borough Trees and 

Development Supplementary Planning Document for adoption 
alongside the Local Plan; and 

(2) Delegate authority to the Senior Planning Policy Specialist to 
make minor editing changes to the document prior to 
publication. 

 
65. BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY 2022-2032 

 
Issue 
 
The draft Biodiversity Strategy for Eastleigh Borough Council is presented 
for public consultation following comments received from the Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel on 17 June 2021. (Paper 8) 
 
Consideration 
 
The strategy highlights the key issues facing biodiversity, why biodiversity 
is important, and presents a framework for delivery. Documents pertaining 
to the framework of delivery will be reported to Cabinet separately at a 
future meeting, as will the outcomes of this consultation, in due course. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve the draft Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2032 to go 
out to public consultation, with the amended final document to be 
brought back to Cabinet for adoption after the consultation period. 
 

66. CORPORATE FEES AND CHARGES 
 
Issue 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis.  
(Paper 9) 
 
Consideration 
 
In accordance with the Budget Plan, fees and charges levied by the 
Council are reviewed annually with the intention of any changes being 
introduced, where possible, with effect from January 2022.  This report 
contains the fees and charges for services directly overseen by Cabinet.  
The increases in this report will be budgeted to achieve an additional yield 
of £168,000 in 2022/2023 which is in line with the Medium-Term Financial 
Plan.   
 

6



5 
 

 

RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve all proposed fees and charges in Appendices A 
to I to come into effect on the dates outlined in the report. 
 

67. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
Issue 
 
This report presents the Council’s financial and performance position for 
the second quarter (Q2) of 2021/22 including a forecast of the financial 
position for the full year against that budgeted.  (Paper 10) 
 
Consideration 
 
The report also highlights significant and emerging financial and 
performance issues. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas 
are outlined in Appendix A of the report. KPIs and financial variances are 
commented on in Appendices F-N. The financial monitoring for the second 
quarter of 2021/22 is forecasting total net favourable variances against the 
budget of £99,000 based on best estimates in a changing landscape. 
Capital expenditure for the first half of the financial year of 2021/22 was 
£39.3M compared to the rolling budget for the year of £81.8M. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1) note the performance of the Council for the first two quarters of 

2021/2022 and the Council’s forecast financial position for the 
year and consider any recommendations from Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel; 

(2) note the performance of the Community Investment 
Programme (Appendix C); 

(3) note the updated Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix B); 

(4) note the performance of Treasury Management, and the 
financial outlook (Appendix O); and 

(5) recommend to Council to approve the change to the Prudential 
Indicators (Appendix P). 

 
68. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 

 
Issue 
 
Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s operational and 
strategic functioning. (Paper 11) 
 

7



6 
 

 

Consideration 
 
The Executive Head of Governance is responsible for the co-ordination of 
Corporate Risk Management. The Strategic Risk Management Group 
(SRMG) are responsible for overseeing and monitoring the Council’s 
response to Risk Management. This Annual Report provides a summary of 
Risk Management activity during 2020/21 and also presents the Risk 
Management Framework (the Policy), Risk Appetite Statement and Terms 
of Reference for SRMG.  

RESOLVED –  

That Cabinet: 

(1)consider the Annual Risk Management Report,  
(2)approve the Risk Management Framework and Risk Appetite 

Statement; and 
(3)note the content of the Terms of Reference. 

 
69. EXEMPT BUSINESS 

 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

 
70. PROPERTY TRANSACTION 

 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction. (Paper 13)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

8



7 
 

 

 
71. PROPERTY TRANSACTION 

 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction. (Paper 14)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

72. PROPERTY TRANSACTION 
 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction. (Paper 15)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

73. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2021 be agreed 
as a correct record. 
 

74. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

75. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest relating to items of business on the 
agenda. 
 

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 10 February 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 17 February 2022  

COUNCIL 

Thursday, 24 February 2022  

CORPORATE ACTION PLAN 21/22 

Report of the Head of Strategic Planning and Development  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel  
 

(1) Comments on the attached Corporate Action Plan for 22/23 at Appendix 1. 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet  
 

(2) Recommends the attached revised Corporate Action Plan for 2022/23 at 
Appendix 1 for approval by Council. 
 

It is recommended that Council  
 

(1) Approves the attached revised Corporate Action Plan for 2022/23 at Appendix 
1. 

 

 

Summary 
 
The report proposes a set of high-level priority actions in each Cabinet Portfolio area for 
delivery in 22/23. The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) reflects the ambition of the Council to 
deliver for residents and businesses in the borough.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.   

 

11

Agenda Item 5



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The report relates directly to all the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) 
objectives, proposing a range of ambitious and innovative actions and projects 
to deliver benefits for the borough and helping to fulfil the Council’s mission of 
Supporting Communities and Improving Lives. 

Corporate Action Plan (CAP) 

2. The Corporate Action Plan is a statement of intention to carry out actions 
against a set of priorities, for residents, Councillors, staff and stakeholders, to 
visibly and meaningfully demonstrate its commitment to meeting Corporate 
Plan objectives. The Community Investment Programme has been a 
longstanding way of planning capital schemes and can be read alongside this 
document. 

3. The Corporate Action Plan: 

(a) Details a clear set of actions (services, projects, partnerships) in each 
Cabinet Portfolio that are chosen to have impact on corporate 
objectives, for the year ahead. (In some cases actions will fall across 
more than one year.)  

(b) Lists actions that have been identified from discussions between: 
Strategic Planning and Development Team, Senior Delivery Managers, 
Portfolio holders, Programme managers, Finance and others.   

(c) Gives the primary focus for strategic reviews including Portfolio 
holders. Strengthens the Portfolio role and encourages Cabinet 
members to act as strategic champions. Encourages cross-Cabinet 
debate on the overall suite of actions and distribution of resource 
across the Council. 

(d) Provides a rationale and/or measure so that the successful 
implementation (performance) of the action can be measured, by 
managers, Portfolio holders and Scrutiny members. Some actions do 
not lend themselves easily to quantifiable measurement. 

(e) Helps provide staff with a greater sense of cohesion, perspective and 
direction for the future year. Enables the Council to reflect at the end of 
the year on performance and levels of achievement. Provides material 
for both internal and external communication and helps in the planning 
of communications. 

4. Local Area actions are determined by Local Area Committees (LACs) and are 
described in Local Area Action Plans. Actions in the CAP may also appear as 
Local Area actions e.g. actions relating to Eastleigh Town Centre. Local Area 
Action Plans are subject to separate approval by their respective Local Area 
Committees and are all due to be approved at LAC meetings by the end of 
March 2022 ahead of the new financial year. 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

5. The attached draft at Appendix 1 shows the draft CAP for 22/23.  

Financial Implications 

6. The CAP 22/23 has been drafted in conjunction with Executive Heads 
alongside the budget planning process, with capital and revenue funds 
identified to deliver the actions in the CAP and proposed in the Council’s 
Budget for 22/23 and Medium-Term Financial Plan for approval at Council on 
24 February 2022. 

Risk Assessment 

7. The Council risks operating in a reactive way if it does not clearly prioritise 
and plan.  This could mean that agreed priorities would not be delivered and 
the right level of services would not be provided, or that the Council has 
difficulty in operating within its resources.  

8. Risks of not being able to deliver each of the actions in the CAP have been 
assessed in accordance with the Council’s Risk Management policy and 
practice, via Service Plans and project management.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

9. The CAP includes actions to specifically address inequality and health 
inequality. All the actions aim to have a positive effect on equalities where 
possible. Decisions on specific actions and projects are taken with due regard 
for equalities issues and reported in committee reports.    

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

10. The CAP includes actions to specifically respond to the Climate and 
Environment Emergency declared by the Council in July 2019. All the actions 
aim to have a positive effect on climate change and the environment where 
possible. Decisions on specific actions and projects are taken with due regard 
for climate and environmental issues and reported in committee reports.    

 

Conclusion 

11. The Corporate Action Plan sets out a range of ambitious measures to fulfil the 
objectives in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025. 

DICCON BRIGHT 
HEAD OF STRATEGIC PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
Date: 25 January 2022 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright  
Tel No: 023 8068 8436  
e-mail: diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
Corporate Action plan 2022/23 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Corporate Plan 2015-2025  

 

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

Corporate Action Plan
2022/2023

GREEN 
BOROUGH

HOUSING

ECONOMY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

15



2  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

The Council continues to work hard, delivering against the Corporate Plan (2015-2025) 
and bringing benefits to the businesses and residents of the Borough. This despite the 
Covid-19 pandemic, with venues and high streets and the Council’s own offices at Eastleigh 
House reopening during 21/22 under careful conditions, to enable people to return as far 
as possible to the patterns of life and work before the pandemic. 

Major strategic developments were given planning permission during 21/22 with the 
runway extension being granted at Southampton Airport, protecting jobs and the regional 
economy, and the green light being given to the building of up to 2,500 new homes 
through the Council’s major One Horton Heath project. The Council has taken further 
action in 21/22 to fix the broken housing market, by taking on a role as landlord, with 
affordable and commercial lettings.

The Council is working towards carbon net zero by 2025 in several ways including investing 
in sustainable fuel for its vehicles and bringing more electric vehicle charging points to 
neighbourhoods. A tree nursery has now been established to supply the 160,000 new 
trees which will be planted in the Borough by 2030. The Council is incorporating the best 
evidence on how to meet the climate and environment challenge into its plans.

Eastleigh has a long history of welcoming and looking after others; a new chapter of this 
story was written this year when the Council answered the call to help newly evacuated 
Afghan families arriving in the UK, before resettling them in permanent homes around  
the UK. In 21/22 the Council continued to innovate, to reduce street homelessness, deliver 
physical activity programmes and make the best use of our cultural and country park assets.

The Council remains ambitious, and the actions set out below reflect the way the Council 
will continue to create new homes and improve neighbourhoods, deliver services for 
residents and businesses, look and plan ahead, and respond quickly to whatever  
challenges arise. 

Introduction

16



3  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Environment: This is now the third year of the Climate and Environmental Emergency 
programme and so to ensure delivery continues and is prioritised, the Council 
is reviewing its Strategy and Action Plan, with a focus this year to also develop a 
sustainable procurement policy and deliver training to all relevant staff to embed 
Climate and Environmental thinking across the Council. 

This year the Council will also adopt and implement strategies defining its approach to 
Biodiversity and Trees which will help to reverse and restore natural declines and seek 
to maximise the protection of trees respectively, alongside outlining its approach to 
achieve the Council’s target to plant 160,000 additional trees across the Borough  
by 2030.

Last year the Environmental Health team were also particularly affected by the 
Covid-19 pandemic as they assumed responsibility for supporting local businesses to 
comply with new and changing regulations. The Council hopes that for this year, the 
team can continue a period of recovery and return to business as usual.

The Council maintained all waste and recycling collection services during 21/22 
and introduced service improvements, while many Councils suspended services due 
to a shortage of HGV drivers. In the first quarter of the year the Borough’s residents 
achieved the highest ever rate of recycling at 45.4%. In 22/23 the Council will plan 
ahead for the introduction of the Government’s Environment Act which will require 
significant changes to how the Council delivers waste and recycling services in the future.

Action Measure Timeline

Update Climate and 
Environmental Emergency 
Strategy and Action Plan

Updated Strategy and Action Plan End Q3 22/23

Develop Sustainable 
Procurement Policy

Sustainable Procurement Policy adopted 
(procurement activity currently accounts 
for approximately 69% of EBC Carbon 
emissions footprint)

End Q3 22/23

Deliver Climate and 
Environmental Emergency 
training to all relevant EBC 
staff  

Training delivered to relevant EBC 
staff to improve awareness and 
culture across organisation

End Q4 22/23

Environment Portfolio Holder

Councillor Rupert Kyrle

17



4  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Prepare for new Environment 
Act legislation and consider 
potential implications to services

Timely, clear and workable plans 
made to prepare for any changes to 
services

Throughout 
22/23

Implement the Biodiversity 
Strategy, Action Plan and 
supporting documents to 
protect biodiversity and 
reverse and restore declines 

Complete public consultation and 
implement Strategy, Action Plan and 
supporting documents 

End Q2 22/23

Implement Fly-Tipping Strategy 
to ensure the Council can be 
proactive in dealing with fly-
tipping

Updated investigation, enforcement 
and preventative measures embedded 
to deter Fly-Tipping 

End Q1 22/23

Develop and implement 
Tree Strategy to complement 
policies relating to the 
maximum protection of trees

Strategy developed and implemented 
to outline overall approach to trees, 
linking to existing policy and technical 
documents

End Q1 22/23

Use land to maximise 
opportunities to promote a 
sustainable environment  

Opportunities are identified to deliver 
multiple benefits from new and 
enhanced spaces in the borough 

Throughout 
22/23

Growing and planting 7,000 
trees from Eastleigh’s tree 
nursery

Planting of 7,000 saplings and trees, 
in line with the target and trajectory to 
plant 160,000 additional trees by 2030

Throughout 
22/23

18



5  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Transport: The pattern of travel across the Borough continued to be significantly 
changed last year with public transport patronage reduced and many people 
continuing to work from home. As the country continues to emerge from the most 
stringent restrictions to the ‘new normal’, next year, the Council will develop and adopt 
a Public Transport Strategy which will also underpin many of the actions below. This will 
support and promote more sustainable modes of transport, seek to ease congestion, 
reduce carbon emissions, and to promote healthier and more active forms of travel too.

In addition to the actions identified the Council is also pleased to see highway 
improvements to support cycling, walking and public transport within Local Area 
Committee Areas and Plans.    

Action Measure Timeline

Develop and adopt a PublicTransport 
Strategy  

Public Transport Strategy is 
developed and adopted

Throughout 
22/23: 
Develop draft Q2 
Adopt Q4

Support and promote public and 
community transport 

Increased bus and community 
transport patronage (currently 20-
40% down on pre-Covid-19 levels, 
target this year is to return to pre 
pandemic levels)

Throughout 
22/23 

Evaluate current transport contracts 
including Public Transport and Car 
Club (dependent on HCC) 

Contracts evaluated and re-tendered 
as required to ensure EBC are 
commissioning the optimum services

Throughout 
22/23 

Continue rollout of Electric Vehicle 
charging points

Install 3 EV charging points.  
(A further 9 locations currently 
under consideration)

Throughout 
22/23

Update and install new air monitoring 
equipment

Updates/Installations completed. Throughout 
22/23 

Migrate EBC fleet to more sustainable 
power source

Addition of three new electric 
waste-collection vehicles to fleet. 

Q3 

Transport Portfolio Holder

Councillor David Airey

19



6  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Support delivery of Mobility Hub/Area 
in Eastleigh Town Centre (dependent on 
HCC) 

Support provided as required 
to develop and deliver mobility 
benefits

Throughout 
22/23 

Develop approach and long-term plan 
to improve and enhance public spaces 
in Eastleigh Town Centre 

Progress workstreams related to 
guiding regeneration principles: 
‘well-connected and accessible’ 
and a ‘place to spend more time’

Throughout 
22/23 

Initiate project to explore feasibility of 
a Hedge End to Eastleigh cycle link

Project initiated to be overseen by 
Climate Board 

By Q2 22/23

Deliver Bursledon, Hamble and Hound 
Local Area wayfinding project  

Artwork installed along identified 
routes 

Start by Q2, 
complete by Q4 

20



7  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Health and Social Policy: Covid continues to be a significant challenge, negatively 
impacting the health and wellbeing of Eastleigh residents by increasing the health 
inequalities gap, affecting people’s mental health, and driving inactivity. Ensuring that the 
Council continues to address these emerging challenges will be a key priority to enable 
healthy lifestyles and tackle inequalities and deprivation. Generally, health and wellbeing 
in Eastleigh continues to be better than the England average, however there is evidence to 
suggest more needs to be done to address systemic health inequalities, unhealthy weight, 
mental health and loneliness made worse by Covid. The Council has played a leading role 
in responding to these challenges and, through a range of health services, it will continue 
to support the most vulnerable residents through providing quality housing and tackling 
homelessness. The Council wants to position Eastleigh as a regional destination for culture 
and leisure provision and empower people to improve their health and wellbeing through 
physical activity, cultural experiences, and open spaces.

Action Measure Timeline

Implement priority actions of the three 
Eastleigh Health & Wellbeing Board 
subgroups

Delivery of subgroup action 
plans

Throughout 
22/23

Develop a new Arts and Culture Strategy Strategy agreed by Cabinet By Q3 2022

Ensure the delivery of the Sports and Active 
Lifestyles Strategy Action Plan through the 
SPAA Group

Delivery of actions in the 
action plan

2022 - 2026

Ensure the delivery of the Equalities Strategy 
and Action Plan through the Equalities 
Focus Group (EFG)

Quarterly EFG meeting held 2022 - 2025

Deliver HealthWorks programmes aimed at 
addressing health inequalities and mental 
health

Increase in number of 
attendances

Number of sessions delivered

Throughout 
22/23

Deliver SportWorks programmes to tackle 
unhealthy weight and physical inactivity

Increase in number of 
attendances

Number of sessions delivered

Throughout 
22/23

Deliver a range of health and wellbeing 
programmes through Arts and Culture

Increase in number of 
attendances

Number of sessions delivered

Throughout 
22/23

Health and Social Policy Portfolio Holders

Councillor Paul BicknellCouncillor Tonia Craig

21



8  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Deliver a range of health and wellbeing 
programmes at Country Parks 

Increase in number of 
attendances

Number of sessions delivered

Throughout 
22/23

Continue to support Covid recovery across 
the Borough through campaigns aimed at 
tackling loneliness and supporting people 
who are Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV)

Number of CEV participating 
in the We Are Undefeatable 
campaign

Throughout 
22/23

Promote key indoor and outdoor leisure 
and cultural facilities so residents are aware 
of what is on offer in Eastleigh Borough

Attendances at leisure 
centres, country parks and 
theatres.

Throughout 
22/23

Continue to hold quarterly meetings of 
the Eastleigh Welfare Agencies Partnership 
(EWAP) to tackle health inequality and 
deprivation and support vulnerable 
residents across the Borough.

Attendance at EWAP 
meetings

Delivery of the Benefits 
System action plan

Throughout 
22/23

Implement a new online Making Every 
Contact Count (MECC) Pilot Project

Online training and number 
of relevant people taking the 
training per annum

Throughout 
22/23

Implement the Armed Forces Action Plan Delivery of actions in the 
action plan

Throughout 
22/23

Rollout the Employee Volunteering Scheme Number of staff volunteering Throughout 
22/23

Ensure residents have access to 
accommodation that is safe, secure & 
suitable to their needs, so that they have a 
home environment that will enable them to 
thrive

Number of DFGs granted 
in within 6 months of 
application 

Number of Disrepair reports 
that receive inspection visits

Throughout 
22/23

Hold multiagency task and finish group 
meetings to tackle rough sleeping and 
support the most vulnerable 

Decrease in number of rough 
sleepers in Eastleigh 
(Autumn count)

Start meetings 
in Q1 then 
ongoing 
quarterly 
meetings

22



9  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Housing: The Council goes from strength to strength to ensure there are enough of 
the right type of homes for residents now and for the future. Last year saw the resolution 
to approve a new development of up to 2,500 houses, local centres and employment 
facilities including a detailed scheme for 380 houses at the One Horton Heath site with 
more work to come. The Council is demonstrating an innovative and leading approach to 
housing delivery, fixing the broken housing market and making housing more accessible 
and affordable, while creating one of the most sustainable communities in the country.
The Council’s property portfolio continues to bring and keep jobs in the borough as 
well as providing surplus income which to support the development of frontline services. 
The Council has actively managed this portfolio and the finances continue to bring a 
significant return to the Council, even through the most challenging time for businesses. 

Action Measure Timeline

Adopt the Eastleigh Local Plan Adoption at full Council 
meeting

Expected June, 
dependent on Planning 
Inspectorate

Review the deliverability of housing 
sites allocated in the Local Plan and 
others expected to contribute to 
land supply in the next five years.

Quarterly five-year land 
supply reports

Quarterly completions 
monitoring

Throughout 22/23

One Horton Heath: Determination 
of applications for outline scheme 
and first detailed phase of housing.
Secure approvals for innovative 
energy infrastructure (private heat & 
wire networks). Continue detailed 
design and standards for first new 
homes. Prepare planning applications 
for infrastructure, school, shops/
businesses, and next phases of housing.

Delivery against One 
Horton Heath detailed 
Programme dates and 
targets (due for revision 
in January 2022). Key 
planning and energy 
consents and approvals 
secured

Determinations of 
first phase housing 
Q1 2022, outline 
application Q1 2022.

Energy network 
approvals Q1 2022

Commence new 
planning applications 
Q2/Q3.

Planning & Property 
Portfolio Holder 

Councillor Keith House

23



10  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Preparation of Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) Business Plan 
and work to satisfy regulatory 
compliance.

Milestones achieved within 
programme for ‘setting up’ 
the Council for holding 
and managing affordable 
homes. 

Throughout 22/23 
(target to register first 
affordable homes 
with the Regulator of 
Social Housing by 
end 2023). Joining 
Wayfarer Consortium 
to bid for Homes 
England affordable 
homes funding by 
February 2022.

Establish Leaf Residential Lettings 
& Management service

Number of market rented 
homes held and managed 
on behalf of the Council 
and response to the 
services offered. 

Service established 
and available for 
tenants at Fanfare 
Place (Eastleigh) early 
2022. Fanfare Place 
expected to be full let 
in 2022.

Ongoing review of brownfield 
land assets and seeking capital 
funding (e.g. One Public Estate 
land release fund) to unlock 
projects in support of the Asset 
Management Strategy 2020-
2025

External funding sought 
and awarded. Number of 
feasibility studies and RIBA 
stage 0 and 1 undertaken 
for prospective housing 
sites.

Expenditure of New 
Homes Bonus to subsidise 
schemes for affordable 
housing.

(Ongoing)- 
performance 
monitored monthly 
through Housing 
Programme Board.

Oversee delivery of Pembers Hill 
Park, Fair Oak (242 dwellings)

Pembers Hill LLP (joint 
venture company)- surplus 
income to be recycled in 
housing programme (on 
sale of properties). 

Options for first time 
buyers (i.e. Help to Buy); 
42 shared ownership; 
and 43 affordable rent 
dwellings.

Phase 4 (c50 units) 
starts June 22. Whole 
scheme completing 
24/25

24



11  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Housing Programme schemes: 
Secure planning permission for 
new homes in central Eastleigh 
on previously-developed land 
(scheme known as the Parlour)

Redevelopment of former 
Samsons Gym and the 
Crockery, Eastleigh (The 
Parlour near Grantham 
Green) (approx. 19 
dwellings), meeting 
housing needs, energy 
efficiency and other 
strategic objectives where 
possible.

Target submission Q1 
and Q2 for planning 
determination

Deliver new homes and 
community facilities at The Arch, 
Chandler’s Ford 

Planning approval and 
start on site by end of 
March 2023.

Planning application 
submission Q1

Deliver St Johns Phase 2 scheme 
and road

Completion of all 
preparatory work before 
start on site. 

Q1 2022 – Q1 2025 
(subject to resolution 
of legal)

Redevelopment of prominent 
former Post Office site, High 
Street, Eastleigh 

Completion of demolition 
and construction phases

Target demolition by 
Q2

25



12  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Economy: The local economy bounced back throughout 2021 as the country continues 
to live with Covid; the Council has played a key role in administering over £24m of 
Covid grants to businesses. However, the Omicron variant brings further uncertainty to 
economic stability and the coming year is likely to bear significant challenges, such as 
labour and skills shortages and high oil and gas prices driving up inflation. There is also 
the risk that the threat of further interest rate rises will constrain innovation, investment 
and growth. 

Businesses based in the borough’s town and local centres were hit hard by the loss 
of footfall during lockdowns and restrictions. As the pandemic continues, changes 
in consumer behaviour have become hard-wired, with working from home, on-line 
retail and shopping locally becoming the norm. The need for towns and local centres, 
particularly Eastleigh and Hedge End, to reposition themselves as sustainable locations 
that support health and wellbeing, and environmental change, becomes ever more 
pressing and remains a corporate priority. The Council remains ambitious about 
encouraging businesses to come and to stay in the borough and helping skill the local 
workforce to make the most of job opportunities. Developing a green economy will form 
a key part of the Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan as the Council 
works towards becoming carbon neutral and support the Borough businesses to do  
the same.

With the ongoing work developing the Full Business Case, if accepted by Government 
the Solent Freeport bid will bring the Council together with other stakeholders to create 
new jobs, new infrastructure and prosperity for the borough. The Council remains 
committed to working with partners to make use of the employment land any future 
development will provide.

Action Measure Timeline

Work with stakeholders to 
implement plans for a Freeport, 
promote opportunities to 
investors. Continue work to 
unlock employment land to 
enable inward investment and 
job creation at Riverside and the 
northern business park on land 
at the airport. 

Progress and maintaining the strong 
partnerships with landowners on the 
Riverside/Railway works / Airport

Submission of 
Freeport Full 
Business case 
April ‘22

Planning 
applications 
during 22/23

Economy Portfolio Holder

Councillor Derek Pretty

26



13  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

Determine planning applications 
delivering a southern link road 
between Southampton Road, the 
Airport and the Railway works 
(Diageo).

Hybrid planning applications 
determined

Submission 
of application 
summer 
2022. 
Determined 
Spring 2023

Monitor future needs for serviced 
office accommodation in the 
Borough, post Covid, pending 
Asset Management review.

Sites identified and planned in as 
suitable for providing flexible office 
and retail space

22/23

Create business opportunities 
that contribute to EBC climate 
change targets 2025. 

A minimum Conference attendance 
of 50 invited businesses from the 
‘green’ and manufacturing sector

22/23

Deliver skills recovery 
programme through 
development of Youth hub

650 beneficiaries accessing the 
service and equivalent number of 
borough businesses recruited as 
placements

22/23

Providing exemplar provision and 
use of employment space and 
associated programmes on OHH

Creation of employment and skills 
plan for OHH

22/23

Support the recovery of town and 
local centres across the borough, 
including business support, 
cultural and events programme 
and business promotion.

 Implementation of borough-wide 
support and activity including 22/23 
Eastleigh Town Centre Action Plan

22/23

27



14  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Regeneration (North) 
Portfolio Holder

Regeneration (South) 
Portfolio Holder

Councillor Paul Bicknell Councillor Ian Corben

Regeneration: 2021/22 has been a full year that saw a wide range of projects move 
forward to completion across the borough. A new play area at Lawn Road will follow 
Pirelli Park in being completed by the end of the year. In Eastleigh town centre the 
finishing touches to the Wells Place pedestrian area are going in and a new community 
garden at Market Street has been created from an old disused basketball court. The new 
North Stoneham development has a new community building and day nursery. In Hedge 
End work has continued to prepare for a major redevelopment of the former Budgens 
site and a range of smaller projects have been completed to help people get about and 
feel proud of their neighbourhood: a new crossing at Shamblehurst Lane, improvements 
at Coronation Parade in Hamble, and new heritage and waymarking signs in West End 
and Hedge End.

Throughout 21/22 project work has been affected by significant changes and challenges 
in supply chains and labour markets.  The cost of labour and materials is increasing and 
uncertain. The Council has managed these threats in the best possible way, adapting 
projects and working harder with other organisations where necessary. It is likely that 
such uncertainty and challenge will continue into 22/23.

As well as the projects listed below, the Council is also actively delivering projects that 
appear in the Action Plans of the five Local Area Committees.

Action Measure Timeline

Toilet refurbishment, Eastleigh (subject 
to legal agreements)

(subject to legal 
agreements)

Project due to 
restart Jan 2022. 
Completion estimated 
during 2022.

Improve Hiltingbury Lakes Watercourse repairs, 
path works, bridge 
works, signage

Completion June 
2022

Woodhouse Lane Sports Facilities Playing pitch, 
community building, 
community use 
agreement

Completion Jan 2023

28



15  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Action Measure Timeline

IVCP Strategic Delivery Major improvements 
to visitor centre and 
Park infrastructure 
(subject to planning). 

Planning 
determination Spring 
2022.

The Berry Theatre Gates Installation. 
(Fabrication subject to 
steel prices)

Completion estimated 
by Q2 22/23

Regenerate Hedge End Town Centre Secure possession of 
sites. Agree tenant 
terms. (Subject to 
negotiations)

During 22/23 

Redevelop The Green site  
(former Civic Office site)

Planning 
determination due in 
Q4 21/22

Construction start 
during 22/23

Kestrel Park (Bursledon) New country park and 
play area

Estimated completion 
by Summer 22

Freespace – new skatepark/bike track Preconstruction work 
including planning

Construction start 
during 22/23

Flexford Nature Reserve Infrastructure 
improvements

Estimated start during 
22/23

29



16  |  Corporate Action Plan  2022/2023

Whether the Council is delivering homes and infrastructure, providing quality services and 
facilities, protecting health and the environment or simply carrying out its statutory functions, 
there is a huge amount of work ‘behind the scenes’ and at the interface with customers, that 
makes it all happen. The Council has ambitious plans to improve customer care and make 
the most of digital technology to make services as efficient and accessible as possible.

Organisational actions

Action Measure Timeline

Deliver a revised IT programme Programme milestones 2022-2027

Create two new parish councils 
including elections, precepting 
and transfer of assets

Successful elections and 
completion of first transfers

Q1 22/23

Review of s106 process Accelerated delivery of community 
infrastructure and improved 
monitoring of obligations

22/23

Review workflows, processes and 
back-office support in Customer 
Care

Improved performance in 
response and processing time for 
Homelessness, Finance, HR and 
Council Tax

Q3 22/23

Develop strategic improvement 
plan for customer care

An agreed plan Q3 22/23

Deliver programme of 
Communications campaigns and 
activity including Covid-19 advice, 
health and wellbeing, CEE

Outputs, take-up of promoted 
activities 

Throughout 
22/23

Embed a coaching culture Staff satisfaction and productivity Throughout 
22/23

Implement recruitment and 
retention plan

Reduced vacancies, improved 
resilience

Throughout 
22/23

Improvements to Neighbourhood 
Services depot at Hedge End

Infrastructure improvements to 
future-proof services and deliver 
greener service (EV/HVO)

Establish 
viability 
during 22/23

Appoint new Chief Executive New Chief Executive in place. In place by 
summer 2022

30



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 10 February 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy and Performance:  
 
(1) It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 

performance and financial position of the Council for the first three quarters 
of the year making any recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.  
 

For Cabinet:  
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) note the performance of the Council for the first three quarters of 2021/22 and 
the Council’s forecast financial position for the year and consider any 
recommendations from Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel. 

(3) note the performance of the Community Investment Programme (Appendix C). 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the Council’s financial and operational performance position for the 
third quarter (Q3) of 2021/22, including a forecast of the financial position for the full year 
against that budgeted.  The report also highlights significant and emerging financial and 
performance issues. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in 
Appendix A of the report. KPIs and financial variances are commented on in Appendices 
E-M.  

The financial monitoring for the third quarter of 2021/22 is forecasting total net favourable 
variances against the budget of £315,000 based on best estimates in a changing 
landscape. This position will be reflected in the Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). 

Capital expenditure up to the third quarter of financial year 2021/22 was £45m compared 

31

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

to the rolling budget for the year of £65M. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Sections 41 and 42 Local Government Act 
1972, Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, including 
financial performance, is key to ensuring delivery against strategic objectives 
set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025, delivery of actions in the 
Corporate Action Plan 21/22, and contributes to the management of corporate 
risk. The report details budget variances compared to the rolling budget. The 
report also details key performance indicators which allows monitoring of 
performance trends. Individual variances and performance measures are 
being actively managed by service managers with the support of the Finance 
team. 

 

Introduction 

2. This report brings together the context of the Council’s strategic ambitions, its 
performance working towards them, and the financial implications and 
challenges of both. This ensures greater transparency and presents a full 
picture of the overall position. 

3. Performance overall is good considering the challenging environment, 
changes in the labour market, and customer demand. The £315,000 net 
underspend position across the whole Council is positive overall although 
there have been challenges with performance in a few areas, e.g. Waste 
collection.  Where challenge areas have been identified action has been taken 
to mitigate impacts and improve performance in the short and longer term.  

4. Further detail on operational delivery is included within the Executive 
Summary Reports [Appendices E-M]. 

5. The report contains, in the Appendices, details of the following: 

Appendix  Description 
A Council Strategy Scorecard 

[Detail for P&P, Summary for Cabinet] 

B Portfolio Variance Report 

C Community Investment Programme (CIP) Monitoring 

D Financial Risk Assessment  

E Finance and Housing Executive Summary Report 

F Assets and Project Delivery Executive Summary Report 

G Governance Executive Summary Report 

32



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

H Customer Care Executive Summary Report 

I Organisational Development Executive Summary Report 

J Planning and Economy Executive Summary Report 

K Environment Executive Summary Report 

L Health and Wellbeing Executive Summary Report 

M Neighbourhood Services Executive Summary Report 
 

Strategic Overview 

6. The gradual easing of lockdown restrictions, alongside the longer-term 
solution of the national vaccine rollout, has allowed for a degree of return to 
pre-Covid delivery although uncertainty and some restrictions still exist. This 
report has been produced with the current expectation that service levels will 
stabilise and return to pre-pandemic levels, with the safety of staff and 
residents the key priority. The Council is starting to look forward beyond 
recovery and is working to understand what the future demand for services 
will be in the context of changed customer behaviour, changes to national 
legislation, changes in relationships with other local authorities, and other 
changes in the economy e.g. the employment market. 

7. Performance overall is good considering the fluctuating patterns of customer 
behaviour and demand.  These levels of uncertainty are likely to continue into 
2022/23 and services are already planning on the basis of the best possible 
predictions of demand.   

8. A considerable amount of management effort is now involved in service 
improvement (Case Management, Waste Services, recruitment), maintaining 
performance, and addressing critical external threats (e.g. changes in demand 
and in the labour market). At the same time the Council is embedding a new 
leadership structure, performance and planning processes, developing 
proposals for longer term home/office working, and pressing forward with its 
ambitions on Housing delivery, management and lettings.  Strategic and 
service planning for 2022/23 has begun to address this set of challenges and 
complex demands across the Council’s various activities.  It will be important 
for the Council to improve and further develop its approach to prioritising and 
planning during 22/23 and beyond. 

9. Delivery of the Council’s Community Investment Programme is similarly 
challenging, with the pressure of increased construction and labour costs and 
the ongoing need to embed Climate and Environment Emergency (declared 
2019) considerations into projects.  

10. The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) 2021/22 sets out the key outward-facing 
actions the Council has embarked upon; progress at Quarter 3 delivering this 
Plan is good overall. Many actions are due to be completed during the whole 
year and on track to do so. Many of these are referenced in the Executive 
Summary Reports appended to this report.  A separate report for Policy and 
Performance Committee in December showed progress against each CAP 

33

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/6510/corporate-action-plan.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

action at the mid-year (Q2) stage. (Actions in Local Area Action Plans for 
2021/22 are reported to Local Area Committees). 

 

Service Performance 

11. Performance monitoring covers the first three quarters of 2021/22, running 
from April 2021 to December 2021. Appendix A shows a scorecard summary 
for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs are organised into five 
strategic themes: Environment; Economy; Health and Wellbeing; Housing and 
Development; and Organisation.  

12. Due a delay in the External Audit sign-off of the 2021/22 Statement of 
Accounts (completed January 2022) the General Fund balance could not be 
confirmed until this time. The final sign-off of the Collection Fund and Capital 
Financing meant that an additional £2.8M can be recognised in the General 
fund balance. This increase is to fund the NDR Exceptional balance and 
increased contribution to the Interest Reserve (para 25). 

13. Service managers have reviewed their financial and service performance for 
the first 3 quarters and used this information as a basis for forecasting 
financial performance for the full year. The aggregate of these forecasts 
estimates an underspend against the approved budget for 2021/22 of 
£315,000 compared to £99,000 as at Quarter 2. 

14. The financial performance of all services has been discussed with service 
managers and significant variances, including transfers to and from reserves, 
are explained in the Executive Summary Reports in Appendices E-M. During 
the year the financial performance will continue to be monitored and where 
estimates become more certain, these will be reported to Cabinet if budgetary 
changes are necessary. 

34



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

15. The table below shows the summarised General Fund statement by Portfolio:  

 

16. The continued impact of COVID-19 during the quarter has been more 
significant than the previous quarter due to the emergence of the Omicron 
COVID variant.  Some services (in particular Direct Services) were impacted 
by absences which increased the pressure on existing resource and the need 
for alternate resource considerations. Similarly, the Council continued to divert 
resource toward the Afghan resettlement scheme in order to assist with the 
national emergency. Despite the pressures, core services have been 
maintained, and the Council continues to plan ahead based on its best 
assessment of the position.  

17. Like many other employers, the current position of the job market has 
continued to affect the Council’s ability to recruit and, as such, a review of 
recruitment is in progress to address this key priority for the Council. 
Recommendations are being developed and action has been taken during the 
quarter to help the position. The review is focused upon the following themes: 
Attract, Recruit and Retain and where necessary, targeted recruitment 
campaigns have been initiated. The use of social media for recruitment is also 
being championed to reach a wider audience. The Council continues to focus 
on improving its retention position to reduce the need for recruitment and to 
support the career development of existing staff.  

18. The paragraphs below outline the most notable matters affecting individual 
services since Quarter 2, resulting in a positive change from previous quarter 
against services totalling £122,000, with the portfolio identified in bold: 

19. The refurbishment of Eastleigh Business Centre (Skills and Business) is no 
longer expected within this current financial year, so the predicted reduction of 
income has been removed in this forecast. This has resulted in an 

 

Original Rolling Forecast Outturn 

 
Budget Budget 

 
Variance 

Portfolio Name £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

     Area Committees  1,464 1,304 1,304 0 
Skills & Business (238) (187) (230) 43 
Environment 6,165 6,602 7,063 (462) 
Health 2,524 2,671 2,425 246 

Planning and Property (6,921) (6,987) (9,952) 2,965 
Social Policy 3,106 3,305 2,493 812 
Transport (114) (64) 202 (266) 
          

Position on Services 5,988 6,644 3,306 3,338 

     Non-Service Related Items (5,987) (6,329) (500) (5,829) 
Increased General Fund (para 12) - - (2,806) 2,806 
          

Net Position 1 315 - 315 

35



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

improvement of £163,000 between Q2 and Q3. A working group has been 
established to consider the future development of Eastleigh Business Centre.  

20. A £1.3m IT (Planning and Property) capital programme was agreed in 2019 
for 5 years. The implications of these capital developments then create an 
additional revenue cost in terms of licences, it has now been forecast that an 
extra (£350,000) needs to be costed to software applications revenue budget 
on an ongoing basis. These costs are primarily associated with Amazon Web 
Services, Microsoft Office 365 and remote working. There is further work to 
complete to review the ongoing implications of remote working and numbers 
of licences being issued.  

21. The overall forecast variance for Neighbourhoods Services after the parking 
income shortfall is accounted for is £273,440 (Transport) unfavourable. This 
is mainly caused by the operational costs of running the Council’s Fleet with 
prices of spare parts across all types of vehicles\plant increasing by between 
11% and 70% due to supply issues, increasing haulage industry costs 
following the reopening of economic sectors and the permitting of cross state 
travel resulting in an adverse forecast variance of £68,000. In addition, the 
price of HVO fuel has increased in line with other fuel price increases since 
we initially started its use and therefore the pricing has been increased. This 
has resulted in a forecast variance of £70,000, although we will continue to 
seek n a competitive price in line with the market. There has also been an 
increase in our insurance premium of £30,000, and there is a shortfall in the 
external income for MOTs of £33,000 due to the pandemic. 

22. Parking Services (Transport) is forecasting an under recovery in income 
beyond the estimated impact by a further (£22,000), now totalling (£403,000). 
The Parking Working Group, which includes relevant Portfolio Holders, has 
been set up to review performance and identify any actions to mitigate future 
income losses. 

23. The Climate and Environmental Emergency continues to be a priority for the 
Council. The reserve funding drawn down has been utilised to better establish 
the foundations of the Council’s aspirations and to make progress across the 
action plan. Progress has continued and the additional staff time and 
resources has started to move actions assessed as red, to amber. A tender 
process has been completed for three electric refuse vehicles and the 
installation of electric vehicle charging points in Eastleigh car parks will 
continue during quarter 4.   

24. Planning policy (Planning and Property) has required less consultancy work 
for the Local Plan, partially due to a push to bring the work in-house, resulting 
in an underspend against the budget of £247,000. 

25. As detailed in paragraph 12 the General Fund balance increased by £2.8M to 
a total of £3.8M. This has been transferred from the General Fund to the 
Income and Expenditure account to recognise an increased transfer to the 
Interest Reserve and funding of the exceptional covid balance relating to 
NNDR. This is recognised by an increase overspend in non-Service related 
items from Quarter 2 to Quarter 3 to a total of £5.8M. 

36



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and Budget Report 

26. The ongoing impacts of the above have been considered and addressed 
during the budget planning process and included within the MTFP. 

27. A revised budget and MTFP has been produced and will be reported to 
Cabinet and Council in February 2022 for approval. 

 

General Fund and Reserves 

28. The General Fund balance is maintained at the minimum balance of 10% of 
Net Cost of Services for the life of the plan. In addition, other earmarked 
reserve balances are considered to be at the appropriate levels as further 
detailed in the Budget Report. 
 

Community Investment Programme 

29. The Community Investment Programme (CIP) has a rolling budget of £65m 
for 2021/22. Appendix C provides an overview of the current CIP position. 

30. For the period to the end of December £45m has been spent, representing 
69% of the rolling budget.  It is forecast that expenditure will continue to rise in 
line with the rolling budget as the year progresses. 

31. Capital expenditure throughout the year has been predominantly incurred on 
Housing and Infrastructure.  With the Housing expenditure consisting of: 

 £9.5m for the purchase of additional land at the Solar Park within the 
One Horton Heath Development (OHH). 

 £6.5m expenditure on the infrastructure works at OHH, which includes 
the completion of the £20.8m funding from Homes England for the 
LAAC grant. 

 £5m for the purchase of homes at Stoneham phase 5. 

 £3.5m for the ongoing construction works at Fanfare Place. 

 £1m on Disabled Facilities Grants to residents within the borough. 

32. Capital expenditure on Infrastructure is predominantly made up of the £16.8m 
purchase of Chalcroft Solar Park Ltd within the OHH development. 

33. The progress of CIP schemes is reported to relevant boards monthly as part 
of the highlight reports completed by Project Managers for each scheme.  As 
with Service Managers, Project Managers are asked to identify forecast spend 
for the year in order that total CIP budgets can be monitored effectively and 

37



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

profiled into the most appropriate financial year.  This is an iterative process, 
with adjustments to budgets between financial years being made as and when 
reported to the relevant boards or through the financial monitoring process. 
 

Corporate Continuous Improvement Strategy 

34. The Council continues to strive to achieve financial resilience through 
innovation and the identification of efficiencies without cutting or reducing the 
quality of services. The budget report and MTFP contain more detail as to 
how this is planned to be achieved, with budgets set and monitored for 
2022/23 and the medium term accordingly. 

 
35. The ongoing achievement of the Continuous Improvement Programme, which 

seeks to deliver both financial and non-financial efficiencies, will be reported 
quarterly to Cabinet from next financial year. 
 

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement 

36. As the Council’s Statutory Finance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer is 
required to advise the Council on all pertinent financial matters and to alert 
Councillors to any concerns they may have regarding the financial well-being 
of the Council. 

37. Financial monitoring is required to be timely and accurate so the identification 
of variances from forecast levels of expenditure to budgeted levels of 
expenditure are known.  This identification allows the Council to utilise 
underspent, or reallocate financial resources accordingly, in order to continue 
to meet service level standards. 

38. The performance monitoring process is a very important element of the 
Council’s financial arrangements as it assesses how effective the day-to-day 
management of budgets has been throughout the year. Any unforeseen 
overspends and underspends can distort the Council’s financial position and 
financial planning process. 

39. Linking the financial monitoring with operational context highlights the outputs 
the Council achieves from its resources, allowing assessment of efficiency 
and effectiveness. Understanding this is key to ensuring greater value for 
money through informed service planning and prioritisation of resources. 

40. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought into sharp focus the need for accurate 
and detailed financial planning. The success of the Council’s approach to 
financial management has enabled the identification and reporting of financial 
pressures and the early identification of potential savings. Undoubtedly this is 
a testing time for the economy and that includes local government, although 
Eastleigh Borough Council is well placed to sustainably manage financially 
into the future.   

38



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

41. The Council continues to manage finances well and maintains a healthy level 
of reserves despite the impacts of the pandemic.  However, with the 
uncertainties in the future economic landscape it is important that the Council 
continues to closely monitor financial performance.  Expenditure must be 
contained within budgets and the Continuous Improvement Strategy needs to 
be developed to be achievable and realistic to ensure continued financial 
stability. 

 

Risk Assessment 

42. The purpose of the performance monitoring process is to give Councillors and 
the public the assurance that the Council’s finances and performance are 
performing broadly in line with the Budget and service targets. This report is 
integral to the risk management process in respect of the Council’s finances. 
A full risk assessment in respect of the Council’s current and future financial 
position is included within the Provisional Outturn, Medium Term Budget 
Strategy and Budget reports that are submitted to Cabinet and Council. 
Appendix D contains the Financial Risk Assessment. Risks pertaining to the 
delivery of Council services are monitored through the use of a risk register at 
a service and corporate level. All risks captured are mitigated against and the 
effectiveness of the mitigation is monitored regularly in conjunction with the 
Council’s Strategic Risk Management Group. 
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

43. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

44. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, effective financial monitoring enables the delivery of 
the Council’s Strategic Objectives of which include supporting the Climate 
Change Programme. 

 

Conclusion 

45. This report, as well as providing a comprehensive snapshot of the Council’s 
finances, provides the opportunity to advise Councillors of significant 
performance issues that may impact on the Council’s finances. The forecast 

39



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

overall revenue position at 31 December 2021 suggests a forecast favourable 
position of £315,000 for the full year. 

46. The significant performance areas outlined within this report, together with the 
overview of service KPIs and financial information contained within the 
appendices, give Councillors an opportunity to understand current 
performance and risks impacting the delivery of services to customers. Whilst 
the Council is continuing to deliver a comprehensive range of services there 
are some performance areas needing attention and rectification of these 
issues is important in ensuring the Council is continuing to meet customer 
needs. 

SARAH KING 
Corporate Director – Chief Financial Officer 

 
Date: 18 January 2022 
Contact Officer: Joe Mills  
e-mail: joe.mills@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 13 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

40



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 KPI thresholds

01 Collected domestic waste recycled (%) ↑
Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

 GREEN

45.4% (Q1)

GREEN

 47.0% (Q2)

GREEN

 47.0% (Q2)

GREEN

 47.0% (Q2)

Data not yet 

available

Data not yet 

available

Data not yet 

available

Green = 45% or more

Amber = less than 45%

Red = less than 42.4%

02
Collected domestic residual waste (Kg 

per household per month)
↓

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

RED

38.0 (Q1)

RED

37.7 (Q2)

RED

37.7 (Q2)

RED

37.7 (Q2)

Data not yet 

available

Data not yet 

available

Data not yet 

available

Green = less than 35.5kg

Amber = less than 36.7kg

Red = 36.7kg or more

03a

Customer-reported missed bins - refuse 

& recycling only (number, and as 

percentage of all bins collected)

↓

RED

769

(0.29%)

RED

518

(0.21%)

RED

813

(0.33%)

RED

787

 (0.32%)

RED

575

(0.23%)

RED

529

(0.22%)

RED

509

(0.21%)

RED

386

(0.16%)

RED

431

(0.18%)

Green = less than 300

Amber = less than 350

Red = 350 or more

03b

Repeat missed bins within same month 

by household (number, and as 

percentage of all missed bins)

↓

AMBER

78

(10.1%)

AMBER

58

(11.2%)

GREEN

59

(7.3%)

GREEN

47

(6.0%) 

GREEN

25

(4.4%)

GREEN

40

(7.6%)

GREEN

31

(6.1%) 

GREEN

14

(3.6%)

GREEN

21

(4.9%)

Green = less than 10%

Amber = less than 15%

Red = 15% or more

04

Land Audit Management System (LAMS) 

score (% of non-acceptable rated 

inspections, & actual number of 

inspections)

↓

GREEN

0.0%

(0/41)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/95)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/36)

AMBER

0.0%

(0/26)

AMBER

0.0%

 (0/24)

GREEN

0.0%

 (0/50)

RED

0.0%

(0/2)

RED

0.0%

(0/0)

GREEN

0.0%

(0/72)

Green = 5% or less

Red = more than 5%

05
Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time 

(%, & actual number of incidents)
↑

GREEN

96%

(86/90)

GREEN

100%

(68/68)

GREEN

98%

82/84 

GREEN

96%

94/98 

RED

70%

 (64/91)

RED

61%

 (43/70)

RED

32%

(27/84)

GREEN

95%

57/60 

RED

89%

49/55

Green = 95% or more

Amber = 90% or more

Red = less than 90%

06

NO2 concentration at monitoring site 

with highest level (average for year to 

date in ugm-3)

↓ No data available No data available No data available No data available No data available No data available No data available No data available No data available

Green = 40µgm-3 or less

Amber = more than 40µgm-3

Red = more than 45µgm-3

07
Noise nuisance requests responded to on 

time (% & actual number of requests)
↑

AMBER

84%

(27/32)

GREEN

94%

(29/31)

AMBER

88%

(37/42)

GREEN

99%

(67/68)

GREEN

100%

(46/46)

GREEN

94%

(45/48)

GREEN

100%

(22/22)

GREEN

96%

(24/25)

GREEN

100%

(11/11)

Green = 90% or more

Amber = less than 90%

Red = less than 75%

08a

Businesses supported (number per 

month and YTD) including Wessex House 

and Platform4 Business

↑

GREEN

1,169

(YTD = 1,169

[1159 Covid]

GREEN

622

(YTD = 1,791)

[1,761 = Covid]

GREEN

204

(YTD = 1,995)

[1,954 = Covid]

GREEN

19

(YTD = 2,014)

[1,965 = Covid]

GREEN

68

(YTD = 2,082)

[2,004 = COVID]

GREEN

63

(YTD = 2,145)

[2,050 = COVID]

GREEN

14

(YTD = 2,159)

[2,056 = COVID] 

GREEN

12

(YTD = 2,171)

[2,060 = COVID]

GREEN                         

4

(YTD = 2175)

[2,063 = COVID]  

Green = 1,000 or more for year] 

Red = less than 1,000 for year 

08b
Businesses registered to pay rates 

(number)
↑ 3,228 3,226 3,227 3,226 3,227 3,225 3,216 3,215 3,213 Target yet to be decided

09a
Council Tax collected (cumulative 

percentage) 
↑

AMBER

8.4%

[2019/20 = 9.6%]

GREEN

18.1%

[2019/20 = 

19.1%]

GREEN

27.1%

[2019/20 = 

27.9%]

GREEN 

36.0%

[2019/20 = 

36.9%]

GREEN

44.9%

[2019/20 = 

45.9%]

 AMBER

54.0%

2019/20 = 

55.5%] 

AMBER

63.1%

[2019/20 = 

64.6%]

AMBER

72.2%

[2019/20 = 

74.0%]

AMBER 

81.2%

[2019/20 = 

83.2%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 

2019/20

09b
Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business 

rates) collected (cumulative percentage)
↑

GREEN

10.3%

[2019/20 = 9.4%]

GREEN

20.3%

[2019/20 = 

20.0%]

RED

24.4%

[2019/20 = 

28.7%]

RED 

32.6%

[2019/20 = 

37.8%]

RED

40.9%

[2019/20 = 

46.5%]

RED

48.1%

[2019/20 =    

55.2%]

RED

59.8%

[2019/20 = 

64.8%]

RED

67.2%

[2019/20 = 

72.5%]

RED

76.8% 

[2019/20 = 

81.4%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 

2019/20

Full Performance Monitoring Report - December 2021 

41



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 KPI thresholds

Full Performance Monitoring Report - December 2021 

10
Occupancy rate for tenantable space at 

Eastleigh Business Centre (%)
↑

AMBER

71%

 AMBER

73% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

72% 

 AMBER

71% 

 AMBER

71% 

 AMBER

68% 

 AMBER

67% 

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%.

[Thresholds before 4/2020: Green = 

84% or more; Amber = less than 84%; 

Red = less than 80%]

11

Council Tax - Customers with 

outstanding account queries older than 

15 days (number)

↓
GREEN

89

GREEN

115

RED

665

RED

759

RED

1,212

RED

1,706

RED

1,566

RED

1,654

RED

1,400

April 2020 onwards:

Green = less than 200

Amber = less than 400

Red = 400 or more

12a
Attendance at The Point and Berry 

Theatres (% of capacity)
↑

RED

0%

[Venues closed 

due to 

pandemic]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[328]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[2,227]

RED

Capacity 

undetermined

[1,994]

GREEN

1,298

(59%)

GREEN

1,474

(67%)

RED

1,069

(34%)

AMBER

3,900

(42%)

AMBER

4,757

(44%)

Green = 50% or more

Amber = 40% or more

Red = less than 40%

12b
Participation in Arts and Culture activities 

(number, and % of target)
↑

RED

799

(32%)

RED

348

(13%)

RED

1,286

(52%)

RED

1,705

(68%)

RED

1,334

(53%)

GREEN

8,214

(329%)

RED

1,578

(63%)

RED

1,119

(45%)

RED

1,314

(53%)

Annual target 30,000 (2,500 per 

month)

Green = 2,500 (100%) or more 

Amber = 2,375 (95%) or more

Red = less than 2,250 (90%)

13

Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park 

(number, and % of variable monthly 

target)

↑

GREEN

30,955

(117%)

[Target 26,400] 

GREEN

22,330

(93%)

[Target 24,000]

GREEN

21,843

(101%)

[Target  21,600]

AMBER      

23,340         

(88%)        [Target 

26,400]

GREEN

37,003

(119%)

[Target 31,200]

GREEN

21,700

(101%)

[Target 21,600]

GREEN

23,750

(110%)

[Target 21,600]

GREEN

15,543

(108%)

[Target 14,400]

AMBER

14,125

(84%)

[Target 16,800]

Variable monthly target

Green = 90% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

14a
Attendance at HealthWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

RED

134

RED

361

RED

591

RED

999

AMBER

1,226

RED

966

RED

818

RED

822

RED

637

Green = more than 85% (1,488)

Amber = more than 65% (1,138)

Red = 65% (1,138) or less

14b
Attendance at SportWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

RED

210

GREEN

1,113

GREEN

996

GREEN

2,642

GREEN

6,056

GREEN

3,610

GREEN

3,464

GREEN

2,797

GREEN

1,941

Green = more than 85% (508)

Amber = more than 65% (388)

Red = 65% (388) or less

15
Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh 

(number)
↑

RED

19,447

RED                

34,542
RED            36,978

RED

36,448           

RED

38,572

RED

36,505

RED

33,623

RED

48,350

RED

34,290

Green = 91,166 or more

Amber = 80,000 or more

Red = less than 80,000

16
Households on housing register 

(number)
↓ 1,916 1,899 1,939 1,934 1,936 1,918 1,928 1,957 2,091

No target

[Av. 2018/19 = 1,845; 2019/20 = 

1,774; 2020/21 = 1,884]

17
Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 

properties (months)
↓

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

25.8

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

23.8

GREEN

23.7

GREEN

23.7

GREEN

23.7

Green = 36.7 or less

Red = more than 36.7

18

Households staying in emergency 

accommodation arranged by the Council 

(number)

↓
RED*

14

AMBER

8

RED

9

RED

12

RED

9

RED

12

RED

14

RED

9

RED

12

Green = less than 4 households

Amber = less than 9 households

Red = 9 or more households

42



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 KPI thresholds

Full Performance Monitoring Report - December 2021 

19a
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing 

Benefit) claims received (number)
↔ 124 112 141 147 138 171 158 163 104 No target (workflow indicator)

19b
Time to process new benefit (Council Tax 

Support & Housing Benefit) claims (days)
↓

GREEN

21.7

GREEN

20.7

AMBER

24.0

GREEN

21.8

AMBER

22.1

GREEN

15.9

GREEN

9.9

GREEN

 6.9

GREEN

8.8

Green = less than 22 days

Amber = less than 26 days

Red = 26 days or more

20

Time to process benefit (Council Tax 

Support & Housing Benefit) change 

events (days)

↓
GREEN

4.0

GREEN

4.9

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

4.5

GREEN

6.2

GREEN

5.9

GREEN

4.9

GREEN

4.2

GREEN

4.6

Green = less than 9 days

Amber = less than 11 days

Red = 11 days or more

21

Proportion of DFGs decided within 6 

months of the application submission 

date

↑
GREEN

89%

GREEN

80%

GREEN

94%

GREEN

100%

RED

57%

AMBER

71%

GREEN

91%

GREEN

91%

GREEN

89%

Green = 75% or more 

Amber = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

22
Net additional homes delivered 

(number)
↑

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

GREEN

246

(Q1 total)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

RED

112

(Q2 total)

Quarterly 

collated figure

Quarterly 

collated figure

Data not yet 

available

Green = total 189 or more net 

dwellings per quarter 

Red = less than 189 net dwellings

23a

Major planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↑

RED

50%

(1/2)

GREEN

100%

(2/2)

GREEN

100%

(4/4)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

RED

50%

(1/2)

GREEN

67%

(2/3)

GREEN

100%

(0/0)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

Green = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

23b

Minor planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↑

RED

56%

(5/9)

GREEN

69%

(9/13)

GREEN

100%

(5/5)

GREEN

90%

(17/19)

GREEN

86%

(6/7)

GREEN

77%

(10/13)

GREEN

85%

(11/13)

GREEN

91%

(19/21)

GREEN

80%

(4/5)

Green = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%

23c
Other planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%)
↑

RED

76%

(55/72)

GREEN

94%

(84/89)

GREEN

96%

(71/74)

GREEN

81%

(51/63)

GREEN

93%

(53/57)

GREEN

92%

(76/83)

GREEN

85%

(40/47)

GREEN

89%

(57/64)

GREEN

96% 

(43/45)

Green = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

24

Planning appeals allowed as a proportion 

of all planning application decisions (%, 

and actual number of appeals and 

decisions)

↓

GREEN

0.0%

(0 of 5 

appeals/155 

decisions) 

GREEN

0.6%

(1 of 3 

appeals/179 

decisions)

GREEN

0%

(No appeals/118 

decisions)

GREEN

0.54%

(1 of 2 

appeals/184 

decisions)

GREEN

0%

(0 of 1 

appeals/117 

decisions) 

GREEN

0.48%

(1 of 2 

appeals/207 

decisions)

GREEN

0.27%

(1 of 2 appeals 

allowed/127 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 3 

appeals/173 

decisions) 

GREEN

0%

(0 of 1 

appeals/114 

decisions)

Green = less than 10%

Red = 10% or more

25a Customer complaints (number) ↓ 66 77 104 46 42 43 34 29 31 No target

25b
Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, 

and actual number of complaints)
↓

GREEN

11%

(7/66)

GREEN

16%

(12/77)

GREEN

8%

(8/104)

RED

30%

(14/46)

GREEN

14%

(6/42)

GREEN

21%

(9/43)

GREEN

12%

(4/34) 

GREEN

7%

(2/29) 

GREEN

10%

(3/31) 

Green =  25% or less 

Red = more than 25%

26
CSC - Interactions handled (average 

number per working day)
↔

942

[563 calls

379 other]

842

[476 calls

366 other}

946

[521 calls

425 other]

881

[510 calls

371 other]

847

[489 calls

358 other]

812

[452 calls

360 other]

803

[436 calls

368 other]

770

[448 calls

322 other]

653

[364 calls

289 other]

No target (workflow indicator)

27 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) ↑
AMBER

84%

AMBER

83%

AMBER 

82%

AMBER 

84%

AMBER 

82%

GREEN

85%

GREEN

85%

GREEN

86%

GREEN

88%

Green = 85% or more

Amber = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

28
CSC - Customer interactions resolved at 

first point of contact (%)
↑

GREEN

70%

GREEN

65%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

60%

GREEN

68%

GREEN

70%

GREEN

68%

Green = 60% or more

Amber = 50% or more

Red = less than 50%

43



Row KPI definition Better = Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 KPI thresholds

Full Performance Monitoring Report - December 2021 

29

Corporate sickness (average number of 

working days lost due to sickness 

absence per employee per year)

↔
GREEN

6.1

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

6.0

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

5.7

GREEN

6.3

GREEN

6.85

Green = less than 7 days

Amber = less than 7.5 days

Red = 7.5 days or more

30

Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily 

resigning cf. total headcount for rolling 

12 month period)

↑

GREEN

9.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

10.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

11.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

12.0%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

13.2%

[Rolling 12 

months]

GREEN

14.1% 

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

13.3%

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

14.6%

(Rolling 12 

months)

GREEN

14.6%

(Rolling 12 

months)

Green = 15% or less

Amber = 18% or less

Red = more than 18%

31
FOI / EIR requests responded to within 

SLA (%, and actual number of requests)
↑

GREEN

98%

(56/57)

GREEN

100%

(47/47)

GREEN

100%

(56/56)

GREEN

96%

(54/56) 

GREEN

94%

(49/52) 

GREEN

91%

(63/69) 

GREEN

96%

(64/67) 

GREEN

96%

(48/50)

GREEN

98%

(56/57)

Green = more than 90%

Amber = more than 85%

Red = 85% or less

32 Invoices paid within 10 days (%) ↓
RED

52%

RED

50%

RED

38%

RED

36%

RED

30%

RED

23%

RED

21%

RED

59%

RED

47%

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

33a
Cases raised across all service areas 

(number)
↑

GREEN

6,095

AMBER

4,726

GREEN

5,874

GREEN

7,224

GREEN 

5,928

GREEN* 

14,933

GREEN

7,959

GREEN

8,684

GREEN

7,798

Green = 5,000 or more

Amber = less than 5,000

Red = less than 4,000

33b
Average case duration for cases raised 

across all service areas (working days)  
↓

GREEN

10

RED

24

GREEN

13

GREEN 

14

RED

18

GREEN 

7

GREEN 

13

RED

16

GREEN 

15

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

34a
Cases raised via the Members' Hub 

(number)
↑

AMBER

33

AMBER

35

GREEN

40

AMBER

31

RED

17

AMBER

32

GREEN 

40

GREEN 

52

 AMBER

30 

Green = 40 or more

Amber = less than 40

Red = less than 20

34b
Average case duration for cases raised 

via the Members' Hub (working days)  
↓

GREEN

13

RED

38

RED

19

RED

37

RED

29

RED

20

RED

29

RED

39

RED

24

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

44



Appendix B

Portfolio Executive Area

Variance

£000's Appendix

Area Committees

Bishopstoke Fair Oak And Horton Heath N/A 0 N/A

Bursledon Hamble-Le-Rice And Hound N/A 0 N/A

Chandler's Ford And Hiltingbury N/A 0 N/A

Eastleigh N/A 0 N/A

Hedge End West End and Botley N/A 0 N/A

0

Skills & Business

Economic Development Planning and Economy 9 J

Eastleigh Business Centre Planning and Economy (5) J

Council Tax Finance and Housing 35 E

NNDR Collection Finance and Housing 4 E

43

Environment

Sustainability And Climate Change Environment 75 K

Cemeteries Neighbourhood Services 7 M

Open Spaces Parks And Recreation Grounds Environment (0) K

Tree Works Environment (109) K

Combined Heat And Power Environment 6 K

Renewable Energy Scheme Environment 2 K

Biodiversity Environment 0 K

Countryside - Land Management Environment 18 K

Public Toilets Neighbourhood Services 8 M

Streetscene Neighbourhood Services 19 M

Environmental Health Environment 4 K

Waste Management Neighbourhood Services (432) M

Direct Services Neighbourhood Services 247 M

Technical Services Neighbourhood Services (259) M

Pollution Control Environment (46) K

(462)

Health

CCTV Neighbourhood Services 0 M

Safety & Resilience Organisational Development 0 I

Health & Wellbeing Health and Wellbeing 15 L

Places Leisure Eastleigh Health and Wellbeing 107 L

Playing Fields Health and Wellbeing (0) L

Allotments Health and Wellbeing 0 L

Licensing Act 2003/Gambling Act 2005 Governance (0) G

Arts & Culture Health and Wellbeing 123 L

Countryside Management Health and Wellbeing 0 L

246

Planning & Property

Development Management Planning and Economy (296) J

Planning Policy CLB 248 I

Building Control Partnership Planning and Economy (1) J

Strategic Housing Finance and Housing 2,574 E

Democratic Process Governance (10) G

Communications Organisational Development 12 I

Civic Events And Mayoralty Organisational Development 0 I

Strategic Planning CLB 148 I

Performance & Projects Organisational Development 87 I

Corporation Estates Assets and Project Delivery 64 F

Land Charges Planning and Economy (26) J

Registration Of Electors & Election Expenses Governance 4 G

Accommodation Assets and Project Delivery 25 F

Print And In-House Design Room Customer Care 2 H

Corporate Financial Services (inc Corporate 

Adjustments) Finance and Housing 444 E

Corporate Services Organisational Development (322) I

Corporate Governance Governance 12 G

Service Delivery Neighbourhood Services 0 M

2,965

Total For Health

Total For Planning & Property

General Fund Forecast Variance Summary

Total For Area Commitees

Total For Skills & Business

Total For Environment

45



Social

Customer Services Customer Care 2 H

Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support Finance and Housing 422 E

Home Improvements Health and Wellbeing (5) L

Housing Advice Health and Wellbeing 314 L

Case Management Customer Care 80 H

812

Transport

Highways Agency Services Neighbourhood Services (2) M

Highways Non-Agency Neighbourhood Services 45 M

Borough Council Services Transport Policy Neighbourhood Services 51 M

Hackney Carriages And Private Hire Vehicles Neighbourhood Services 43 M

Parking Services Neighbourhood Services (403) M

(266)

Non-Service-Related Items (5,829)

Increased General Fund 2,806

Net Position 315

Total For Social

Total For Transport

46



Original Rolling Actual Budget

Budget Budget Dec-21 Remaining

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Climate and Emergency 17,885,000 629,950 28,000 601,950

Housing 44,087,330 34,314,310 25,278,000 9,036,310

Infrastructure 1,756,780 20,403,190 17,271,000 3,132,190

IT 300,000 250,000 208,090 41,910

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath 0 783,500 337,400 446,100

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound 0 545,280 139,000 406,280

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 120,140 206,700 124,600 82,100

LAC - Eastleigh 759,610 1,241,830 133,400 1,108,430

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley 6,830 3,737,640 1,037,100 2,700,540

Leisure * 0 107,580 (54,800) 162,380

Regeneration 750,000 3,212,950 442,000 2,770,950

65,665,690 65,432,930 44,943,790 20,489,140

* Negative values are in respect of the Council's policy on funding retentions and Work in Progress in advance of payment, once

Retentions and Work In Progress have been settled, these will balance to zero

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

Quarter 3- 2021/22
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 C

47



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

1 Risk that financial sustainability will be 

impacted if the Council are not able to 

deliver/restore financial control. 

Impact of Covid-19 Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes.
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

2 Failure to deliver strategic priorities due 

to inaccurate financial forecasting

Service and corporate 

expenditure varying from 

plans set by need to fulfil 

strategic priorities

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes linked to 

strategic objectives requirements
Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

3 Key financial strategies set on the basis 

of inaccurate assessment of the 

Councils overall position

Poor budget preparation 

and poor financial 

monitoring

Sound and effective financial 

systems, Budget holders sign off 

budgets and monitoring 

information.  Central support 

provided to managers from 

Support Services - Financial 

Services Unit

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment

48



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 D

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2021/22- Risk Assessment

4 Interest Rate Pressure Potential for rising interest 

rates above that 

anticipated as part of the 

budget

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes. Interest rate 

reserve. Engagement of external 

advisor, Arlingclose, to provide 

advice on how the Council can 

manage its investment and 

borrowing portfolio.

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

5 Additional Borrowing exceeding 

affordable levels

Additional borrowing will 

place pressure on the 

revenue budget particularly 

if interest rates rise

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes and treasury 

management strategy. Use of 

robust business cases factoring in 

returns based on long term interest 

rate projections.

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

6 Minimum General Fund balance falls 

below minimum level

Poor control of income and 

expenditure budgets

Budget monitoring systems and 

clear accountabilities for financial 

performance

Serious Very unlikely 4 1 4

Impact ratings: (I) Likelihood ratings: (L)

Minor 1 Very unlikely 1

Moderate 2 Unlikely 2

Significant 3 Possible 3

Serious 4 Likely 4

Major 5 Very likely 5

The risk total is achieved by multiplying the impact score by the likelihood score. 

49



Finance & Strategic Housing Programme 
Executive Summary Report 

 
Planning & Property 

 Health & Social Policy and Skills & Business Portfolios 
 

Reporting Date: January 2022 

 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The position for the Executive continues to be a positive one, with all services back operating at 
normal levels as they were prior to the pandemic, however resources are starting to become 
pressurised as year-end processes for all services have started. 
 
Improvements have been made been made across KPIs with the service changes for Benefits 
proving successful. Recovery for NDR has restarted but collection rates remain lower than 
previous years. Key strategic development work continues to progress across both Corporate 
Finance and the Strategic Housing Programme, with the accounts being signed off in January 
and production of the budget almost complete. 
 
The Executive is anticipating meeting its objectives as set out in the Corporate Action Plan. 
Good progress has been made to establish LEAF, the Lettings & Management brand for both 
market and affordable homes and development work for the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan began in December. 
  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Financial Services GREEN GREEN GREEN   

Strategic Housing GREEN GREEN GREEN   

Council Tax AMBER AMBER AMBER   

NNDR Collection AMBER AMBER AMBER  

Housing Benefit & Council Tax 
Support 

AMBER AMBER GREEN 
  

  

50



2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (1,739) 2,861 (4,756) 2,956 

Q2 (1,657) 920 (5,189)  3,532 

Q3  (1,908) (1,843) (5,379) 3,471 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All Corporate KPIs to be included 

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

New benefit claim processing 
time 

G G A G G A G G G    

Change in Circumstances 
processing time 

G G G G G G G G G    

Discretionary Housing Payment 
Spend 

A A A A G G A A G    

Council Tax Collection Rate A G G G G G G G G    

NDR Collection Rate G G R R R R R R R    

Number of Additional Homes 
Completed (quarterly) 

  G   G   G    

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Short 
Term 

Borrowing 
Rate 

Approx. 
0.05% 

Approx. 0.05% 

Approx, 0.05% 
and forecast to 
remain. Note -

base rate 
increased to 
0.25% in Dec 

2021. No 
effect in 

2021/22 but 
will in future. 

 Below base 
Rate (0.25%) 

Final 
Accounts 
Produced 
& Audited 

20/21 Draft 
account 

published. 
Audit 

Delayed by 
EY until Oct 

2021. 

Audit to be 
done in Qtr 3. 

EY have 
acknowledged 

delay & 
started key 
risk work. 

The Audit is 
complete, and 
accounts due 

to be approved 
at A&R in Jan 

2022. 

 

September 
2021(sign off 
now January 

2022) 

  

51



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

 
Skills & Business 
Council Tax – £34,606 favourable 
NNDR Collection - £4,088 favourable 
Collection rates for both Council Tax & Business Rates are improving compared to last year 
however Business Rates are yet to return to historical levels. Recovery has now resumed for all 
services. The Revenue Services are forecasting a net saving of £38,000 this is due to savings 
on salary costs due to new vacancies and savings on court costs which will have been put 
forward as a saving in the budget. 
 
Recruitment of the new Revenue Specialist role and the current vacancy is now underway and 
this will link into a combined review of the service with Case Management. 
 

Health & Social Policy 
Housing Benefit & Council Tax Support - £421,577 
Net Housing & Council Support spend will be £421,000 lower than budget due to increased 
migration to Universal Credit, this will be reflected in the upcoming budget. Covid support 
schemes remain in place and demand is currently continuing to be covered successfully by 
temporary resource. 
 
The service improvements implemented last quarter have improved claim processing times as 
hoped but will continue to be monitored. DHP spend did drop below target but there have been 
increased applications so this will continue to improve. HB subsidy audit 20/21 is successfully 
complete with full sign off but the auditors have handed in their notice so there is a need to 
appoint new auditors along with other Hampshire sites. 
 

Planning & Property 
Corporate Financial Services – £436,244 favourable 
Performance remains high in Corporate Finance with the pandemic having limited impact. The 
draft 2020/21 accounts have now been audited and will be approved Jan 2022. There are large 
scale changes within finance, to determine new ways of working, and to act as a beacon for 
best practice across the Council.  This has led to vast improvements and visibility of the 
quarterly monitoring process in the form of additional training for budget managers and the 
further development of the Executive Summary Reporting and will lead to additional visibility of 
the financial implications of strategic and service objectives across the Council.  
 

Resource constraints in the CMO area are also beginning to cause additional work for the 
Finance Specialist Function. Whilst this can be absorbed within current resource, this is not 
practical in the long term, and work is ongoing with the Head of Case Management to identify 
the issues and resources will need to be reallocated accordingly to ensure this does not 
become a pervasive issue.  
 
There is a net underspend being reported on this area due to the Government Covid Grant of 
£548,000 being included to fund corporate pressures. This is offset by corporate staff vacancy 
factor of £167,000 which is reduced by staff savings of £10,000 from vacant finance roles. The 
senior roles within Finance have now all been filled. In addition, there are £20,000 savings 
across Debt Management and a further £25,000 saved due to working from home, £10,000 of 
this has been identified as an ongoing saving and will be kept under review. 
 
 

52



 
Strategic Housing - £2.636M favourable 
 
The Strategic Housing Programme continues to progress at speed and work is now well 
underway for the creation of a new Lettings Service and the delivery of the Housing Revenue 
Account and Business Plan. Further work is now underway to develop strategies and start to 
determine specific aims of the programme for areas such as housing need and climate change. 
The Affordable Housing Policy & Compliance Senior Specialist role is now in place and is 
working with the Residential Manager to develop a Business Plan for the service. Housing 
Rental income remains on target and the estimated New Homes Bonus Income of £2.6M is 
forecast as a saving for the year which will be transferred to reserve. 
  

 

 

53



Assets and Project Delivery Executive Area  
Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

07/01/2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
We continue to see challenges within the property portfolio particularly around the uncertainty 
for future demand for town centre office space.  Despite this the property portfolio continues to 
perform well. Ongoing proactive management of the Council’s property portfolio through 
extensive tenant liaison has seen a further improvement in rent collection figures in the last 
quarter. This is regularly reported to Audit and Resources. 
 
The Project Management Team continue to ensure projects are well coordinated and delivered 
in line with project briefs.  In keeping with national trends, the Council continues to see 
increasing costs for construction projects, both for materials and labour. 
 
The Facilities Management Team has welcomed the return of staff to Eastleigh House under 
the Future Ways of Working project.  They continue with the work to improve Health and Safety 
practices throughout the Council and a review of the events’ process is underway. 
 
The repairs and renewals plan continues, to ensure our assets are well maintained, albeit 
impacted by the demands of current case work.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Asset Management Amber Amber Amber   

Facilities Management Amber Amber Amber   

Project Management Green Green Green   

Building Surveying Green Green Green  

One Horton Heath Green Green Green   

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 (11,679) (4,367) (11,679) 0  

Q2 (11,723) (7,964) (11,723) 0 

Q3 (11,703) (10,159) (11,703) 0 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 
54



  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1             

KPI 2             

KPI 3             

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

Voids 6% (10/163 
lettable 
properties) 

6% (11/163 
lettable 
properties) 

 6% (11/163 
lettable 
properties)  

    

Rent 
Collection 
 

76% to the 
end of June 
2021 
 

As at 13 Sept 
2021: 
 
2020/21-was 
78.38%. 
 
2021/22 -is 
82.90%. 

As at 14 Dec 
2021: 
 
2020/21 was 
79.27%. 
 
2021/22 is 
91.01%. 

    

         

  

55



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

 

Asset Management 

We have progressed two strategic property acquisitions in the last period and have agreed 

terms for a lease for development at one of our commercial sites.  Work continues on asset 

transfers with a high demand at the end of the last quarter requiring adjustment of some 

priorities. 

The continuing success in increasing the levels of rental payments received, despite the 

difficulties businesses are suffering during the pandemic, demonstrates the success of building 

relationships with our tenants.  Additional expenditure continues to be incurred for rates 

payable and holding costs across the property portfolio. Our work is focused on reducing these 

holding costs. 

Facilities Management 

The FM Team continue to support the Council in reviewing Health and Safety including 

ensuring safe systems of work for employees and processes.  The team supported the Future 

Ways of Working project seeing the return of staff to Eastleigh House in late October in a hybrid 

way.  Recent work from home advice has seen an impact on the numbers of staff making use 

of the office but we expect this to return when current advice changes.  The impact of the 

pandemic continues to draw on FM resources as we review and implement changes required to 

regular legislative and guidance changes.  Our approach to external events is under review with 

the intention of improving the current processes and introducing efficiencies for all parties. 

We are managing a tender which will provide us with specialist advice to submit a bid for grant 

money from the anticipated central government decarbonisation fund (expected to be 

announced March 2022).  Our intention is to submit a bid for decarbonisation of heating 

systems to four of our major operational and investment buildings.  In addition, we are also 

managing an energy audit tender being produced for issue in January 2022. 

Project Management 

The PM Team continues to work at capacity supporting a number of construction and other 

projects.  The team continue to monitor and report on the costs and delays arising in the 

construction industry both as a trend and where they affect individual projects.  In respect of 

this an update has been issued to the recent construction industry cost paper prepared by the 

Senior Project Manager bringing in the latest information. 

A summary of project updates is as follows: 

Environment 

Provision made within 10117 IVCP to factor in tree planting to assist with 160,000 target. 

Fly tipping process complete. 

Economy 

The Green project (if approved) will generate 50 x new jobs and regenerate a vacant site at the 

entrance to Eastleigh Borough. Planning submission Oct 2021 – determination 18 Jan 22. 

Health & Social Policy 

56



Online training module uploaded to EBC Learn. 

Housing 

HRA project continues. 

Stoneham Park 42 homes – completion forecast Feb 22. 

Pembers Hill – on track. 

Fanfare Place - budget issues being reported (additional fire safety measures) Utilities 

connectivity delaying completion till Q1 2022/23. 

St Johns – awaiting resolution of legal discussions. 

Regeneration 

Eastleigh Town Centre toilets – final agreements anticipated imminently to allow works to 

commence. 

Kestrel Park (Bursledon) – play provision being prioritised with installation forecast for Mar 22. 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities – on track. 

Post office – PCSA in place, demolition expected Q4 following discussion with Cllrs. 

The Arch – work continues to develop the project to allow the planning application to be 

submitted. 

IVCP – Planning submission planned for Q4 with determination anticipated Q1 2022/23. 

Building Surveying 

Recent improvements in our IT provision (AutoCad and associated hardware) have improved 

our productivity.  The demands for Building Surveying services through ongoing case work 

fluctuates.  We monitor this closely to minimise the effects of this on our planned work for 

building surveys and repairs and renewal works.  Good progress has been made in resolving 

the historic issues of damp at The Berry Theatre.  We have now reached agreement with HCC 

who are actively planning remedial works to the Theatre and its surrounding infrastructure 

including surface water drainage.  The internal areas have been repaired by EBC to allow use 

of the building in the interim. 

One Horton Heath team 

The team continue to focus on the delivery of the Council’s One Horton Heath housing scheme 

and are fully resourced to enable this landmark project to be delivered. 

Recruitment/ Retention 

We have vacancies in both the Asset Management and Facilities Management teams including 

recruiting for a new Lead Asset Manager following a recent resignation.  The Asset 

Management team has been strengthened with three new staff joining the team and one 

member of staff returning following a period of absence. Additional resource to support to 

Corporate Health and Safety management is required and is included in the table below. 

An additional Senior Asset Manager will be required to support the asset transfers associated 

with the future Eastleigh Parish Councils across the next two years reflected in the table below. 

57



Budget is required to provide ongoing technical case management/ junior specialist 

administration of the nitrate mitigation scheme; responsible for land enquiries; restrictive 

covenant requests and assist with associated asset transfers. 
 

 

58



Governance Executive Area 
Planning and Property Portfolio 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

10/01/2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Governance Executive continues to perform well given there are a number of posts within 
the Governance area which are vacant.  
 
During the quarter the Legal Services Manager and Data Protection Officer started in post. 
Further appointments were made to fill the vacancies of Legal Specialist and Senior Legal 
Specialist. However two further resignations were made. The Legal Services Manager and 
Data Protection Officer and Executive Head of Governance are currently reviewing recruitment 
options. 
 
During the quarter the Elections Team successfully completed the annual canvass and 
publication of Electoral Register.  
 
The Democratic Services Team continued to support the delivery of a number of face to face 
democratic meetings. 
 
The Internal Audit Team continued to complete audit reviews as identified in the Internal Audit 
Plan 2021/22 and monitor the implementation of audit recommendations.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Corporate Governance (Legal 
and Internal Audit)  Amber Amber Amber   

Licensing  Green Green Green   

Democratic Services  Amber Amber Amber  

Electoral Services Green Green Green    

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 1,602 563 1,600 2 

Q2 1,580 1,110 1,565 15 

Q3 1,582 1,507 1,576 6 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 

59



KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 FOI/EIR requests 
responded to within SLA (%, and 
actual number of requests) 
Green = more than 90% 

Amber = more than 85% 

Red = 85% or less 

 

98%  
 

56/ 
57 

100
% 
47/ 
47 

100
% 
56/ 
56 

96%  
 

54/ 
56 

94%  
 

49/ 
52 

91%  
 

63/ 
69 

96%  
 
64/ 
67 

96%  
 

48/ 
50 

98%  
 

56/ 
57 

   

  

60



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Democratic Services (£9,630): 
There is a predicted overspend of £9,630 in Democratic Services predominantly due to the 
increased costs of hiring Covid secure, larger venues.  Bookings have been made for meetings 
until the end of the municipal year at venues that will allow for social distancing. It is anticipated 
that this overspend will only be for the short-term as regulations begin to be relaxed and 
meetings return to Eastleigh House. 
 
Elections £3,811: 
At the close of quarter 3 there was a predicted underspend of £19,811 due to the receipt of a 
one-off grant to cover additional expenses incurred because of health and safety measures to 
mitigate the risk of transmission of Covid-19. However, it is estimated that the snap by-election 
in February 2022 will cost in the region of £16,000.  
 
The annual canvass was undertaken between July to November with the revised register 
published on 1 December 2021.   
 
An interim polling review has been carried out to permanently move polling stations out of 
schools for future elections and was approved by the Council’s Administration Committee.   
 

Corporate Governance (Legal & Internal Audit) £11,693: 
There is currently an underspend predicted arising from staff vacancies for Legal and Internal 
Audit. Difficulties recruiting to fill the vacant legal posts means a locum has been appointed for 
6 months, and the cost will be absorbed within the current staffing budget 
 
The Internal Audit Team continues to deliver the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 and reports 
progress to the Audit and Resources Committee regularly.   
 
Work is continuing on Risk Management and embedding this across the organisation. A Risk 
Management Working Group made up of officers has been established to review current 
practices and suggest ways of improving engagement  
 
The Corporate Governance budget will be separated between Legal & Audit Services as 
currently combined. This will take effect from 2022/23.  
 
Licensing (£200) 
The Licensing budget transferred to the Governance Executive Area on 7 October 2021. 
 
A review of the contract with Southampton City Council is currently being undertaken with the 
aim for completion and signing by the end of 2021/22.  
 
Monitoring Officer summary: 
New Parish & Town Council – 7 Councillors from Eastleigh Local Area Committee along with 
the Locum Clerk and key officers have formed the New Parish Council Working Group. During 
the quarter the group met twice to discuss the formation of the shadow council, new website, 
stakeholder & community engagement and asset transfers. The Election for the new parish 
councils takes place May 2022.  
 
During the quarter the revised Constitution was presented and approved by Council. The new 
Constitution has been published on the Council’s website but the format and design is in the 
process of being updated by the Council’s Communication’s Graphic Design Team. It is 

61



anticipated that the new format will aid in navigation through the various sections of the 
Constitution.  
 
The draft Annual Governance Statement was presented to Audit & Resources Committee 
during the quarter for consideration and approval sought in January 2022. 
  

 

 

62



Customer Care 

Executive Summary Report 

Social Policy Portfolio 
 

Reporting Date: 

December 2021 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
Resources have continued to be stretched this quarter due to staff turnover and long-term sickness, 
as well as difficulties filling vacancies.  
The Customer Care area have still been able to divert resource to provide support to corporate 
initiatives and also to other service areas, including the Afghan resettlement scheme and support for 
Covid related matters. 
Performance overall for Case Management remains Amber, however 60% of KPI’s are showing as 
Green.  An improvement in performance with planning enforcement cases can be seen, with an 
upward trajectory. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Customer Services  GREEN GREEN GREEN   

Case Management Support  AMBER AMBER AMBER   
Case Management Service 
Delivery  AMBER AMBER AMBER   

Local Area Services  AMBER AMBER AMBER   

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 

2,919 

 

903,267 2,940 

 

(21,000) 

 
Q2 2,998 

 

1,744 

 

2,960 

 

38,000 

 

Q3 2,980 2,574 2,895 85,959 

Q4     

 

  

63



 

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 
Council Tax - Customers with outstanding 
account queries older than 15 days (number) 
Green < 200 
Amber < 400 
Red >400 

G 
89 

G 
115 

R 
665 

R 
759 

R 
1212 

R 
1706 

R 
1566 

R 
1654 

R 
1400 

   

New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) 
claims received (number) 
Workflow indicator only 

124 112 141 147 138 171 158 163 104    

Time to process new benefit (Council Tax 
Support & Housing Benefit) claims (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

R 
21 

R 
20 

R 
24 

G 
21 

G 
22 

G 
16.8 

G 
9.9 

G 
6.9 

G 
8.8 

   

Time to process benefit (Council Tax Support 
& Housing Benefit) change events (days) 
Green < 22 days 
Amber < 11 days 
Red > 11 days 

G 
4.0 

G 
4.9 

G 
5.7 

G 
4.5 

G 
6.15 

G 
5.9 

G 
4.9 

G 
4.2 

G 
4.61 

   

Customer complaints (number) 
No target 
 

66 77 104 46  42 43 34 29 31    

Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, and 
actual number of complaints) 
Green < 25% 
Red > 25% 

G 
11% 
7/66 

G 
16% 
12/7

7 

G 
8% 
(8/1
04) 

R 
31% 
(14/
46) 

G 
14%
6/42 

G 
20% 
9/43 

G 
12%
4/34 

G 
7% 
2/29 

G 
10%
3/31 

   

Invoices paid within 10 days (%)  
Green > 75% 
Amber > 70% 
Red <70% 

R 
52% 

R 
50% 

R 
38% 

R 
36% 

R 
30% 

R 
24% 

R 
21% 

R 
59% 

R 
47% 

   

Cases raised across all service areas 
(number) 
Green > 5,000 
Amber < 5,000 
Red < 4,000 

G 
6095 

A 
4726 

G 
5874 

G 
7224 

G 
5928 

G 
6433 

G 
7959 

G 
8684 

G 
7798    

Average case duration for cases raised 
across all service areas (working days)   
Workflow indicator 

 

3 38 9 37 18 7 13 16 15    

Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number) 
Green > 40 
Amber < 40 
Red < 20 

A 

33 
A 

35 
G 
40 

A 

31 
R 
17 

A 

32 
G 
40 

G 
52 

A 
30 

   

Average case duration for cases raised via 
the Members' Hub (working days)   
Workflow indicator 

 

13 38 19 7 29 20 9 9 24    

Noise nuisance requests responded to on 
time (% & actual number of requests) 
Green > 90% 
Amber < 90% 
Red <75% 

A 
84% 
(27/3

2) 

G 
94%
29/3

1 

A 
88% 
(37/4

2) 

G 
99% 

G 
100
% 

G 
94% 
45/4

8 

G 
100
% 

22/2
2 

G 
96% 
24/2

5 

G 
100
% 

11/1
1 

   

CSC - Interactions handled  
(average number per working day 
workflow indicator) 

942 842 945 882 847 812 803 770 653    

CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) 
Green = 85% 
Amber = 80% 
Red = < 80% 

A 

84% 
A 

83% 
A 

82% 
A 

84% 
A 

82 
G 

85% 
G 

85% 
G 

86% 
G 

88% 
   

CSC - Customer interactions resolved at first 
point of contact (%) 
Green = >60% 
Amber = >55% 
Red = <55% 

G 
70% 

G 
65% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
60% 

G 
68% 

G 
70% 

G 
68% 

   

  

64



2.3 Key Performance Indicators 

KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Closed within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

R 
48% 

R 
50% 

R 
48% 

R 
45% 

R 
50% 

R 
33% 

R 
33% 

R 
40% 

A 
63% 

   

DM Enforcement Priority 3 
Initial visit within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

G 
93% 

G 
85% 

G 
85% 

A 

79% 
G 

94% 
G 

87% 
A 

70% 
A 

78% 
A 

78% 
   

DM Enforcement Priority 4 
Closed within target (80%) 
Red = <70% 
Amber = 70-79% 
Green = >80% 

A 

73% 
A 

63% 
R 

29% 
R 

0% 
R 

50% 
R 

0% 
R 

46% 
R 

46% 
R 

60% 
   

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Social Policy Portfolio £84,000 (favourable) 

Underspend is predominately due to vacancies within Local Area Services, some of which have 
been managed and others have proved to be more difficult to fill.  The Q3 forecast underspend 
is higher than forecasted at the end of Q2 as planned spend on temporary staffing has been 
delayed due to the lack of available agency/contracting staff, unavoidable delays with new staff 
starting and turnover of staff in Q3 resulting in some unplanned vacancies. 
 
Case Management (Support) £1,502 (favourable) 
Performance in respect of the payment of invoices within 10 days improved slightly in 
November due to additional hours being worked to improve performance in this area however 
this was not continued in December and as the figures above indicate, a drop in performance 
can be seen as a result.  Work is ongoing to review processes to ensure they are as efficient as 
possible, including ways in which we can use CMS to support this area which will lead to a 
sustainable improvement and reach as a minimum, amber by the end of this financial year. 
 
Case Management (Service Delivery) £18,077 (favourable) 
Council Tax – a slight reduction in the number of Council Tax queries over 15 days old can be 
seen, however this performance indicator continues to be red; work this quarter was prioritised 
around debt recovery and improvement has been slower than anticipated due to an 
unavoidable, unsuccessful staffing appointment and also some additional staff turnover.  
Replacement staff have been appointed on a temporary basis, with others being trained. 
System and process improvements by Specialists have commenced this quarter and more are 
planned which will have a positive impact on capacity in Case Management, the benefits of 
which should be felt after annual billing in Q4. 
 
A trial involving Customer Services staff assisting with triaging incoming customer queries is 
also seeing positive benefits and a return to green status is planned through a combination of 
increased allocation of staffing and daily optimisation of available resources.  A review of CMO 
functions/procedures will also be undertaken with the specialist team in 2023 to streamline 
work. 
 
 

65



Customer Services £225 (favourable) 
Customer Services continues to perform well overall.  
The successful implementation of the new Salesforce missed collection functionality has been 
very positively received by the Customer Service team, as decision making is robustly provided 
by the form outputs and manual administration by the Customer Services Officer is significantly 
reduced.  35% of missed bin reports were handled during a telephone call during November, 
with 65% being logged directly by the customer using the online form (self-service).  A further 
770 reports were prevented from creating worksheets in December due to the new functionality 
being smartly integrated with the back-office system, such as when the crews report an access 
issue or a whole street report already in existence. 
 
Local Area Services £66,155 (favourable) 
 
Resourcing challenges are still an issue due to ongoing vacancies that have been difficult to fill 
but arrangements are in place to fill these so it is anticipated that the team will be fully 
resourced within Quarter 4 and will be better placed to improve performance. 
Despite this, there have been some improvements in performance in respect of the closure of 
planning enforcement cases, despite reduced staffing levels due to vacancies and also whilst 
closing off old cased.  In addition, improvements have been made to the allocation and 
monitoring of work in Local Area Services and work with the Specialist team is ongoing to 
continue to improve performance with Enforcement cases. 
  

 

66



Organisational Development –  
Planning and Property/Health Portfolios 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 09/01/2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Organisational Development Executive Area consists of Communications and Marketing, 
Human Resources (HR), Information Technology (IT), Safety and Resilience and Resource 
Management. During this quarter, progress has been made on some significant corporate 
projects such as Future Ways of Working. 
In common with many of the Council’s services, recruitment remains an issue especially in HR 
and IT which has meant that these areas continue to be impacted. Recruitment through agencies 
is now being pursued for IT staff. There is a significant overspend in IT and this is explained in 
more detail in the body of the report. 

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Organisational Development 

Communications and Marketing Amber Amber Green  

Human Resources  Red Amber Amber   

Information Technology  Red Red Red   

Performance  Amber Green Green   

Safety & Resilience Amber Amber Green  

Strategic Planning and Development 

Strategic Planning Green Green Green  

Planning Policy Green Green Green  

2.2 Finance 
 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Under
spent 

Organisational Development 

Q1  2,398 1,347  2,354 43 

Q2  2,459 1,802 2,398 61 

Q3 2,729 2,343 2,952       (223) 

Q4     

Strategic Planning and Development  

Q1 1,986 183 1,695 291 

Q2 2,018 478 1,910 108 

Q3 1,997 938 1,601 395 
67



Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1  
Corporate sickness 
(average number of 
working days lost due 
to sickness absence 
per employee per 
year) Green = less than 
7 days 

 

6.1 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

6.0 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

5.7 
(G) 

6.3 
(G) 

6.85 
(G) 

   

KPI 2  
Staff turnover (% of 
people voluntarily 
resigning cf. total 
headcount for rolling 12 
month period) Green = 
15% or less  
Amber = 18% or less  
Red = more than 18%  
 

9.0 
(G) 

10.0 
(G) 

11.0 
(G) 

12.0 
(G) 

13.2 
(G) 

14.1 
(G) 

13.3 
(G) 

14.6 
(G) 

14.6  
(G) 

   

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

              

           

  
  
          

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

Planning and Property Portfolio 
 
Heath Check 
 
HR and IT are rated amber and red respectively largely due to the on-going vacancies in these 
areas and the overspend in IT. The updates below provide further information. 
 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
The corporate turnover figure remains just within the acceptable threshold. Surveys from 
voluntary leavers continue to reveal career advancement or retirement as the top reasons for 
resigning. Other KPIs will be considered to reflect the monthly aggregate position of leavers and 
starters. 
 
The corporate sickness figure shows another slight upward trend. Analysis coupled with improved 
recording of absences due to Covid will continue into the next quarter. 

68



 
Communications and Marketing (Variance – £12k) 
 
The current variance reflects an underspend on staffing. The cost of delivering the Borough News 
is being kept under review so that budgetary provision can be made if required. 
 
The team has supported many of the projects within the Corporate Action Plan. Environmental 
campaigns led to an awareness of the Council’s fly tipping project with a 42.7% increase in the 
use of the fly tipping landing page; other campaigns have involved green waste and 
“slimyourbin#” for waste minimisation; Economy projects involved the “All I Want for Christmas” 
campaign; Christmas light switch on and Eastleigh Circus. The team assisted with Civic events 
such as Remembrance/Armistice Day and the Citizens of Honour presentation. 
 
Significant support was provided for Health and Wellbeing campaigns such as Local Heroes; 
homelessness; sports awards nominations and the NHS’ Covid booster and vaccination 
campaigns.  The Team has reported on several housing developments such as One Horton 
Heath with a press release about the Council’s involvement in the First Homes Scheme. High 
profile campaigns for the Chief Executive role and new parish councillors for Eastleigh have been 
devised.  
 
The increased use of social media for recruitment is also being championed to reach a wider 
audience. 
 
Human Resources (Variance - £28k) 
 
One full time vacancy has remained for this quarter. However, an appointment has been made 
and the new postholder will start in early January. Extra hours continue to be authorised to deal 
with the backlog and volume of existing work so this may reduce the variance for the full year. 
 
There has been extensive support for recruitment campaigns such as the Chief Executive role in 
addition to advising on restructures resulting from the creation of the new Executive Head team. 
New initiatives such as the buddy scheme for new staff have been introduced and the Team has 
also managed and implemented the recent local pay award. 
 
Statutory requirements such as completing and publishing the Pay Policy have also been met 
and regular information on health and wellbeing has been distributed to staff and councillors. 
  
Information Technology (Variance + £350k) 
 
Growth is required in IT Services of £397,000 in 2021/22 and £561,820 in 2022/23 for software 

licences. The initial investment for systems technology was based on a 5-year capital 

programme from 2016. This was based on an estimated headcount and software savings 

created by the decommissioning of legacy systems including the CRM, Document Management, 

customer facing forms, bookings, and a replacement mapping service. Delays in implementation 

and a higher head count mean that forecast savings will not be fully recognised for a further 2-3 

years. 

 

In addition, modern cloud technology works on a pay as you go basis, rather than outright 

ownership, and as the council continues to move services into the cloud the revenue budget 

needs to increase to recognise this change in funding streams. 

 

Beyond unifying customer processes onto a single platform, the pandemic has seen accelerated 

adoption of Office 365 inside the Council and specifically Microsoft Teams for collaboration.  It 

was envisaged that this would be implemented over a longer period, however quicker rollout of 

69



this has required an uplift in the software revenue budget. Office 365 licencing coupled with 

other software dependencies e.g. OKTA, security and telephony equates to circa £1,100 per 

user per annum. 

Projects for the non - collected bins’ process with detailed reporting and automated triage are 
now in place. Good progress continues to be made with the transfer of many applications 
including elections, sundry debtors and time attendance to a new web service. Improvements to 
antivirus and encryption services are also nearing completion. 
 
In common with all organisations, cyber security remains a high priority. 
 
Performance (Variance - £87k) 
 
The variance is largely due to 2 vacancies. The budget for the vacant post of Service 

Improvement Officer, will be utilised on a temporary basis to appoint a recruitment specialist 

instead. It is hoped this vacancy will be filled in January. The other vacancy is an old 

Performance and Governance post. Given the priorities for IT, it has been agreed that this budget 

will be transferred to IT on a permanent basis from April 2022.  

The remainder of this variance is approximately £10,000 and is from restructure “legacy” and is 

therefore no longer required so this will be used to offset requested growth. 

 
The Resource Manager has continued to assist with resourcing reviews, specifically in Legal 
Services, Neighbourhood Services and Asset Management. Work has also commenced on a Key 
Performance Indicator review, succession planning and an analysis of peaks and troughs of 
demand for resources. 
 
The Resource Manager has supported the delivery of the first phase of the Future Ways of 
Working project and will be the Project Manager for phase 2. In addition, the team have worked 
with other Organisational Development senior managers to undertake the corporate 
recruitment/retention/resourcing review. Operational support and advice on recruitment 
challenges have been provided to service managers.  
 
The Resource Manager has also supported the annual strategic cycle and annual budget 
processes which have resulted in a defined list of potential improvement initiatives and cashable 
savings. The foundations of the Council’s continuous improvement strategy have been developed 
further. The Resource Manager will concentrate on the non-financial aspects of the strategy in 
quarter 4.  
 
Most importantly, the team has been able to allocate resources to achieve corporate priorities 
including Covid response and the Afghan resettlement scheme whilst remaining focused on the 
Council’s long-term resourcing requirements.  
  
Health Portfolio 
 
Safety and Resilience (Variance - £0k)   
 
The impact of Covid has reduced during this quarter although the impact of the new variant 
Omicron is yet to be determined. Contingency arrangements for volunteers are being devised.10 
new staff have been appointed to the Borough’s Emergency Control Centre (BECC) and are 
undergoing training ready for integration into the existing team; 2 Deputy Emergency Planning 
Officers have been appointed to provide cover for the Safety and Resilience Manager. 
 
A Community Resilience intern has commenced work and has settled in well working on behalf of 
the Local Resilience Forum but under the management of the Safety and Resilience Manager. 

70



 
Other successes included an emergency planning exercise, carried out online using the BECC; 
resolution of safeguarding and anti-social behaviour issues in Eastleigh Town Centre by a multi - 
agency group led by the S&R Manager, and the engagement of 161 families to-date on the 
Supporting Families project.  
 
The major incident response plan has been updated and published on Resilience Direct. 
The safeguarding statutory return for the response action plan has also been completed along 
with safeguarding training for Customer Service Centre staff. 
 
The Changing Directions for Success project continues to thrive with great feedback from young 
people who are back in training/education or in employment. Work has now started on engaging 
with Year 11 pupils. 
 
Strategic Planning and Development Variances 
 
Variance relates to  

• lower than previous year’s budget due to this phase on the Local Planning 5yr cycle and 
reduced costs of consultants’ technical work. Underspends are proposed to be held in a 
Reserve for future years where costs will increase. 

• part time Chief Executive salary and delays in recruitment to Planning Policy posts. 
 
  

 

71



Portfolios of Housing & Development and Economy  

Executive Summary Report 
 
Reporting Date: January 2022 
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The position for the Executive continues to demonstrate good performance against key 
performance indicators for Development Management and Economy & Business. Planning 
Enforcement has been bolstered with two additional officers, which has seen performance 
improve in the latter part of Q3. An unfavourable forecast financial variance continues to be 
reported primarily due to costs associated with defending the continuing Judicial Review 
against the airport planning decision, additional costs associated with DM (reduced income, 
temporary staff costs) and Land Charges. Eastleigh Business Centre occupancy has dropped 
slightly however with the refurbishment of the building not commencing during 21/22, the loss of 
income is not as great as forecast in Q2, and now forecast to be close to budget.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Development Management G A A   

Planning Enforcement R R A   

Urban & Landscape Design G A A   

Economy and Business G G G  

Eastleigh Business Centre A A A  

Building Control  G G G  

Land Charges R A R  

Heritage and Conservation G G G   

2.2 Finance 

 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 186 664 376 (190) 

Q2 186 773 692 (506) 

Q3 186 772 504 (318) 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 – DM Major App (60% - 13 weeks) 50 100 100 100 50 66 100 100 100    

KPI 2 – DM Minor App (65% - 8 weeks) 56 69 100 89.5 87 77 85 91 80    

72



KPI 3 – DM Other Apps (80% - 8 weeks) 76 694 96 81 93 92 85 91 96    

KPI 4 – DM Quality of service (Planning 
appeals allowed as a proportion of all 
planning application decisions (<10%) 

0 0.6 0 0.54 0 0.48 0.27 0.0 0.0    

KPI 5 – EB Businesses supported 
(number per month and YTD) including 
Wessex House and Platform4 Business 
(1,000+) 

1169 
YTD 

622 
1791 

204 
1995 

19 
2014 

68 
2082 

57 
2139 

14 
2159 

12 
2171 

4 
2175 

   

KPI 6 – EB Occupancy rate for 
tenantable space at Eastleigh Business 
Centre* (75%) 

71 73 72 72 72 72 71 68 67    

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 
Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist)  

85% 85% 77% 

 

80% 

Enforcement site visit 
(Specialist & Localities 
combined)  

86% 85% 
76.3% 

 

80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist) 

71% 55% 68% 

 

80% 

Enforcement closed 
cases (Specialist & 
Localities combined) 

57% 45.4% 
52%  80% 

Land Charges 
completed in 10 
working days 

68.5 

 94.4 75  100% 

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
At the end of Q3 the financial position of the Executive Area has improved but an unfavourable 
forecast of £318,000 is reported. The forecast continues to include the external legal costs 
forecast to be incurred (£200,000) in defending the judicial review (JR) against the Council’s 
decision to approve the planning application for the runway extension at Southampton 
International Airport. As previously reported, an appropriate reserve has been set aside 
corporately to fund this cost.  In addition, the forecast variance remains negative for 
Development Management (excluding the JR costs) at £96K (drop in forecast income and 
additional temporary staff / consultants costs), Land Charges at £25,000 (increased 
expenditure, in part offset by increased income). Notably, the forecast financial position for 
Eastleigh Business Centre has improved as refurbishment of the building will not be undertaken 
during this financial year. This has resulted in a forecast negative variance of just under £5,000. 
 
Housing & Development: Planning & Property Portfolio 
 
Development Management (£296,000) 
 
Development Management (planning) has performed well against all the KPIs for quarter 3, 
significantly exceeding national statutory targets for decisions and quality of service (measured 
by overturned appeal decisions). The service continues to forecast an unfavourable variance at 
the end of the year of £296,000. As in Q2, this includes a forecast cost for defending the 
Judicial Review (£200,000) against the airport planning application decision which will be 

73



funded by reserves.  The remaining unfavourable financial position of £96,000 relates to a 
reduction in forecast income (£29,000) with the remaining cost attributed to temporary (agency / 
consultants) staffing costs incurred whilst recruiting to 5 vacant planning posts. Retaining 
temporary agency staff during Q2 and Q3 was necessary to maintain effective service delivery 
with the additional cost partly offset by salary savings from vacant posts. Q3 saw all but one of 
the vacant planning posts recruited to including the appointment of a permanent Planning 
Manager and principal/senior planning officers. It is expected this final post will be recruited to 
in Q4 and the use of agency staff will cease during this quarter. A negative variance of £29,000 
is forecast for income currently. However, this figure could increase by year end by a further 
£96,000 (total income negative forecast of £125,000) if a major development expected January 
is not received during Q4. An amber rating is given based on the forecast overspend.  
 
Planning Enforcement experienced a slight dip in performance for initial contact and 
investigations across all four priority areas was experienced in Q3 whilst there was an 
improvement in performance on the number of cases closed within this same period. As with 
Q2, performance on higher priority cases (P1 and P2s) was influenced due to the increase in 
the time-consuming formal action undertaken by the enforcement specialists on a number of 
cases, whilst the team recruited to a vacant post. Recruitment of two new enforcement officers 
in Q3 (an expansion of the team by 1 post) and an immediate noticeable improvement in 
performance during December was experienced. With the team fully resourced, Q4 is forecast 
to see performance on priority 1 and 2 cases improve and more proactive enforcement to be 
undertaken. The Localities team have been supported by the Planning Enforcement team 
where possible but are continuing to find meeting performance targets challenging. 
Improvements during Q3 have been made to processes, workflow management and resources 
which has seen performance with the Localities team improved. The improvement programme 
continues and Q4 is expected to include a continued improvement in overall performance. An 
amber rating is given as a result of the improvement in closing cases and becoming fully 
resourced.  
 
Following an initial review of the Section 106 monitoring and management process in Q3, a 
project is to be scoped in Q4 to identify process improvements, enhanced monitoring 
arrangements and ensure timely delivery of infrastructure. Where relevant, the project will make 
recommendations on any temporary or more permanent growth that might be required to 
resource an enhanced process. This growth can in part be offset against the Planning 
Obligation monitoring charge that was introduced in 2021.  
 
Urban and Landscape Design –two key projects have suffered due to vandalism (Lawn Road 
and Pirelli), with the opening of Lawn Road further delayed with opening now planned for 
February 2022. The team continues to perform well on planning consultation responses for the 
Development Management service. The Service Plan are being draft setting out deliverables in 
22/23 in consultation with LAMs. An amber rating is continued for Q3 to reflect the 25% 
reduction in resources and the delay in delivery of Lawn Road and remedial work needed at 
Pirelli”. 
 
Heritage - The statutory service of providing advice on heritage matters continues to be 
successfully delivered through an outsourcing arrangement and is commensurate to the 
quantum of relevant planning applications. In Q4, work is expected to commence on updating a 
number of conservation area character appraisals.  
 
Building Control (£600) 
 
The service is delivered entirely and successfully by Southampton CC through the Partnership 
Agreement. Performance continues to exceed statutory national targets, with the more stringent 
continuous improvements targets set by the Building Control Partnership Manager in the main 
being met. Compared to Q2 improvements to performance are noted in the timing to record site 

74



inspection notes, annual commencements and completion certificates issues, the total number 
of applications received and overall customer satisfaction. The cost of delivering the service is 
forecast to be on budget. A review of the EBC / SCC Partnership agreement has been 
undertaken and completion of the new Agreement is anticipated in quarter 4. 
 
Land Charges (£25,000) 
 
Whilst there has been a seasonal reduction in the number of searches, numbers still remain 
reasonably high post the Stamp Duty holiday. Performance fluctuated through the quarter, 
resulting in a reduction in performance compared to Q2. Contributing factors to this include 
annual leave and I.T. issues, whilst the overspend is as a result of additional costs associated 
with sourcing information provided by HCC.   
 
Economy Portfolio 
 
Economy and Business £9,000 
Eastleigh Business Centre (£5,000) 
 
Working with Climate Change Manager, a carbon footprint survey for businesses has been 
developed and is running from 1.12.21 to 31.1.22. This will provide the baseline for future 
efforts to measure the climate impact of the borough’s economy and preliminary results will be 
available in early February. A busy quarter with grants awarded to the borough’s businesses 
now totalling over £32m and £5m of these have been the discretionary grants, designed and 
awarded by Economic Development to over 1000 local businesses. The Welcome Back Fund 
enjoyed notable successes with its Borough Gems Christmas campaign, the painting of railings 
in West End and the completion of a cycle of popular outdoor markets in Hedge End and 
Hamble.  The Youth Employment Hub has reported early successes since its launch in 
November, with 3 beneficiaries already in employment and a further 7 supported into education 
or training of the total 55 that have had appointments so far. Thus far, 36 attendees are 
registered for the business breakfast at Hamble Aerostructures ( 8 February). The 
refurbishment of Eastleigh Business Centre (Wessex House) will not be within this current 
financial year and this is reflected in the marked change on forecast between Q2 and Q3. 
Whilst occupancy has dropped to under 70% this quarter, the delivery of this facility remains 
close to budget.   
 
The Solent Freeport / Solent LEP are continuing their work on a Full Business Case, aiming for 
completion late March 2022. The revised Freeport Outline Business Case was submitted to 
Government in November following Government’s initial comments, the final comments on 
which are awaited. A draft Business Rate Retention policy and Memorandum of Understanding 
is being developed by the Solent LEP with their consultants, the content of which staff have 
provided comment. This emerging document will be key to business eligibility for tax relief and 
the future funding of infrastructure within the Freeport area.  
  

 

75



Environment Executive Summary Report 
 

Environment and Transport 
 

Reporting Date: January 2022 
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
 
The Environment Executive area remains in a period of transition whilst work is undertaken to 
consolidate the team, with Land Management and the Tree Team currently being overseen by 
the Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services. Whilst services have been returning to 
business as usual some legacy impacts of Covid remain, and the recent spike in cases has 
required a period of monitoring and anticipation of potential disruption. Whilst some posts which 
have been difficult to recruit to have been filled during this period, others have become vacant, 
necessitating another round of recruitment.  
 
Many areas of work identified within the Corporate Action Plan are being progressed, including 
actions contained in the Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan with the number of 
projects assessed as being red reducing from 25 to 17. However, there remains areas where 
delivery has fallen behind schedule, and more detail on the reasons for these delays and the 
action being taken to mitigate these can be found within the commentary of this report.  

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Sustainability & Climate Change R R R   

CHP & Renewable Energy G G G   

Ecology G G G   

Environmental Health G G A  

Pollution  A A A  

Sustainable Transport R R R   

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Under
spent 

Q1 2,029 499 2,055 (26) 

Q2 2,015 865 2,109 (95) 

Q3 2,085 1,298 2,114 (51) 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 

KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  R A G 
76



Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1.6 Air Quality Monitoring             

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

X           

Y           

Z           

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

 
Transport 
 
Sustainable Transport - £57,000 
 

This team is resourced with 1 FTE with a wide variety of responsibilities impacting some of the 
Council’s key corporate priorities.  
 
There is a historic underspend of c.£50k from services which are no longer commissioned. The 
long-term impact of the pandemic on public transport is not yet fully understood, therefore this 
underspend will be brought forward pending the outcome of the public transport review in 
22/23. Following the publication of Bus Back Better – National Bus Strategy for England in 
February 2020 the County Council published a Bus Service Improvement Plan in October 2021 
and will be establishing a new Enhanced Partnership early in Q4.  
 
The contract for the BHH Public Art Vision & History Wayfinding Trail project was awarded in 
late October. Public engagement work with key stakeholders such as the Parish Councils has 
begun and is being led by the consortium. 
 
The team has continued to support the Afghan Resettlement Scheme by providing 
opportunities to attend cultural events and is planning to host a public transport session to 
provide families with a better understanding of timetables, ticketing, and safety. 
 
Please note that the finances for Sustainable Transport are reported in the Neighbourhoods 
Executive, and therefore do not contribute to the forecast overspend in section 2.2. 
 
 
Environment 
 
Ecology - £0 
 

The Ecology team is fully staffed and is forecast to be on budget. Work on the Biodiversity 
Strategy is currently underway and will be taken to public consultation later this year. The 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUD) supplementary planning document is also progressing and 
is due for consultation in Q1 22/23.  
 
Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) have been engaged to establish a baseline 
for biodiversity net gain for land that the Council has strategically acquired. In addition to the 

77



opportunity this provides to increase biodiversity in the borough, the land can be used to fulfil 
multiple strategic ambitions including the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
(SANGs) to offset the impact of additional visitors to the New Forest National Park from 
development in the borough, enable nutrient neutrality and sequester carbon.  
 
 
Combined Heat & Power / Renewable Energy – £8,000 
 

Energy costs have risen substantially however as an energy customer the Council are shielded 
from these by contracts in place until March 2022. The wholesale electricity price is directly 
linked to the wholesale gas price because a lot of electricity is generated from gas. This places 
the Council in the favourable position of being a renewable energy producer whose costs 
remain fixed in a buoyant energy market.  
 
Chalcroft Soar Park is currently a separate company wholly owned by Eastleigh Borough 
Council, but work has started to bring it in house by Spring 2022. Work has begun to replace 
the fence at the solar park and relocate 1824 photovoltaic (PV) panels to make way for the new 
access road at One Horton Heath. 
 
A legislative change has been introduced meaning that some larger PV sites across the country 
will have to be inspected to see if any upgrades are required. This will be funded from the 
maintenance budget and if an upgrade is necessary a fund is available to provide financial 
assistance.  
 
A delay to the importation of equipment has meant that the electric vehicle chargers will be 
installed in Eastleigh car parks in January 2022. A request has been made to the Local Area 
Managers to propose additional sites for charging points and a list of potential sites has been 
passed to our supplier to investigate their feasibility.  
 
 
Sustainability and Climate Change – £75,000 
 

Whilst the Climate and Environmental Emergency (CEE) programme has continued to 
experience some delays, progress has improved during Q3 with the number of projects 
assessed as red reducing from 25 to 17 as additional financial and staff resource has started to 
yield benefits. The action plan has 41 actions, of which two are not being taken forward, of the 
remaining 39 actions, ten are assessed as being on target/completed, 12 as amber and 17 as 
red.  
 
Table 1: comparative RAG status Q2/Q3 

RAG Status Q2 Q3 

Red 25 17 

Amber 7 12 

Green 9 10 

 
Additional budget was allocated from reserves which has enabled the commissioning of a 
‘carbon neutral borough 2030’ report. Other areas of progress include the drafting of green 
lease clauses, production of a draft tree strategy, the tender process has been completed for 
three electric refuse vehicles and hydrogenated vegetable oil is now being used in the majority 
of the fleet.  
 
The RAG status for the programme remains red but additional staff time and resources are now 
starting to move towards amber. The resignation of the green energy manager will stall the 
progress of their relevant actions in Q4, although the impact on the overall RAG status of the 

78



programme is likely to be negligible as only one of the actions attributed to the energy manager 
(green leases) had moved from red to amber. 
 
The budget has increased in Q3 with the allocation of £105,000 from reserves. It is forecast that 
£30,000 of this will be spent this year, with the remaining £75,000 being rolled over to 22/23 
leaving a favourable variance at 21/22 year end.  
 
 
Environmental Health – £4,000 
 

During the pandemic the commercial team’s work focused on supporting businesses to operate 
safely and comply with the changing regulations. They are now in period of 
monitoring/recovery, following the Food Standards Agency’s (FSA) recovery plan which 
provides a risk-based approach to addressing the backlog in food hygiene inspections. 
However, the resignation of an Environmental Health Specialist has delayed progress and 
changed the RAG status from green to amber. A contractor has been appointed to provide 
temporary support for ‘Plan B’ Covid work and other Commercial team work funded from the 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF). This is in addition to an existing Covid 
contractor who was also funded from the COMF. 
 
Primary Authority income is forecast to have an unfavourable variance of c.£28,000. Principally 
as a result of the pandemic preventing site inspections from taking place which would normally 
generate significant income. These are starting up again, but the long-term impact is not yet 
known. A claim is being made to a central Government fund for loss of income. Whilst we 
anticipate our claim will be successful, refusal would result in a negative variance of £24,000. 
Primary authority partnerships will be considered as part of the continuous improvement review. 
 
 
Pollution – (£46,000) 
 

The Pollution team were heavily affected by reduced staffing numbers in Q1 and an increased 
reactive workload in Q2. This has reduced in Q3 and provided an opportunity to consolidate 
and progress. The team have two part-time contractors to cover some of the shortfall and have 
bought in support to improve processes and systems. An external appointment has now been 
made to the vacant band five post with a start date of the end of January, and recruitment for 
an air quality specialist is about to begin. This will provide some additional resilience to the 
team. The forecast overspend relates to the need to use contractors where there have been 
vacant posts. This overspend is being funded from reserves. 
 
A key performance indicator for the Pollution team has been the air quality monitoring data from 
the monitoring point on Southampton Road. A series of faults with the equipment has meant 
that whilst the data has been collected, it has not been uploaded. This data is supplementary to 
the air quality monitoring data that is collected as part of the team’s statutory functions. As part 
of the Resource Manager’s review of corporate performance monitoring indicators, all service 
areas are being considered, and a new KPI will be proposed that provides a representative 
view of Air Quality Management Areas across the borough. 
 
 
Tree Works – (£109,000) 
 
The Tree Works budget has been included in Q3 in anticipation of the service moving from 
Neighbourhoods to the Environment executive. This has increased the budget by £190,000. 
Consultants and Hampshire County Council are being used to undertake tree inspections, Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) work and planning application advice as we have been unable to fill 
vacant posts. This has resulted in a forecast overspend. A variety of options are being 
considered to resolve this issue including an internal structure and entering a partnership 

79



agreement. In addition, Hampshire County Council have increased their fees from April 2022 by 
15% and we are discussing alternative arrangements with a neighbouring authority.  
 
A large element of preventative work has now been caught up on, which has reduced our risk 
of insurance claims, however this work has increased the forecast overspend. We are seeking 
approval for additional ongoing revenue growth of £50,000 for the tree maintenance work.  
 
 
Open Spaces Park and Recreation Grounds – (£300) 
Figures included in here, but commentary reported in Neighbourhoods. 
  

 

 

80



Health and Wellbeing 
Health and Wellbeing and Social Policy Portfolio’s 

Executive Summary Report Q3 
 
Reporting Date: January 2022   
 

 

1. Overall Summary 
The Executive Area comprises of six key services: Arts and Culture, Country Parks, Healthy 
Communities, and Leisure Services all contributing to the Health and Wellbeing Portfolio, and 
Housing and Homelessness and Housing Standards contributing directly to the Social Policy 
Portfolio.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive Area continues to be challenged by the Covid-19 
pandemic with services continuing to modify their offer. Facilities and activities are still being 
adjusted due to the uncertainty of future restrictions, and customer confidence making it hard to 
forecast with certainty for Leisure and Arts and Culture in particular. 
 
Covid-19 has exacerbated the inequalities gap with a detrimental effect on our most vulnerable. 
The pressure and responsibility on welfare services for the most vulnerable is greater than 
ever. All homelessness prevention, housing and community development services have seen 
increased demand with a greater complexity of cases. Service improvements within Case 
Management are helping to manage this however we are yet to know the long-term demand. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Executive still aim to meet the majority of objectives as set out in the 
Corporate Action Plan, however are prepared to be flexible with ever changing demands. Home 
Office funding has allowed us to recruit for a post to take over the Bridging Hotel project for 
those staff currently re-deployed.   

 

2. Performance Overview 

2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Arts and Culture R R A  
Country Parks G G G  
Healthy Communities R A A  

Housing and Homelessness A A A  

Housing Standards G A G  
Leisure Services R A A  

 
 
 
 
 
2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 81



Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1 2,577 1,546 1,857 720 

Q2 2,765 1,959 2,210 556 

Q3 2,759 2,169 2,205 554 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

HealthWorks session 
participation 

R R R R A R R R R    

SportWorks session 
participation 

R A A G G G G G G    

Visits to Places Leisure 
Eastleigh 

R R R R R R R R R    

Arts and Culture Attendance R R R R R R R A A    

Arts and Culture Participation  R R R R R A R R A    

IVCP Visitor Footfall G G G A G G G G A    

HHC average waiting times G G G G G G G G G    

Total in B&B R A R R R R R R R    

DFG % decided within 6 months 
from application 

G G G G R A G G G    

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

  N/A         

           

           

  

82



3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Healthy Communities (‘Health and Wellbeing’ budget book page £15,000 underspend) 
Participation in HealthWorks and SportWorks activities has been relatively steady over the last 
quarter.  However, the threat of the Omicron variant has impacted on participation rates during 
December as confidence amongst our vulnerable client group has been affected. For this 
reason the return to in person activities remains cautious, with online sessions and campaigns 
such as ‘We are Undefeatable’ becoming even more important. Currently, it appears unlikely 
that the HealthWorks or SportWorks services will meet their income target for 21/22, however 
there have been two vacant posts in the service area resulting in a forecasted underspend. The 
community development team continue to provide support to community groups across the 
Borough and delivered a successful Christmas event at North Stoneham which was highly 
commended by partners. 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Leisure Services (‘Places Leisure Eastleigh (PLE)’ budget book page £107,000 
underspend)  
Quarter 3 has seen mixed fortunes in terms of participation and engagement. PLE has 
continued to struggle with low throughput figures and a drop off in membership. PLE budgets 
are still forecasting to be underspent by year end, although unforeseen cost for the replacement 
of the studio floors and temporary alternative structures. The PLE budget is forecasting an 
underspend of £107k which will be allocated to the PLE maintenance reserve. The Council 
continue to defer the receipt of the Management Fee whilst the sector struggles to meet income 
targets, reprofiling should re-start in 22-23. 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Country Parks (‘Countryside Management’ budget book page £0 variance) 
Even after a challenging quarter due to poor weather and multiple extended sicknesses across 
the Country Parks team have pulled together and continue to perform ahead of our KPI profiles. 
Changes to the strategy around ‘visitor journey’, through a range of engagement techniques 
encouraging wellbeing, skills and exploration, continue to deliver increased parking dwell time 
and café secondary spend, whilst managing down expenditure. This has resulted in the service 
predicting performance in line with budget coming into the final quarter.  
 
Delivery of the IVCP Masterplan will fundamentally change the profile of the budget. Work is in 
the early stages with Finance to identify where income and expenditure growth will occur. 
£30,000 is being requested to be spent on pathway maintenance at IVCP, this will be offset by 
additional parking income at the Country Park.  
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 
Arts and Culture (‘Arts and Culture’ budget book page £123,000 underspend) 
Omicron 'Plan B' constraints impacted resilience with some reserved tickets not completed as 
sales etc. and credits give, however the trend is still positive and the team are keeping up to 
date with sector research and developments. As Covid restrictions lift, Arts & Culture 
are focusing on building customer confidence plus developing the external and outreach 
elements of the programme. There is a plan to apply to ACE/DCMS for further Cultural 
Recovery funds and programming continues with cautious optimism. 
 
It is important to note that although the budget line is showing a £123,000 saving, this is only 
due to a one-off £300,000 growth being added to the budget for 21-22 due to the uncertainty 
around recovery. In summary, £177,000 of the subsidy planned has been needed. 

83



 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing and Homelessness (‘Housing Advice’ budget book page £314,000 additional 
grant) 
It is challenging for the sector to meet service KPI’s in Case Management however the trend of 

stats is improving. These have been affected by the increasing demand and complexity of 

cases impacted by a range of Covid-19 related issues, such as regularly changing government 

guidance and legislation, ending the eviction ban, ending of furlough and HCC proposed cuts. 

We have invested further grant funding to support additional resource however recruitment is 

challenging due to a competitive environment, and extremely late notice of Government 

Funding does not allow any lead in times. The Homelessness grant reserve is funding 

permanent posts within the service therefore the remaining ringfenced homelessness grant of 

£314,000 is forecast to be moved into reserves for spend already planned for 22/23 to help 

build resilience. 

 

In Quarter 3 the team tackled the increase in rough sleeping through a planned multi-agency 

approach. The team continue to work hard to support these individuals through increased 

outreach with social prescribers and other support agencies with a focus on encouraging rough 

sleepers to accept offers of accommodation, and the Covid-19 vaccine. Our Rough Sleeper 

Initiative (RSI) focuses on 4 areas; personalised budgets, winter provision/off the street offers, 

communications campaign and tenancy coaching course.  

 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
Housing Standards (‘Home Improvements’ budget book page £5,000 overspend) 
The budget forecast for housing enforcement is £5,000 overspent due to variability of 
enforcement work & case requirements. Housing Enforcement is considered to be back to 
almost typical levels but is variable due to the reactive nature of the service. The new fit & 
proper person test for caravan site licensing will increase staff demand slightly and Covid-19 
absences have affected the small team. 
 
Disabled Facility Grant (DFG) spend is currently managed through a Capital grant scheme 
which is currently on target as in person visits return. 
 
  

 

 

84



Neighbourhood Services  
Transport and Environment Portfolio 

Executive Summary Report 

Reporting Date: 

13/01/2022 

 

1. Overall Summary 
Recruitment and retention of staff remains a key challenge for all services areas, we have seen 
a positive impact from pay and recruitment initiatives already implemented within the waste 
area. Further work is required within the Streetscene service particularly as we move into the 
grass cutting season in order to deliver expected standards. It should be noted that despite the 
challenging recruitment market, high sickness and covid absences we have not had to suspend 
any services, unlike a number of authorities across the country, all staff continue to work flexibly 
across areas to ensure services continue to be provided.  
 
Waste and Recycling Service 
There is a large overspend in this year only, on staffing as a result of unbudgeted sickness and 
annual leave carried over from 20/21, in addition to vehicle hire costs due to delays in 
manufacturing. The numbers of missed bins and service complaints has reduced over the last 
two months as new rounds have settled down mainly due to improved reporting through 
salesforce and filling of vacant posts. The recycling rate is continuing to improve and we are 
forecasting our highest recycling figure ever. The garden waste service achieved its highest 
number of subscribers since its launch with income exceeding £1million this financial year. 
 
Streetscene  
The service was successful in being awarded the best performer in Street Cleansing and Parks 
for the 11th and 4th consecutive years at the APSE Performance Networks Awards in 
December. There were delays in delivering some scheduled works due to supporting the waste 
service, however works are now back on schedule. The tree nursery is well established with 
just under 20,000 trees already growing on site and will be planting its target of 4000 trees this 
year, with the two apprentices gaining valuable skills in propagation and horticulture. 
 
Fleet and Transport 
The trial of HVO fuel has been positive and all vehicles are now operating on this fuel which is 
90% cleaner than diesel. We are forecasting an overspend due to the increase in fuel costs and 
the large increases in spare parts. 
 
Traffic Management 
The traffic management team have progressed and implemented a number of schemes which 
had stalled, all of these schemes will have a positive impact within their local areas.  
 
Parking 
Income levels are significantly lower than budgeted as previously stated as off street parking 
remains low for example Mitchell Road MSCP currently has occupancy levels of circa 21% 
compared to 95% pre-pandemic.   

 

2. Performance Overview 

85



2.1 Service Health Check 

Overall Service Health Check (RAG)  

Service Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Streetscene A A G  
Waste Management R R R  

Technical Services – Fleet and 
Transport A A R  

Technical Services - Construction R A A  

CCTV A A A  

Parking Services R R R  

Transport Policy G G G  

Highways Non-Agency G G G  

Highways Agency Services G G A  

2.2 Finance 

Finance Pack – Report total 

Quarter 
Budget 
(£’000) 

Actuals 
(£’000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£’000) 

Forecast Outturn 
(£’000) 

(Overspent)/Underspent 

Q1        

Q2 4,579 3,329 5,135 (556) 

Q3 4,307 3,646 4,984 (676) 

Q4     

2.3 Key Performance Indicators 
KPI Pack – All relevant KPIs  

Green (G) – on target, Amber (A) – within tolerance, Red (R) - needs action  R A G 

  A M J J A S O N D J F M 

KPI 1 Waste Recycling Rate G G G G G G G G G    

KPI 2 Waste Arisings per 
household 

A A A A A A G G G    

KPI 3 Missed Collections R R R R A A A A A    

2.4 Other Performance Indicators 

Service specific indicators 

  Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Target 

X           

Y           

Z           

 

3. Commentary 

Key Updates and Variances 

Describe the key things impacting your service(s) 

ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO  
 
Cemeteries                £6,799 Favourable Additional Income 
 
Public Toilets             £7,885 Favourable   Rates Refund 
 
Streetscene              £18,978 Favourable Additional Income 

86



 
Waste Management £432,251 Unfavourable 
 
Staffing £308,265 overspend –  
 
Last financial year the Council gave staff an extra 3 days leave at Christmas, due to service 
need and round changes staff were able to carry forward this leave entitlement into 21/22 plus 
up to 7 days leave which wasn’t taken in 20/21 due to the pandemic, this has been a significant 
factor in the staffing overspend as the service has had to cover these additional days through 
agency staffing and or overtime in order to deliver the service, in total this was 347 days which 
is equivalent to 1.5fte. 
 
Sickness levels (including COVID-19) within the waste team have been higher this year than 
budgeted with a total of 980.75 unbudgeted days equivalent to 4fte’s. 
 
Underspend in Direct Services area will be allocated to resolve long term recruitment and 
retention of staff, but short-term underspends will be used to offset overspends in the waste 
service.  
 
The increase in demand for garden waste has resulted in an additional round. The delay in 
implementing the Route Optimisation work until Sept 2022 has meant the continuing use of 3 
additional loaders. This will also impact the staffing budget for 2022/23. The additional income 
from the service will be £164,000. 
 
Overtime has been incurred in resolving the new rounds and the difficulties in filling the 

vacancies in the first half of the financial year. 

Delays in obtaining parts due to shortages on a food waste vehicle has resulted in additional 
member of staff and vehicle being used. 
 
The Trade Waste review of rounds for implementing Trade Food Waste scheme forms part of 
the strategy in addressing the climate emergency. The components of providing a commercial 
food waste service are in place though pricing structure and funding of containers needs 
thought. Capacity to undertake this new service plus expand upon our portfolio of customers 
will be defined as the commercial waste rounds are optimised.  The income budget was 
reduced due to Covid-19, however it is anticipated that this budget will be exceeded at the end 
of the financial year by £39,290. 
  
Implication of HCC Waste Strategy and the Environment Act 2023: The newly designed waste 
and recycling rounds were created, in part, with cognisance of the HCC Waste Strategy and 
also the Environment Act 2023. Services are now aligned to absorb upcoming changes and 
cost pressures as much as practicably possible. However, a keen eye will be required to deal 
with issues and pressures emanating from these regional and national strategies. At this time 
Eastleigh is well placed to deal with the upcoming changes.  
  
The procurement of the three electric refuse vehicles and food waste vehicles has been 
completed, however any manufacturing delays may affect vehicle delivery timescales .  
  
There is an additional cost of £21K associated with cameras on vehicles, including the transfer 
and storage of the data. 
 

Direct Services £247,500 Favourable 
 
An underspend is forecast for the Direct Services accounts, this is due to the retention and 
recruitment budget for waste management and streetscene staff being held in the practice 

87



account until the review of regrading and market supplements for staff is agreed before being 
vired to the services.   
 

 
TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO 
 
Transport - Technical Services (£202,392) Unfavourable 
 
The vehicle fleet has been transitioned to HVO, since the transition we have seen the price of 
this fuel increase in line with other fuel prices, resulting in a forecast overspend of £70k. It is 
anticipated this is likely to continue into 2022/23. 
 

The Council has seen an additional charge of £29,000 added to the insurance premium. This is 
due to the risk-based matrix used by the insurance industry at renewal. The 2022 renewal has 
now been submitted and we await performance information from the insurer which will affect 
the premium.   
 

We have seen an increase in tyre damage caused by tipping operation at the transfer stations 
since collecting glass fortnightly using split body (podded) RCVs. We are investigating ways to 
improve the tipping procedure to reduce spilled glass and damage to tyres.   
 
Transport trading (MOT and Compliance) tests are down due to the COVID-19 exemption 
introduced by DfT the forecast loss of income is £30,000. 
 
Additional PPE and H&S equipment required by the risk assessment has resulting in 
overspend.   
 

The workshop is preparing to maintain an electric fleet. Additional tools and PPE are required.   
 
There has been a rise in the cost of parts of between 11% and up to 70%, suppliers are citing 
the cost of transportation and import duty, we estimate of these increases at £42K. There are 
delays in receiving parts, meaning more vehicles and equipment is ‘off road’ for longer which 
means there has been an increase in external hire costs, Mechanical Sweeper Leaf Clearance 
(October-January) £15,000. 
 
Parking Services (£403,338) Unfavourable 
 
Measurable occupancy is low in some car parks, such as Mitchell Road MSCP running at 21% 
(compared to 95+% in 2019) which is typical of a commuter car park. This has increased 
slightly from the previous quarter, which was running 15% occupancy. Hedge End Railway 
Station is also showing some small gains as some commuters are parking and returning 
to London, but this remains significantly under-performing compared to 2019 – ticket sales for 
current year at 4,400, compare to 2019 at 22,000 tickets sold. There is ongoing work with the 
Parking Working Group to identify options to address this loss of income in the long term. 
 
Parking enforcement income remains positive, particularly in regard to on-street parking 
offences.   
  
 

Highways Agency Services (£1,860) Unfavourable 
 
The continuation of the agency arrangements with HCC are under review with an expected 
decision in  March 2022, the timescale for implementation of this decision is 12 months, 
therefore any changes will come into effect April 2023 
 

88



Highways Non-Agency £44,989 Favourable 
 
This financial year we have processed 78 application forms for Road Closures compared to 60 
in 20/21 this has resulted in a net positive position of £23,620.   
 
Due to less availability of staff resources in the Engineering team because of vacancies, there 
will be a reduction on recharges to capital schemes of £32,710.  The staff savings due to the 
vacant posts are £53,900. 
 
Transport Policy £51,360 Favourable 
 
There is a projected saving of £50,000 resulting from a reduction in public transport 
patronage as a result of the pandemic. The long-term effect of this is still to be fully understood 
and as funding from the Department of Transport is reduced, we may start to see the full impact 
of the pandemic on services which have previously been provided commercially. Following the 
publication of Bus Back Better – National Bus Strategy for England in February 2020 the 
County Council published a Bus Service Improvement Plan in October 2021 and will be 
establishing a new Enhanced Partnership early in Q4.   
 

There has been a reduction in street naming and number income of £3,000.  This service is 
demand led from housing development. 
 
 
 

HEALTH PORTFOLIO  
CCTV - Nil 
  
The ongoing CCTV review continues further analysis to determine benefits of CCTV and future 
requirements (including potential for growth of service into Local/Parish areas and service 
expansion). The link between CCTV & Parking is being reviewed considering the potential for 
the Agency Agreement with HCC being revoked; this will help steer decisions as to future 
development of parking controls (being ‘Pay on Foot’ type installations or Pay & Display)  

 

 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL   

Thursday, 10 February 2022   

CABINET  

Thursday 17 February 2022  

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - 2026/27 

Report of the Corporate Director (Chief Financial Officer)  

  

 

Recommendation(s) Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel  

It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel review 

the General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/2022 – 2026/27 and make 

recommendations to Cabinet.   

  

Cabinet  

It is recommended that Cabinet:  

(1) recommend Council set the revised net Revenue Budget requirement 

for 2021/22 at £9,914,000 and note the impact on the Council’s General 

Fund balance (para 9);  

(2) recommend Council set the net Revenue Budget requirement for 

2022/23 at £10,166,000 and note the impact on the Council’s General 

Fund balance (para 9);  

 

(3) recommend Council note the provisional Local Government Finance 

settlement for 2022/23 (para 14-17);  

(4) recommend Council approve budget adjustments for 2021/22 and 

2022/23 in line with the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendices A & 

B);  

(5) recommend Council increase the average Council Tax for Eastleigh 

Borough Council by 1.99% (2.81%below CPI) (para 18-22);  

(6) recommend Council approve the Special Expenses for Parished and 

Non-Parished areas (para 23-25);  

91

Agenda Item 7



 

(7) Approve expenditure of £1,400,000 in 2022/23 for the Disabled 

Facilities Grant Programme to be funded from Government grant and 

housing capital receipts; 

(8) Recommend to Council to accept the invitation from the Public Sector 

Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd to join the national scheme for the 

procurement of external audit services with effect from 2023/24. 

    

 

Summary  
  

This report details the proposed General Fund Budget for 2021-22 and 2022-23 

with the associated forecast Medium-Term Financial Plan to 2026/27.  This 

demonstrates that despite the ongoing impact of Covid and economic pressures 

the Council is forecast to deliver a balanced budget into the medium term.  

Statutory Powers  

  

Section 151 Local Government Act 1972  

Local Government Finance Act 1992  

Local Government Act 2003 (Part 2- Financial Administration)  

  

Strategic Implications   

1.  The Budget underpins the Council’s ability to meet Strategic Priorities set 

out in the Corporate Plan.  The Budget aligns the appropriate level of 

resource that enables services and projects to be delivered so that there is 

a direct impact on residents.  The Budget is a vital management 

mechanism to ensure financial sustainability of the Council, fulfilment of 

statutory obligations, financial prudence and compliance.    

Introduction  

2. This year has seen an improvement in certainty as the restrictions around 

Covid-19 have begun to be lifted.  The budget process has reflected this 

increased certainty with informed budget forecasting and setting throughout 

2021/22. Due to this a Revised Budget for 2021/22 is brought for approval, 

this will help measure the ongoing impact of Covid-19 and other related 

costs and losses.  The Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) reflects the 

forecast outturn position and includes the anticipated future impacts of the 

pandemic and other emerging issues where relevant.    

3. As reported last year, due to the uncertainty of the impact of the pandemic, 

a regular review of the MTFP has continued to be carried out and reported 

92



 

to councillors quarterly to demonstrate that the Council remains in a stable 

financial position and is well prepared for any further unforeseen changes.  

As such the updated MTFP will continue to now be approved in line with the 

Budget in February.  This enables the longer-term forecasts to be more 

accurate, up to date and directly aligned to the approved Budget.   

 

4. Cabinet approved Corporate Fees and Charges in December 2021.  Local 

Area Committees have also set fees and charges for local amenities, 

including car parks as part of their devolved responsibility.    

5. The financial performance for each service is monitored regularly 

throughout the year which includes forecasting the full year position.  This 

monitoring identifies issues, both pressures and efficiencies, which are then 

included within the MTFP as drafted in Appendix A.   

6. The Budget report is considered by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny 

Panel on 10 February 2022.  All Councillors are invited to this meeting and 

are given the opportunity to speak and to ask questions.  The Budget is 

then reported to Cabinet and subsequently taken to Full Council for 

approval on 24 February 2022. In addition, this year a budget training 

session looking at the Council’s process of budgeting was introduced for 

councillors which was well received and will become an annual part of the 

Budget setting process. 

  

Net Revenue Budget  

7. The 2022/23 Budget has been prepared on the following basis:  

(a) Average Council Tax will increase for residents next year by 1.99%, 

an increase of £105,810.  In addition, there is an allocation of 

Council Tax surplus of £146,610 in 2022/23. The Council remains 

committed to minimising the impact of Council Tax increases on 

residents and maintains a policy of increasing Council Tax by no 

more than 1% below inflation (CPI) prevailing at 31 December in the 

preceding year. 

 

(b) In accordance with policy, the General Fund Reserve is maintained 

at the minimum of the higher of £1M or 10% of Net Cost of Services.    

(c) The Budget makes provision for salary related inflation and for an 

estimated annual national pay award of 3% in 2022/23 at a cost of 

£688,765 and 2% per annum for the remainder of the MTFP. 

(d) Fees and Charges are set to achieve on average a minimum 3% 

(£173,850) yield increase in 2022/23. However, it should be noted 

that due to the impact of Covid-19 the ability of services to generate 

additional income continues to be impacted and growth is reflected 

within the latest projections.  

93



 

(e) Interest budgets are calculated based on advice from Arlingclose, 

the Council’s treasury management advisors, to reflect risk of 

interest rate fluctuations. 

8. Budget pressures have been contained within existing resources wherever 

possible.  This year services have continued to experience economic 

difficulties there are several pressures to highlight to councillors. However, 

as services recover from the pandemic and Executive Heads review service 

budgets several savings have also been identified.  Appendix B and 

paragraphs 26 to 38 of this report detail those pressures that need approval 

from Cabinet (Recommendation 4).  

9. The Original and Revised Budget for 2021/22 and the Budget to 2026/27 

are summarised in the following table.  Further detail is shown in Appendix 

A.  

 

10. The Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan show that the Council is in a 

stable financial position with General Fund Reserves being maintained, 

meeting the minimum requirement of the higher of £1M or 10% of the Net 

General Fund Requirement.  

11. A review of earmarked reserves has been undertaken to confirm that 

current and forecast levels are adequate to address all known potential 

liabilities.  This includes the significant interest and property reserves.  A 

summary of reserves, showing forecast closing balances year on year, is 

show in the table below:  

 

94



 

 
  

Impact of Covid-19  

12. During 2021/22 the Council has received (£532,000) in general 

Government grants to help mitigate the impact of Covid-19.  The Sales, 

Fees & Charges grant is forecast to be £500,000 for 2021/22 which is 

£298,000 lower than originally forecast as service income levels have been 

higher than expected, this grant stops in 2021/22. 

13. Levels of lost income and additional costs as a result of Covid-19 continue 

to be a problem in some areas and are detailed in paragraphs 26 - 38 within 

this report at Appendix B.  

 

Local Government Finance Settlement  

 
14. A provisional one-year settlement was published in December 2021.  This 

has in most cases, maintained government funding levels at the same level 

as 2019/20 and this funding is included within the proposed Budget.   

 

15. Due to continued financial constraints from Central Government, Cabinet 

will note that the Revenue Support Grant reduced to zero from 2019/20.  In 

2007/08 this same funding was £7.4M, which equates to approximately 

£10M at today’s prices.  This reflects the real and sustained reduction in 

Central Government funding of Local Government over the past 11 years.  

It is worth noting that the Government pledge was that the reduction in 

Revenue Support Grant would be offset by councils retaining 100% of 

Business Rate income in the future although this has still not been 

introduced.  There has however been the introduction on a new Lower Tier 

services grant with the Council receiving £684,000 in 2021/22 and 

£934,000 in 2022/23 in a move to support these reductions. 

 

16. It should be noted that there continue to be significant changes reported in 

the Business Rates position due to the additional reliefs issued and 

changes to accounting methods due to Covid -19 to even out any short-

term losses. The longer-term net position is anticipated to be materially the 

same as Covid-19 losses can be phased over three years and losses are 

supported by Section 31 grants.  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Reserve £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Property 5,347 5,172 5,897 6,622 7,347 8,072

Capital and Developers Contributions 4,249 4,249 4,249 4,249 4,249 4,249

Local Areas 688 688 688 688 688 688

Service Specific 4,416 4,315 4,286 4,256 4,226 4,197

Interest 10,497 10,114 8,893 8,030 5,985 2,955

Total Earmarked Reserves 25,197 24,538 24,013 23,845 22,495 20,161

95



 

17. The Government had intended to reset the base income from Business 

Rates nationally moving to three yearly valuations from 2021 however this 

continues to be delayed.  This reset will have a significant negative impact 

on the Council’s finances and will erode the benefit received over recent 

years with increasing Business Rate income. For Eastleigh, it is anticipated 

that if there is rebasing this will remove any growth to date which the 

Council currently benefits from and the Council will revert to the safety net 

position, potentially requiring top up funding from Central Government.  In 

addition, the spreading of the Covid related ‘Exceptional Balance’ (losses 

incurred in 2019/20 due to the pandemic) in the collection fund will incur a 

cost of £1.4M in 2021/22, this is funded by additional funds set aside in the 

increased General Fund balance at the end of 2020/21 as shown in 

Appendix A.  The potential impact on the Council (based on current 

estimates from our advisors) is tabled below and is reflected in the MTFP:   

 

Council Tax  

18. The Council Tax paid by an individual is a combination of:  

 Hampshire County Council Precept   

 Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire 

Precept  

 The Fire and Rescue Authority Precept    

 Eastleigh Borough Council (adjusted for Special 

Expenses - see para 23)  

 Parish/Town Council Precept (in the parished 

areas)  

  

19. The average Band D Borough Council element of the Council Tax has been 

set at £131.97, an increase of 1.99% (£2.58) for 2022/23 which is 2.81% 

below inflation (December 2021 CPI).  The Government caps increases in 

Council Tax at the greater of 2% or £5 and these can only be exceeded 

with a positive referendum result.  Eastleigh Borough Council continues to 

maintain the policy of guaranteeing that council tax increases will be at least 

1% below inflation and in 2022/23 is going beyond this and not increasing 

by the allowed maximum of £5 (3.8%). 

20. The total average Band D Council Tax figure demonstrates an average 

£2.58 increase year on year (2.81% below inflation).  The ongoing 

commitment over the past 18 years to reducing the impact of Council Tax 

on residents has led to the current Council Tax levied by the Borough being 

more than 30% lower than if it had gone up in line with inflation.  

96



 

 

 

 2021/22 2022/23 Increase 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Basic Council Tax 

£102.85 £104.89 £2.04 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Special Expenses Council Tax 

£26.54 £27.08 £0.54 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

Total Council Tax 

£129.39 £131.97 £2.58 

 

 

21. Hampshire County Council, Police & Crime Commissioner for Hampshire 

and Hampshire Fire & Rescue Authority precepts are incorporated in the 

Council Tax calculation reported to Council in February 2022.  

22. Currently collection rates for Council Tax remain high and will not have an 

impact on the General Fund through the collection fund account as new 

accounting policies have been put in place to mitigate the impact of Covid-

19.  

Special Expenses  

23. Special Expenses are an element of the Council Tax charge.  They are a 

mechanism for identifying, where possible, services specific to a geographic 

area and reflecting the relevant costs to the Council Tax payer within the 

area which that service is performed.  This enables more accurate bills for 

residents who are then paying for services specific to their geographic area 

where possible. Compared with last year there is an average 4.94% 

increase in the non-parished area to reflect accurate refinement of support 

provided by the Borough Council provided to the two new Eastleigh Parish 

Councils. 

24. Two new parishes are being created in the Eastleigh area during 2022/23 

and these will be funded by the special expenses currently levied by the 

Borough Council.  In future the new parish councils will set a precept and 

the Borough Council will reduce the special expense charge to residents for 

any services provided by the parish.     

25. The Special Expenses’ budgets for 2022/23 are outlined below:  

Expenditure relating to the Non-Parished 

Area  

   2022/23  

                 £  

 Allotments  58,837  

 Bowls Facilities  4,096  

 Bus Shelters  8,991  

 Children's Play Areas  62,135  

 Cemeteries  62,078  

97



 

                    New Parish Support Cost  61,724  

 Christmas Lighting  29,430  

 Playing Fields  87,656  

 Public Toilets  43,514  

 Christmas Event  7,373  

 Community Safety  36,838  

 Cable Works  28,787  

 Countryside Sites  36,748  

 Open Spaces, Parks & Recreation Grounds  198,161  

 Tree Management & Maintenance  28,044  

 Energy Centre  15,257  

 Town Centre Maintenance  11,994  

    

   781,663  

 

Special Expenses in the Parished Areas  

  2022/23  

  £  

    

Allbrook  9,268  

Bishopstoke  84,083  

Botley  23,923  

Bursledon  54,563  

Chandler’s Ford  159,596  

Fair Oak & Horton Heath  57,654  

Hamble-le-Rice  45,149  

Hedge End  85,531  

Hound  89,554  

West End  95,509  

 
  

Special Expenses in the Parished Areas  

  

  704,830  

    

Notional Grant    (176,583)  

Special Expenses in the Non Parished Areas           781,663  

    

 
 Total Special Expenses    1,309,910  

  

Service Issues  

26. The Budget process has been carried out reflecting the quarterly Financial 

and Performance Monitoring process to 31 December 2021.  This allows 

the most current financial information to be used to inform the Budget and 

identifies pressures and emerging efficiencies. The key budget impacts are 

98



 

detailed in the following paragraphs with more information shown in 

Appendix B which details the full movements in the Budget (rec 4).   

 

27. Parking income continues to be severely impacted by the pandemic with 

usage levels at historic lows with the 2021/22 Original Budget including 

growth of £760,900.  Continued reduced usage levels mean a further 

£403,000 growth is required in 2021/22 bringing the total budgeted income 

loss to £1,163,900. It is anticipated that the loss will be approximately 

£822,470 for 2022/23 which represents a £61,570 growth from the 2021/22 

Original Budget position.  Parking Services is being reviewed as part of the 

Continuous Improvement Strategy with a view to improving this position. 

 

28. Growth is required in IT Services of £397,000 in 2021/22 and £561,820 

2022/23 for software licences. The initial investment for systems technology 

was for a 5-year capital programme from 2016.  This was based on an 

estimated headcount and Software savings created by the 

decommissioning of legacy systems including the CRM, Document 

Management, customer facing forms, bookings, and a replacement 

mapping service. 

 

29. In addition, modern cloud technology works on a pay as you go basis, 

rather than outright ownership, and as the Council continues to move 

services into the cloud the revenue budget needs to increase to recognise 

this change in funding streams.  This will result in a lower need for IT capital 

resources in the future. 

 

30. Beyond unifying customer processes onto a single platform, the pandemic 

has seen accelerated adoption of Office 365 inside the Council and 

specifically Microsoft Teams for collaboration.  It was envisaged that this 

would be implemented over a longer period, however quicker rollout of this 

has required an uplift in the software revenue budget.   Office 365 licencing 

coupled with other software dependencies e.g. OKTA, security and 

telephony equates to circa £1,100 per user per annum. 

 

31. The pandemic continues to affect services at Direct Services with growth of 

£444,000 required in 2021/22 and £522,000 from 2022/23 in addition to the 

£314,000 for Staff Supplements approved at Cabinet in November 2021. 

The significant elements of these budget issues are as follows: 

 

 The vehicle fleet has aged pending decisions by Hampshire County 

Council regarding what new recycling infrastructure will be provided 

to meet the needs of the Environment Act.  This has led to an 

increase in the number of repairs needed to keep the current 

vehicles operating.  There have also been significant inflation rises 

on fuel and spare parts, resulting in an increase in the cost of 

operations by £167,000 in 2021/22 and £216,000 from 2022/23.  A 

revised Vehicle Replacement Programme will be taken for approval 

later in the year which will seek to reduce this cost where possible. 

99



 

 

 Five new food waste vehicles and three electric refuse collection 

vehicles were ordered with expected delivery timescales of 20 and 

28 weeks respectively. However, delivery has been delayed by 24 

weeks on the food waste vehicles until the spring, which has meant 

vehicles have had to be hired at a cost of £187,000 in 2021/22 and 

£75,000 in 2022/23. 

 

 Hampshire County Council have changed how recycling credits and 

payments from the sales of recyclates are made, which has led to a 

reduction in income of £91,000 in 2021/22 and £180,000 in 2022/23. 

Discussions are on-going with regard to how payments will be made 

following the introduction of the Environment Act, which will come 

into effect from April 2023. 

 

 With the pandemic increasing sickness levels across the Waste 

Service a further £55,000 has been added to the budget from 

2022/23 to ensure services can continue as usual with the use of 

agency staff as necessary. 

 

32. During 2021/22, the Council has received reduced income from planning 

fees. Alongside temporary resourcing actions to maintain service 

provision, the pressure totals £96,000. This is not expected to continue 

into the new year so has been included within the revised 21/22 budget 

only.  

 

33. National wholesale energy prices have recently experienced significant 

inflation. Fixed rate tariffs have shielded the Council from these rises in the 

short-term but are due to expire in April 2022. The anticipated ongoing net 

impact of these gas and electricity price increases to the Council is 

£204,000. 

 

34. £200,000 has been allocated to the Development Management reserve as 

part of the revised 2021/22 budget to cover costs relating to the Airport 

Judicial Review. This appeal process will continue into 2022/23 so any 

unspent balance in the current year will roll forward. 

 

35. The Housing Benefits service has seen a continued net reduction in costs 

of (£423,000) during 2021/22 following the transition to Universal Credit. 

This is expected to be an ongoing saving. 

 

36. Due to the cyclical nature of workload associated with developing the Local 

Plan, the Council has been able to recognise a (£396,000) saving in the 

current year and (£162,000) in 2022/23 due to restructuring of the staffing 

to carry out work more efficiently in-house, and the reduced need for legal 

and consultant costs at this stage of Plan-making.  This saving will continue 

to reduce over the medium term and throughout the Local Plan cycle as 

100



 

technical and legal work is required to review and develop a new Local 

Plan.  

 

37. Arts & Culture were awarded £300,000 one-off growth in 2021/22 due to the 

pressures on the service and the wider industry caused by the uncertainty 

surrounding the pandemic. Through a reduction in non-essential 

expenditure, the use of grants and a better knowledge of the consumer 

appetite for the service, only £177,000 of the growth will be required in 

2021/22 meaning a saving on the original budget of £123,000. No additional 

funding will be required in the 2022/23 budget resulting in a saving of 

£300,000.  

 

38. Corporation Estates was given one-off budget growth of £504,000 in 

2021/22 due to Covid-19 pressures, which has been removed for the 

2022/23 budget. Rental payments are being received in line with payment 

plans and in the long term it is anticipated that arrears will be fully paid.  

The Investment Property reserve is considered sufficient to cover any risks 

from void properties or loss of rental income. 

Continuous Improvement Strategy  

39. The Continuous Improvement Strategy was postponed for 2021/22 to allow 

services to recover from the pandemic. Services have been considering 

ongoing efficiencies and budget savings as part of this budget setting process 

ahead of a relaunch of the Continuous Improvement Strategy these are 

detailed in Appendix B. 

 

40. The vision for the Council in relation to Corporate Continuous Improvement 

Strategy is: 

 

 A financially sustainable Council, which continues to deliver both 

statutory and discretionary services to achieve its corporate aims as 

defined by the Corporate Plan 

 Council costs are reduced, and existing income streams are increased 

 Services and processes are optimised by technology to reflect 

customer demand thus improving customer satisfaction 

 Support the most effective use of resources  

 

41. Initial discussions for improvements are already underway with Executive 

Heads and a detailed Strategy is being drawn up. Any proposed implications 

will be reported to Cabinet for approval throughout 2022/23.  

 

42. The MTFP includes the savings shown in the table below as part of the 

Continuous Improvement Strategy.  This will be regularly monitored and will 

be reported to Cabinet as part of the Quarterly Performance Process which 

will include details of progress and likely/achieved savings. 

 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

101



 

Target Saving 

(£’000s) 
500 1,500 2,500 3,000 3,500 

 

  

Community Investment Programme  

43. The Council continues with its successful Community Investment Programme 

(CIP) from strategic investment delivering tangible outcomes, such as 

increased and improved employment space, more housing, improved 

awareness of climate issues to aid the Climate and Environmental 

Emergency, whilst delivering increased revenue income to the Council.  The 

performance of the Community Investment programme during the 2021/22 

financial year can be seen in the Corporate Performance Monitoring Report 

as well as the Capital Strategy Report detailing the governance of the 

ongoing Community Investment Programme.  Both of these reports can be 

seen on the Cabinet agenda for February 2022. 

Community Investment Approval – Disabled Facilities Grant 

44. The Disabled Facility Grant (DFG) works are funded primarily through the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) programme which aims to improve the lives of some 
of our most vulnerable residents. The projects undertaken through the DFG 
programme play a vital role in the prevention of hospital admissions and 
tackling bed-blocking through the adaptions within resident’s own homes. 

 
45. Each year since the BCF programme started the Council has topped up the 

BCF by, on average, £150,000 through housing capital receipts due to the 
importance of the work the DFG programme delivers helping to achieve our 
Corporate Objectives. The BCF amount has increased year on year and as 
such the contribution the Council has had to top up has reduced.  

 

46. The Council has received £1,319,760 in Better Care Fund allocation in the 
current financial year 2021/22. 

 

47. Current forecasts are for £1,400,000 to be spent on the disabled facilities 
programme in 2021/22, with the difference being met from previous years 
underspends on budgets being slipped into 2021/22. 

 

48. Based on previous years grant allocations, it is assumed that DFG funding 
will remain constant for 2022/23 and therefore councillors are asked to 
approve the allocation of £1,400,000 for 2022/23.  With the difference of 
£80,240 being funded from Housing Capital Receipts.  This will be updated 
through 2022/23 once the BCF funding has been announced (Rec 7). 
 

Treasury Management  

49. As a net borrower, the Council’s Budget is sensitive to interest rate 
movements.  Net borrowing levels are anticipated to be £549M by the end of  
2021/22.   
 

102



 

50. The impact on the Council’s Investment/Borrowing Portfolio of the current 
and projected interest rates is summarised in the following table:  

 

 

Revised Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 
2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27 

 
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Average 
Interest 
Rate 1.30% 1.36% 1.32% 1.28% 1.37% 1.72% 

Interest 
Payable 4,744 5,123 5,162 5,194 6,304 7,599 

 
51. This financial year has seen an increase in the Bank of England Base Rate 

to 0.25% (December 2021).  The Council benefits annually from borrowing 

at a blend of short term and long-term interest rates and in addition the 

budget for short term rates is prudently based on a longer-term increasing 

forecast.  

52. The Council’s Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose, are currently 

forecasting that bank rate will rise in February 2022 to 0.50%, and then 

remain at 0.50% throughout their forecast to December 2024.  These 

forecasts are used to construct the Budget.  The Council also continues to 

hold a significant interest rate reserve to protect against any unforeseen 

interest rate increases.   

53. The Council has also opted, in line with recommendations from Arlingclose, 

to hold a blend of short-term variable borrowing, and long-term fixed 

borrowing.  This allows the Council to have both certainty over long term 

funding, both in relation to ongoing liquidity and cost of borrowing through 

long term fixed rates, albeit with a higher cost of borrowing, as well as the 

flexibility and lower costs of having some short-term borrowing, albeit it with 

less certainty over future interest costs. 

54. Although a net borrower, the Council also receives investment income from 

Treasury Management and Service Investments, this is summarised in the 

following table: 

 Revised Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 2021/22   2022/23   2023/24   2024/25   2025/26   2026/27  

  £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000  

 Average 

Interest 

Rate  2.93% 2.07% 2.07% 2.10% 2.32% 2.57% 

 Interest 

Receivable 1,376 414 414 420 464 514 

 

103



 

55. A large proportion of the interest income in 2021/22 is derived from housing 

loans made to Aspect Eastleigh sponsored housing schemes such as 

Pembers Hill.  This income is only reflected within budget projections when 

there is a high level of certainty.  Any interest generated by future schemes 

will only be added once a full business case has been approved.  As 

timings of future income streams are not known, investment income falls to 

a lower level in future years, representing an underlying level of treasury 

investments. 

56. The Council’s Property Portfolio provides an annual net surplus of £9M. 

When evaluating both Commercial and residential property investments, in 

line with the Capital Strategy, all known and anticipated costs are included 

within a robust internal financial assessment which considers all related 

costs including the cost of Prudential Borrowing.  It is important to note that 

all investments are assessed at the long-term borrowing rate and include 

provisions for both voids and maintenance costs.  

57. An indication of the financial health of the Council can be seen in the 

Prudential Indicators which are reported to Cabinet throughout the year.  

One indicator demonstrates the level that an average individual Council Tax 

bill would need to increase by if the Council did not receive income from 

investments and instead needed to generate this through Council Tax 

income this, figure is in excess of £200.  The Council would not be able to 

increase the tax by this sum and therefore would need to look at other ways 

to generate income, or more likely, would need to cut services.  Note that 

the proposed average Band D Council Tax figure for 2022/23 is £131.97.  

58. More details on the Council’s investment and borrowing plans are outlined 

in the Council’s Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies, 

which can be found on the Cabinet agenda for February 2022. 

New Homes Bonus  

59. The Council uses the New Homes Bonus (NHB) Grant to fund capital 

projects and, unlike many councils, does not rely on this income to fund 

ongoing revenue costs.  The scheme, when initially launched, committed to 

funding in 6-year tranches.  This reduced initially to 5 years in 2017/18 and 

then down to 4 years from 2018/19.  As these ‘legacy’ payments have been 

reduced, the future of New Homes Bonus funding has also been under 

consultation.  Despite this, New Homes Bonus income for 2022/23 has 

been confirmed by government, and it is anticipated the scheme will 

continue to deliver income to the Council, albeit it to a lower extent than in 

previous years with a total of £23.6M by the end of 2022/23. 

60. The current allocation of grant across specific schemes is detailed on the 

following page:  

104



 

 

61. In addition to the above, a further £6.8m of New Homes Bonus is 

earmarked for affordable housing within the Borough. 

 

62. The Council’s involvement in housing schemes, both through the 

investment of New Homes Bonus and the use of associated companies, 

has enabled the acceleration of housing supply within the Borough.  The 

success of the Housing Programme to date has meant that the Council is 

enabling the delivery of 3,400 homes across the Borough, which includes 

more than 1,000 Affordable properties without the need to subsidise 

schemes by drawing on the New Homes Bonus fund. Combined with the 

Completed £'000

Woodside Avenue & Hatch Farm 324       

Bursledon GP Surgery 3,797   

Lakeside Country Park 1,000   

Hiltingbury Pavilion & Tennis Courts 440       

Fleming Park Leisure Centre 3,752   

Hamble Library 200       

IVCP Highwood Barn 120       

Wildern Leisure Centre 1,050   

New Homes Review 100       

Fryern Pavilion 300       

Ramally Guides HQ/Scout Hall 231       

11,313 

Schemes Underway

Ramalley Countryside 10         

Romsey Road Community Facilities 200       

Hedge End/Horton Heath Cycle Route 40         

Bishopstoke Community Facilities 1,000   

St Johns Phase 2 & 3 700       

Restoration of Hiltingbury Lakes 145       

IVCP Masterplan Works 1,000   

3,095   

Scheme Approved

Bishostoke Road Improvements 900       

900       

Total 15,308 

105



 

reopening of the Housing Revenue Account the Council will be able to use 

these funds to directly accelerate the delivery and improve the quality of 

Affordable homes in the Borough. 

63. This is a continuing aspiration and whilst delivering on the Corporate Plan 

Priorities of increasing provision and diversity of housing mix throughout the 

Borough this also delivers net revenue income for the Council which is 

included within the Budget.  

Consultation  

64. The Council is required to consult with local businesses on the General 

Fund Revenue Budget although the actual level of Business Rates 

(National Non- Domestic Rates - NNDR) is set by Central Government.  

Letters have been sent to the Hampshire Chamber of Commerce, the 

Federation of Small Businesses and the Business Improvement District 

(BID).  To date a very supportive response from Hampshire Chamber of 

Commerce has been received which is shown at Appendix C. 

 

65. In preparing this Budget, Service Managers also consult with key partners 

to ensure that the requirements of maintaining a successful partnership are 

considered as part of the Budget deliberations.  

Provision of External Audit – PSAA opt in Invitation 

66. Commencing from April 2018, Eastleigh Borough Council opted into the 5-

year sector led procurement of external audit services, along with 98% of 

other eligible bodies. 

67. This current contract expires at the end of 2022/23; therefore the Council 

can now undertake one of three options for the procurement of an external 

auditor from the 2023/24 financial years, under the Local Government audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the act’): 

a) To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure 

set out in the Act.  

b) To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the 

procedures in the Act.  

c) To opt into the national auditor appointment scheme administered by 

a body designated by the Secretary of State as the ‘appointing 

person’.  The body currently designated for this role is Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).  
 

68. By opting into the national auditor appointment scheme the 

PSAA will provide: 

106



 

 the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for 

each of the five financial years commencing 1 April 2023. 

 appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved 

in formal collaboration or joint working initiatives to the extent this is 

possible with other constraints. 

 managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price 

criteria are satisfied. PSAA has sought views from the sector to help 

inform its detailed procurement strategy. 

 ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they 

audit and managing any potential conflicts as they arise during the 

appointment period. 

 minimising the scheme management costs and returning any 

surpluses to scheme members. 

 consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the 

Council/Authority the opportunity to influence which auditor is 

appointed. 

 consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring 

these reflect scale, complexity, and audit risk; and 

 ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once 

these have been let. 

 
69. It is recommended that the Council accepts the PSAA Invitation 

because: 

 collective procurement should reduce costs for the sector and for 

individual authorities compared to a multiplicity of smaller local 

procurements. 

 if it does not use the national appointment arrangements, the Council 

will need to establish its own auditor panel with an independent chair 

and independent members to oversee a local auditor procurement 

and ongoing management of an audit contract. 

 it is the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, 

registered auditor - there are only nine accredited local audit firms, 

and a local procurement would be drawing from the same limited 

supply of auditor resources as PSAA’s national procurement; and 

107



 

 supporting the sector-led body offers the best way of to ensuring 

there is a continuing and sustainable public audit market into the 

medium and long term. 
 

Risk Assessment  

70. The Budget preparation has a number of different risks ranging from strategic 

to operational.  A risk log that identifies the key financial risks and evaluates 

both impact and likelihood is attached in Appendix D.  

 

Equality and Diversity Implications  

71. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 

does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 

opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people.  An 

Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out.  

72. Any service changes identified in this report will have an Impact 

Assessment completed as required.  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications   

73. The recommendations included within this report do not have a direct 

impact on Climate Change or Environmental Implications. However, 

resources have been allocated in line with the Council’s strategy to ensure 

that the Climate Change Initiatives can be achieved. 

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement  

74. In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 the 

Council’s Chief Financial Officer, in recommending this Budget to Cabinet 

for approval, endorses it as being sound and robust and acknowledges that 

balances are being maintained at an adequate level for 2021/22 and 

2022/23 which is continuing into the future.  This recognises the uncertainty 

created by the cuts in public sector funding, the ongoing impact of Covid-19 

and the current economic climate.   

75. The Council’s current financial position both now and looking to the future is 

healthy.  This process has set a platform for the Council to continue to 

develop more efficient ways to provide services to customers whilst 

maintaining service provision.  The Budget reflects the success of the 

prudent financial and risk management approach adopted within the 

Council.    

76. The levels of uncertainty regarding the future in terms of the impacts of 

Covid-19 have reduced during the last few months and this has helped to 

build a more accurate Budget for 2022/23 and a better informed MTFP into 

the future.  It is essential that the Council continues to develop more 

108



 

efficient ways of working and uses strategy to focus resources to deliver the 

most effective services to deliver the aims of the Corporate Plan.        

 

77. The delay in driving forward the Continuous Improvement Strategy was the 

right decision due to the economic uncertainties however it is now important 

that this strategy is relaunched for 2022/23 to ensure that targets are met.  

The Council is financially stable although future increased financial 

pressures are inevitable, and we need to be able to react quickly to 

changes in focus.  The Council needs to build on the strong financial 

position to ensure that financial stability and service flexibility can continue 

into the long-term.  

78. This assessment is supported by the Chief Executive.  

Conclusion  

79. The Budget presented in this report is based on the best information 

available and sets a balanced Budget for 2021/22, 2022/23 and for the life 

of the Medium-Term Financial Plan to 2026/27. 

80. This represents a significant achievement and a positive prospect for the 

Council during a period of continued uncertainty and unprecedented 

financial pressures.  The Council continues to deliver against Strategic 

Priorities set out in the Corporate Plan; examples include improved 

recycling rates, improvements in air quality, increased physical activity of 

residents, resilient Town and Local Centres and an ambitious programme of 

infrastructure, regeneration and housing projects.  

  

81. Cabinet is asked to consider the Revised Budget for 2021/22 and the Draft 

Budget for 2022/23 and Medium-Term Financial Plan and to make 

recommendations to Council at its 24 February 2022 Budget meeting as 

appropriate.  

  

SARAH KING  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR (CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER)  

  

Date:  20 January 2022  

Contact Officer:  Andy Smith/Tom Andrews   

Tel No:    

e-mail:  andy.smith@eastleigh.gov.uk/tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk 

Appendices 

Attached:     4 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D  

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 

report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 

109



 

extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published 

works or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.  

None.  

  

110



APPENDIX A

Budget Summary Outturn Original Revised Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2021/22 to 2026/27 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Net continuing services 3,363 5,988 4,509 3,319 3,641 3,249 3,402 3,286

Other:
External Interest Payable 4,710 4,526 4,744 5,123 5,162 5,194 6,304 7,599
External Interest Receivable (3,540) (1,742) (1,376) (414) (414) (420) (464) (514)
Minimum Revenue Provision 5,055 5,226 5,198 6,135 6,413 6,667 6,830 6,886
Capital Financing from Revenue 1,777 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contribs to / (from) Reserves 17,982 817 4,551 893 (619) (261) (1,443) (2,428)
Depreciation (4,886) (4,900) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906)
Statutory Accounting Adjustments (4,328) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL COST 20,133 9,915 12,720 10,150 9,277 9,523 9,723 9,923

Transfer To/(From) Reserves 2,738 0 (2,806) 16 (16) 0 0 0

Total Budget Requirement 22,871 9,915 9,914 10,166 9,261 9,523 9,723 9,923

AVAILABLE FINANCE:

NDR (14,128) (3,564) (3,563) (3,563) (2,677) (2,739) (2,739) (2,739)

Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 0 (219) 0 0 0 0

Council Tax - Base (8,743) (6,351) (6,351) (6,384) (6,584) (6,784) (6,984) (7,184)

Financed Budget Requirement (22,871) (9,915) (9,914) (10,166) (9,261) (9,523) (9,723) (9,923)

BUDGET DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

GENERAL FUND BALANCES 2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Outturn Original Revised Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Balance at 1st April (1,068) (3,806) (3,806) (1,000) (1,016) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)
Appropriations (to)/from Reserve (2,738) 0 2,806 (16) 16 0 0 0
(Surplus)/'Deficit in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Balance at 31st March (3,806) (3,806) (1,000) (1,016) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

2021/22 2022/23

£ £

Corporate Adjustments Para Number

Staffing inflation 7 (49,850) 688,765

Fees & Charges yield strategy 7 0 (173,850)

Council Tax Surplus 7 0 (146,610)

Basic Council Tax increase 7 0 (105,810)

Lower Tier Service Grant 15 (684,000) (934,000)

Removal of Covid Fees & Charges Grant 12 298,000 800,000

Covid Support Grant 12 (532,000) 0

Continuous Improvement target saving 42 0 (500,000)

Treasury Management costs 49-58 555,570 883,180

Transfer To/(from) Interest Reserve 49-58 951,000 (640,420)

Airport appeal reserve 34 200,000 0

NNDR Exceptional Balance funding 17 1,477,000 0

2,215,720 (128,745)

Key Growth

Parking Services loss of income 27 403,000 61,570

IT - licence costs 28 397,220 561,824

Direct Services staff supplement - Cabinet - Nov 21 31 314,000 314,000

Direct Services 31 444,000 521,520

Reduction in Planning fees 32 96,000 0

Energy cost inflation 33 0 204,310

1,654,220 1,663,224

Key Savings

Housing Benefits - move Universal Credit 35 (423,000) (423,000)

Planning Policy - Reduction in consultancy budget 36 (396,000) (160,110)

Increased Arts Grant & Fee income 37 (123,000) (300,000)

Corporation Estates + remove Covid income growth 38 0 (504,000)

(942,000) (1,387,110)

Other Service Savings

Renewable Energy - (8,000) (27,490)

Revenue Services - (38,000) (23,010)

Covid Equipment/PPE reduction in costs - 0 (70,000)

IVCP removal of Covid income losses - 0 (20,000)

PLE Maintenance cost saving - (40,000) 0

Other - (37,920) (7,529)

(123,920) (148,029)

Net Growth 2,804,020 (660)

Key Budget Movements

113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce response to Eastleigh Borough Council Consultation 

with the business community regarding General Fund Revenue Budget and National Non-

Domestic Rates (NNDR) for 2022/2023 

 

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce is fully supportive of Eastleigh Borough Council’s General Fund 

Revenue Budget and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) for 2022/2023. 

We believe that you are taking a cautious and sensible view, by delivering the services required and 

essential to support the local community and business community, whilst at the same time 

addressing your need to remain financially stable and to source new investment opportunities.  

Eastleigh Borough Council along with the other Local Authorities have done tremendous work in 

supporting the business community particularly during the Covid pandemic through grants, financial 

support, and business support. 

It is essential to maintain that level of support to the business community, particularly to those 

sectors that have been significantly impacted during the Covid pandemic such as the Hospitality 

Sector, Retail Sector, Care Sector, Distribution/Logistics Sector, Travel, and Transport sectors. 

We would emphasise the needs: 

• To offer flexible, affordable workspace opportunities for businesses to develop and grow, 

and to create new investment/marketing opportunities. 

• To provide businesses with more support to enable them to become more sustainable and 

have access to the latest digital/technology platforms to assist their business.  

• To focus on skills/education working with the local colleges to assist young people  and those 

looking to return to work, to upskill, and to re-train. 

• To continue working in collaboration with partners and stakeholders.   

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce are happy to assist you in any way that we can. 

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce 

January 2022 

 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix D 
 

MEDIUM TERM BUDGET STRATEGY 2021/22 –2026/27 RISK ASSESSMENT 
Assessment of risks for the year 2021/22 and future years 
Please note: 
The probability (prob) and impact (imp) of identified risks adversely affecting the Budget are each addressed on a scale of 1 to 5,  
where 1 = very low, 2 = low, 3 = medium, 4 = high and 5 = very high. 
 

Risk 2021/22 Future  

 Prob Imp Prob Imp Comments 

1.  General Fund Balances less 
than 10% of Net Revenue 
Spend. 

1 2 2 2 Balances are forecast to be in excess of the 10% 
minimum.  This position is now more certain as 
services start to return to pre-pandemic levels. 
 

2.  Impact of new legislation and 
Government initiatives  

1 2 4 4 There will inevitably be future legislation and 
initiatives that may result in additional financial 
implications.  (e.g. Business Rates Review). 
 

3.  Additional borrowing to 
finance the CIP. 

5 1 5 2 Capital Receipts are earmarked for projects which 
have a direct benefit to the public.  For other capital 
expenditure borrowing is the main source of finance 
particularly for income generating projects. 

4.  Failure to achieve the 
Continuous Improvement 
Strategy 

0 0 2 3 The Continuous Improvement Strategy will require 
regular management to ensure that targets are met 
and financial stability for the Council is assured.  The 
regularly reporting to Cabinet will ensure this remains 
closely monitored. 

5.  Economic environment 
adversely impacts on Council 
finances. 

1 2 5 4 The Council is vulnerable to macro economic factors 
beyond its control: 
- Interest rates 
- Impact of Covid-19 
- Cuts in Public Sector spending  
- Falling consumer spend 

117



 

 Prob Imp Prob Imp Comments 

6.  
  

Income generated does not 
meet Budget target. 

1 2 3 3 The Council has relatively few high-income earners 
but is vulnerable to a downturn in the significant 
areas of Car Parking and Planning Fees. 

7.  Impact of Covid-19 5 5 5 4 Covid-19 is by far the biggest risk impacting the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan. The uncertainty around 
future lockdown, Government support and economic 
recovery means the forecasts are much more 
variable. Significant provisions have made for those 
services most impacted but the ongoing position is 
very uncertain. 

8.  Staff Turnover – High levels of 
staff turnover disrupt the 
budget process and reduce 
effective budget management. 

2 1 2 3 Staff turnover is currently low and the impact on the 
Budget is reviewed quarterly. A review of staff 
recruitment and retention is also underway to ensure 
the Council stay in line with the market 

9.  Unforeseen service issues 
that have a significant impact 
on the Council’s finances. 

1 1 3 2 Given the variety and range of services there will 
always be unexpected service issues that arise.  The 
Quarterly Performance Monitoring is designed to 
assess whether there are any significant issues that 
need to be brought to Corporate Leadership Board 
and Members attention.  
The Control Assurance Framework also 
demonstrates that the Council has a comprehensive 
network of internal controls designed to prevent and 
alert managers of unforeseen problems. 

 

118



AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 8 February 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 

COUNCIL 

Thursday, 24 February 2022 

CAPITAL, INVESTMENT AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Audit and Resources: 

 
(1) It is recommended that the Audit and Resources Committee note the Capital, 

Investment and Treasury Management Strategies making any 
recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate 

For Cabinet: 

(2) recommend to Council to approve the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1 

(3) recommend to Council to approve the Treasury Management Strategy at 
Appendix 2 

(4) recommend to Council to approve the Investment Strategy at Appendix 3 

(5) recommend to Council to approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Statement at Appendix 2A 

(6) recommend to Council to approve the Prudential Indicators at Appendix 2B 

For Council: 

(7) approve the Capital Strategy at Appendix 1 

(8) approve the Treasury Management Strategy at Appendix 2 

(9) approve the Investment Strategy at Appendix 3 

119

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(10) approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement at Appendix 2A 

(11) approve the Prudential Indicators at appendix 2B 

 

Summary 
 
The Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies set out the long-term 
context in which capital expenditure decisions are made and gives due consideration to 
both the risk and reward of these decisions and the impact on the achievement of priority 
objectives.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 15 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

Strategic Implications  

2. This report relates to all the objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015- 
2025 as it supports the Council’s ability to fund capital and revenue projects 
and services. The approach recommended continues to build on the Council’s 
previous success in this respect, by achieving a high level of rewards for 
residents in terms of service objectives supported by a strong financial 
position, whilst still managing the appropriate level of risk carefully as detailed 
in the report and appendices. 

Introduction 

3. These strategies give a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability. The Strategies can be found at 
Appendices 1, 2 & 3. 

Financial Implications 

4. The Financial Implications of each strategy are laid out in each Strategic 
Document. 

Risk Assessment 

5. The Council seeks to minimise risk whilst maximising the financial return from 
its investments/borrowing portfolio. Risk is pro-actively managed with advice 
from Arlingclose (the Council’s treasury advisors) and all major decisions 
being made by the Treasury Management Group. The Finance team carry out 
their duties in a controlled manner to ensure that all of the Council’s 

120



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

investment and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with these 
strategies. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because It is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. Therefore it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

7. In May 2019 a Consultation Response was submitted to Cabinet regarding 
HCC Pension Fund’s Responsible Investment Policy. Where relevant, the 
same principles outlined in that response will be applied to Capital, Investment 
and Treasury decisions carried out by Eastleigh Borough Council. 

 

Conclusion 

8. The Council is required to approve a Capital, Investment and Treasury 
Management Strategy each financial year which includes an overview of 
Capital Financing, Treasury Management and Investments. The report also 
includes the approval of the Prudential Indicators (Appendix 2B) and MRP 
statement (Appendix 2A). 

 

SARAH KING 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Date: 26/01/2022 
Contact Officer: Tom Andrews 
Tel No: 02380 688259  
e-mail: tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 8 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

121



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Capital 
Strategy Report 
2022/23 

 

123



 2 

Contents 
 
Strategic Implications ....................................................................................... 3 

Background ...................................................................................................... 3 

Capital Expenditure .......................................................................................... 3 

Table 1 - Estimates of Capital Expenditure ...................................................... 3 

Governance of Capital Expenditure ................................................................. 4 

Financing of Capital Expenditure ..................................................................... 4 

Table 2 - Capital financing ............................................................................... 4 

Table 3 – Repayment of borrowing .................................................................. 5 

Table 4 - Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement .................................... 5 

Asset Management .......................................................................................... 5 

Treasury Management ..................................................................................... 6 

Table 5 - Net Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement .................... 6 

Table 6 - Authorised limit and Operational Boundary for External Borrowing .. 7 

Investments ..................................................................................................... 7 

Table 7 - Treasury management investments .................................................. 7 

Property Purchases ......................................................................................... 8 

Revenue Budget Implications .......................................................................... 9 

Table 8 - Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream ....................... 10 

Table 9 - Revenue Surplus from Capital Financing........................................ 10 

Knowledge and Skills ..................................................................................... 10 

 

 

  

124



 3 

Strategic Implications 

 
This report relates to all the objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-
2025 as it supports the Council’s ability to fund capital and revenue projects 
and services.  The approach recommended continues to build on the 
Council’s previous success in this respect, by achieving a high level of 
rewards for residents in terms of service objectives supported by a strong 
financial position, whilst still managing the appropriate level of risk carefully as 
detailed in the report and appendices. 
 

Background 

 
This strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability.  
 

Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as 
property or vehicles that have a usable life of more than one year.  In local 
government this includes spending on assets owned by the Council, by other 
bodies, as well as loans and grants to other bodies enabling them to buy or 
improve assets.  The Council has some limited discretion on what counts as 
capital expenditure, for example, the Council can choose not to capitalise 
spend under the value of £10k, and instead charge these as a revenue cost in 
year. 
 
In 2021/22 the Council is planning capital expenditure of £66m as 
summarised below: 

 
Table 1 - Estimates of Capital Expenditure 

 

Programme Area 
2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Climate and Environmental 
Infrastructure 

6,487 
1,341 

629 
20,403 

1,500 
5,363 

0 
690 

0 
2,856 

LAC’s 2,722 6,515 7,072 0 0 

Leisure 43 108 0 0 0 

Urban Regeneration 3,758 3,213 6,710 7,610 2,000 

IT 337 250 450 509 0 

Housing 36,613 34,314 30,892 30,100 46,175 

Total General Fund Services 51,301 65,432 51,987 38,909 51,031 

 
 

125



 4 

Governance of Capital Expenditure 

The current Community Investment Programme (CIP) is attached at Appendix 
1A.  The CIP consists of capital schemes identified by Councillors and Staff 
as being of benefit to the community.  Schemes are approved in year by 
Cabinet, or if it is a scheme that falls under a Local Area, then approval can 
be made by the relevant Local Area Committee (LAC). 
 
All projects are monitored by the Project Management Office (PMO), ensuring 
that projects are started in a controlled way and are reported upon regularly. 

 
For each proposed scheme, alignment to Corporate Strategic aims is checked 
before commitment to spend is made.  This is done using a Project Initiation 
Matrix (PIM) to flesh out a proposal into a clear concept.  When the project is 
authorised, an approved project methodology is used to control and deliver 
the project and report on progress through to the appropriate Strategic 
Programme.  A process map of the project process is shown at Appendix 1B. 
 
For all Strategic Capital Programmes there is a Programme Board chaired by 
a member of Management Team and comprising Councillors, including a 
member of Cabinet, alongside key members of staff who are involved in the 
implementation and delivery of capital schemes.  The aim of Programme 
Boards is to ensure that schemes are managed efficiently and effectively, by 
identifying the Council’s priorities and aligning capital expenditure to meet 
these priorities. 
 
 

Financing of Capital Expenditure 

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources 
(Government grants, developers and other contributions), the Council’s own 
resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or borrowing (borrowing 
and leasing).  The planned financing of Capital Expenditure is as follows: 
 
Table 2 - Capital financing 

 

Financing 
2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

External sources  15,255   13,540   8,064   75   75  

Own resources  1,982   867   8,488   4,754  0    

Borrowing  34,064   51,025   35,435   34,080   50,956  

Total   51,301   65,432   51,987   38,909   51,031  

 
 
 
The core financing of capital expenditure continues to be borrowing.  The 
Council continues to borrow under the guidance of CIPFA’s Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, which gives the Council the power to 

126



 5 

borrow. 
 

Borrowing is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must 
be repaid and this is therefore replaced over time by other sources of finance, 
usually from revenue, which is known as minimum revenue provision (MRP).  
Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets, known as capital receipts, 
may be used to repay borrowing.  Planned MRP repayments are shown in the 
table below: 
 
Table 3 – Repayment of borrowing 

 

Repayment of Borrowing 
2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

MRP  5,055   5,199   6,135   6,414   6,667  

 
 
The Council’s full MRP Policy is approved by Council as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy report. The MRP policy ensures that over the life of any 
asset the full borrowing is repaid. 
 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of borrowing is measured by 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This increases with new 
borrowing-financed capital expenditure and reduces with MRP and capital 
receipts used to repay borrowing.  The CFR is expected to rise to £608m in 
2021/22.  Based on current projections for capital expenditure and financing, 
the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows: 

 
Table 4 - Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

CFR 523,343 569,170 598,470 626,136 670,426 

 
 

Asset Management 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has 
an Asset Management Strategy 2020-2025 that was approved by Cabinet in 
2020.  This Strategy sets out the key future objectives and how the Council 
will effectively manage, use and review the assets, and an update is being 
report to Audit and Resources in Feb 2022.   
 
When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the 
proceeds, known as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets, or used to 
repay borrowing.  
 

127



 6 

Treasury Management 

Treasury Management is concerned with keeping sufficient, but not excessive 
cash available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the 
risks involved.  Surplus cash is invested until required, whilst a shortage of 
cash will be met by borrowing.  The Council is typically cash rich in the short-
term as revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in the 
long-term as capital expenditure is incurred before being financed.  The 
revenue cash surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce 
overall borrowing, also known as internal borrowing. 
 
The Council’s main objectives when borrowing are to achieve a low but 
certain cost of finance while retaining flexibility should plans change in future.  
These objectives are often conflicting and the Council has struck a balance 
between cheap variable rate short-term loans (currently available at around 
0.25%) and long term fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but 
higher (currently between 1.5 and 2.5%).  The Council continues to weigh up 
this balance and evaluates the market to maintain affordability, certainty and 
flexibility in its borrowing.  The Council takes external professional advice on 
interest rates and Treasury Management from advisors Arlingclose to help 
inform this Strategy. 

 
Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding net borrowing are shown 
below, compared with the CFR.  The difference between the two being the 
level of internal borrowing used by the Council.  This represents the use of 
reserves, working capital and revenue financing to offset the need to borrow. 

 
Table 5 - Net Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Net Borrowing 503,233 549,059 578,359 606,026 650,316 

CFR 523,343 569,170 598,470 626,136 670,426 

 
 
Statutory guidance is that net borrowing should remain below the CFR, except 
in the short term.  As can be seen from the table above, the Council expects 
to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit each year.  
In line with statutory guidance, a lower operational boundary for borrowing is 
also set as a warning level should borrowing begin to approach the limit.  As 
the Council approves capital schemes throughout the year, this limit is 
updated and reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet for approval by 
Council alongside any Community Investment Programme approvals. 

 

128



 7 

Table 6 - Authorised limit and Operational Boundary for External 

Borrowing 

 

Authorised Limit for External 
Borrowing 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Borrowing 522,343 568,170 597,470 625,136 669,426 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total 523,343 569,170 598,470 626,136 670,426 

 

Operational Boundary for 
External Borrowing 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Borrowing 511,343 557,170 586,470 614,136 658,426 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total 512,343 558,170 587,470 615,136 659,426 

 
 
 

Investments 

Treasury Investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  
Investments made for service reasons or for financial gain are not generally 
considered to be treasury investments. 
 
The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and 
liquidity over yield, focusing on minimising risk rather than maximising returns.  
Cash that is likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for 
example with the Government, other local authorities, or high-quality banks, to 
minimise the risk of loss.  As can be seen below, in order to ensure liquidity 
during the current Pandemic, additional funds are being held short term, to 
maintain liquidity.   
 
Money that will be held longer term is invested more widely, to balance the 
risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation.  Long term 
investments may be held in pooled funds, in this instance an external Fund 
Manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the 
Council may request its money back at short notice. 

 
Table 7 - Treasury management investments 

 

Treasury Investments 
2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Near-term Investments 24,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Longer-term Investments 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Total 34,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

129



 8 

The Council delegates responsibility for the monitoring and scrutiny of its 
Treasury Management practices and activity to the Treasury Management 
Review Group (TMRG), which includes Councillors and the Chief Financial 
Officer, and delegates responsibility for the implementation and administration 
of Treasury Management policies, strategies and practices to the Council’s 
Chief Financial Officer.  The Council also employs an external advisor, 
Arlingclose, to provide advice on how the Council can manage its investment 
and borrowing portfolio. 
 
Investments for service purposes are where the Council may choose to assist 
local public services by making loans to, or purchasing shares in, local service 
providers, or businesses to promote economic growth, or to help enable 
Council objectives externally, such as by lending money to a housing 
developer in order to provide additional affordable housing that would not be 
provided by the open market.  Considering the public service objective, the 
Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments.  However, 
it still plans for such investments to break even or generate a profit after all 
costs. 

 
Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant Executive Head in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and must meet the criteria limits 
laid down in the Investment Strategy.  Most loans and shares are capital 
expenditure and investments and purchases will therefore be approved as 
part of the CIP. 

 
Cabinet are requested to recommend that Council approve the Investment 
Strategy which is contained within the separate Investment Strategy report. 
 

Property Purchases 

With central government financial support for local public services declining, 
the Council has purchased property in order to a meet a number of corporate 
objectives for Regeneration, Economic and Housing Development and 
achievement of its Efficiency Strategy, to enable it to continue to provide high 
quality local services. 

 
Due to the nature of these transactions there is a higher risk, bringing with it a 
higher return.  In order to mitigate the risk, the Council carries out additional 
due diligence on these investments.  The first element that is looked at is 
tenant covenant strength which is their ability to pay the rent.  This includes, 
but is not limited to, credit checks on potential tenants, meetings with the 
senior management of potential tenants of large value transactions and a 
detailed review of their accounting statements. 
 
Secondary to tenant covenant strength is the financial business case.  The 
Council borrows for property purchases; therefore, the Council ensures that 
the income from the tenant is in excess of the borrowing costs and repayment 
of borrowing (MRP) applicable to the purchase of the property. 

 
In order to make the financial business case as resilient and low risk as 

130



 9 

possible, the Council adds in three additional costs, an interest rate 
adjustment, a void adjustment, and a maintenance adjustment.  As the 
Council borrows at a variable rate for its commercial activity, the Council 
charges an interest adjustment on each property.  This is where, although the 
Council predominantly borrows at cheap variable rates, any financial business 
case is charged at higher long-term rates.  This ensures should interest rates 
rise in the future, the Council will still make a financial return.  This adjustment 
is transferred to the Interest Rate Reserve, an earmarked reserve used to 
mitigate the risk of future rate rises affecting the Councils ability to provide 
services. 

 
The Council also charges a void adjustment to each business case.  This 
reserves a percentage of the income so that when the initial lease period 
expires, the Council has enough funds set aside to cover the loss of income 
and void costs such as Business Rates for up to 12 months should that tenant 
decide not to renew a lease, leaving the Council having to find a new tenant.  
This adjustment is transferred to the property reserve, an earmarked reserve 
used to ensure a future loss of tenant does not affect the Councils ability to 
provide services.   
 
The Council also has a similar maintenance reserve, where, depending on the 
age and condition of the building, between 5 and 10% of all income is put in 
reserve each year to cover future maintenance works to the buildings.  This 
Maintenance Reserve can then be used to fund the Repairs and Renewals 
Programme prepared by the Property Services Team. 

 
Decisions on property purchases are also subject to additional levels of officer 
scrutiny, through meetings between members of Management Team, Asset 
Management, Planning, Legal Services and Financial Services.  The aim of 
these meetings is to scrutinise the due diligence that has been carried out, 
and to scrutinise financial business cases to ensure potential purchases are 
sound. 

 
After all due diligence, property purchases are then treated as capital 
expenditure, and will therefore be approved as part of the capital programme. 

 
Further information on property purchases is covered in more detail in the 
Investment Strategy. 
 
 

Revenue Budget Implications 

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the Revenue Budget, 
interest payable on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any 
investment income receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing 
costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount of revenue 
spend funded by Council Tax, Business Rates and general Government 
Grants. 

 

131



 10 

 

Table 8 - Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 

Financing costs compared to 
net revenue stream 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Financing Costs 6,224 8,566 10,844 11,162 11,441 

Proportion of net revenue 
stream 

27.2% 86.4% 106.7% 120.6% 120.3% 

 
 
Whilst the table above shows that the Council is forecast to spend more on 
financing costs than on revenue spend net of financing costs by the end of the 
forecast period, what it does not show is the annual surplus that these 
investments have bought into the Authority to spend on services. 

 
Table 9 - Revenue Surplus from Capital Financing 

 

Financing costs compared to 
income generated 

2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Financing Costs 6,224 8,566 10,844 11,162 11,441 

Income/Savings generated by 
schemes funded by borrowing 

19,165 19,316 20,623 21,988 21,993 

Annual Surplus 12,942 10,750 9,779 10,826 10,552 

 
 
Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure will be 
discussed in the 2022/23 Revenue Budget. 

 
Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the 
Revenue Budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will 
extend for up to 50 years into the future.  The CFO is satisfied that the 
proposed capital programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable. 
 

Knowledge and Skills 

The Council employs qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment 
decisions.   The team includes: 

 

• A Finance Team with five CIPFA qualified accountants, all with over ten 
years of experience in Local Government accounting, and one CIMA 
qualified accountant. 
 

• An Asset Management Team including a number of Chartered 
Surveyors with over 10 years’ experience who are members of the 

132



 11 

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), two of which are RICS 
Registered Valuers. They are regulated by their professional body 
(RICS) and comply with the RICS rules in relation to conduct and 
Continuing Professional Development.  

 

• A Legal Team with 4 qualified solicitors, 2 Chartered Legal Executives, 
a locum barrister and a trainee Legal Executive and a Trainee 
Solicitor.  This includes 2 with over 10 years’  in Local Government; 5 
with significant property and related commercial transaction knowledge; 
3 with extensive planning experience and 3 with substantial regulatory 
and governance background.  
 

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is 
made of external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field.  
The Council currently employs Arlingclose Limited as Treasury Management 
Advisers and takes advice from external property and legal advisors where 
appropriate.  This approach is often more cost effective than employing such 
staff directly and ensures that the Council has access to knowledge and skills 
commensurate with its risk appetite. 

 
Further details on officer’s skills and knowledge, as well as external advisers 
can be found in the Investment Strategy report. 
 
 
 
 

133



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Climate and Emergency 629,260              1,500,000           -                       -                  

Housing Programme 34,314,320         30,892,240         30,100,000         46,175,460    

IT 250,000              450,000              508,740              -                  

Infrastructure Programme 19,943,100         2,403,090           346,470              2,856,330      

Leisure Programme 567,690              2,960,000           344,170              -                  

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath 783,520              2,060,850           -                       -                  

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound 545,290              1,491,780           -                       -                  

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 206,710              81,540                -                       -                  

LAC - Eastleigh 1,241,830           2,564,680           -                       -                  

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley 3,737,660           872,780              -                       -                  

Urban Regeneration 3,212,950           6,710,200           7,610,140           2,000,000      

TOTAL COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 65,432,330         51,987,160         38,909,520         51,031,790    

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

FINANCED BY £ £ £ £

Borrowing 51,025,080         35,434,930         34,080,150         50,956,790    

Capital Financing Reserve 290,220              -                       -                       -                  

Capital Financing Reserve - BFOHH 730                      -                       -                       -                  

Capital Financing Reserve - BHH 6,480                   -                       -                       -                  

Capital Financing Reserve - Eastleigh 38,930                20,370                -                       -                  

Capital Financing Reserve - HEWEB 4,140                   14,400                -                       -                  

Capital Grants 6,797,030           2,607,300           75,000                75,000            

Capital Receipts 508,240              1,855,000           1,354,370           -                  

Developers' Contributions 6,692,200           5,846,080           -                       -                  

New Homes Bonus 69,280                6,209,080           3,400,000           -                  

TOTAL FUNDING 65,432,330         51,987,160         38,909,520         51,031,790    

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

CLIMATE AND EMERGENCY £ £ £ £

Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 26,120                -                       -                       -                  

Strategic Climate Scheme 500,000              -                       -                       -                  

Tree Nursery 103,140              1,500,000           -                       -                  

TOTAL HOUSING BOARD 629,260              1,500,000           -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

HOUSING PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

10-20 Romsey Road 4,905,460           -                       -                       -                  

7-9 Market Street 430,690              -                       -                       -                  

Affordable Housing NHB Grant -                       3,400,000           3,400,000           -                  

Arch Theatre 56,030                -                       -                       -                  

Chalcroft Solar Land 9,530,000           -                       -                       -                  

Chamberlayne Rd & Derby Road Housing Scheme 500,000              2,706,020           500,000              -                  

Disabled Facility Grant 1,533,890           -                       -                       -                  

Empty Home Loans Scheme -                       100,000              -                       -                  

H.M.O.Grant -                       5,000                   -                       -                  

Home Improvement Loan -                       38,460                -                       -                  

Horton Heath Housing Project 10,775,250         21,336,310         25,100,000         45,175,460    

Midlands Estate West End 25,000                -                       -                       -                  

St Johns Phase 2 and 3 500,000              1,000,000           1,100,000           1,000,000      

135



Stoneham Land Development -                       31,980                -                       -                  

Stoneham Phase 5 6,000,000           1,374,470           -                       -                  

Town Centre Sites 58,000                900,000              -                       -                  

TOTAL HOUSING BOARD 34,314,320         30,892,240         30,100,000         46,175,460    

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

IT BOARD £ £ £ £

IT 5 Year Programme 19/20 - 23/24 250,000              450,000              508,740              -                  

TOTAL IT BOARD 250,000              450,000              508,740              -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Air Quality Monitoring Eqt 79,110                -                       -                       -                  

Anaerobic Digestion Feasibility Study 57,100                -                       -                       -                  

Asset Management Programme 72,830                -                       -                       -                  

Bike Shed Upgrades 30,000                -                       -                       -                  

Bishopstoke Road Improvements 35,000                796,620              -                       -                  

Black Horse House Replacement Boilers 38,970                -                       -                       -                  

Chalcroft Solar Park 17,262,770         -                       -                       -                  

Coffee Machine - The Point 540                      -                       -                       -                  

DEFRA Air Quality 40,430                -                       -                       -                  

Energy Monitoring System 120                      -                       -                       -                  

Herald Industrial Estate Dilapidations 8,230                   -                       -                       -                  

Parnham Drive Industrial Unit Repairs 10,800                -                       -                       -                  

Public Transport Initiative 7,890                   -                       -                       -                  

Repairs and Renewals Programme 1,192,210           206,470              206,470              2,716,330      

Sidings Industrial Estate Dilapidation Works 94,320                -                       -                       -                  

Solar Photo Voltaic (PV) Panels (climate change) 80                        -                       -                       -                  

The Point - Studio Works 42,450                -                       -                       -                  

The Point Emergency Lighting 4,730                   -                       -                       -                  

Vehicle & Plant Programme 761,620              1,260,000           -                       -                  

Waste Collection Receptacles 146,190              140,000              140,000              140,000          

Wessex House Cladding 22,710                -                       -                       -                  

Wessex House Internal Refurbishment 15,000                -                       -                       -                  

Wessex House Website 20,000                -                       -                       -                  

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAMME BOARD 19,943,100         2,403,090           346,470              2,856,330      

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LEISURE PROGRAMME BOARD £ £ £ £

Fleming Park Leisure Centre 35,960                -                       -                       -                  

Fleming Park Leisure Centre Car Park 1,770                   -                       -                       -                  

Itchen Valley Country Park Projects 475,020              2,960,000           344,170              -                  

Lakeside Land Extension 17,560                -                       -                       -                  

Parklife Feasibility 37,380                -                       -                       -                  

TOTAL LEISURE PROGRAMME BOARD 567,690              2,960,000           344,170              -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LAC - BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK & HORTON HEATH £ £ £ £

BIFOHH Public Art Strategy -                       125,820              -                       -                  

Bishopstoke Bins 17,210                -                       -                       -                  

Bishopstoke Community Facilities -                       975,950              -                       -                  

Blackberry Drive & Templecombe Way Play Area Improvements 52,850                -                       -                       -                  

136



Botley Road Crossing -                       35,600                -                       -                  

Building Improvements Y Zone -                       30,480                -                       -                  

CCTV Fly Tipping -                       5,000                   -                       -                  

Church Road Play Area 28,650                -                       -                       -                  

Church Road/Stoke Road Play Area 3,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Cigarette Bin 150                      -                       -                       -                  

Community Building Horton Heath 101,770              -                       -                       -                  

Crowd Hill Drive Play Areas 116,690              -                       -                       -                  

Dragons Teeth - Noyce Drive -                       1,840                   -                       -                  

Fair Oak Library 55,980                -                       -                       -                  

Fair Oak Square Improvements 13,250                -                       -                       -                  

Fair Oak/Wyvern Schools Scooter/Cycle Racks -                       14,500                -                       -                  

Hedge End/Horton Heath Cycle Route -                       35,380                -                       -                  

Information Boards 2,500                   -                       -                       -                  

Lighting Alan Drayton Way 1,510                   -                       -                       -                  

Memorial Hall & Glebe Meadow Project -                       573,940              -                       -                  

New Century Play Park Eqt 162,350              -                       -                       -                  

Path Purchase Bishopstoke 1,000                   4,000                   -                       -                  

Pembers Farm Play Areas 69,870                -                       -                       -                  

Speed Indicator Devices (SID) for BIFOHH 290                      -                       -                       -                  

Squash Club Development 50,000                -                       -                       -                  

St Paul's comm building 15,020                214,330              -                       -                  

Stokewood Surgery Extension 65,360                -                       -                       -                  

The Mount/Cemex Public Art 25,640                -                       -                       -                  

Upper Barn Copse 430                      -                       -                       -                  

White Tree Farm Development -                       980                      -                       -                  

Winchester Rd/Mortimers Lane Junction Imp -                       43,030                -                       -                  

TOTAL LAC - BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK & HORTON HEATH 783,520              2,060,850           -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LAC - BURSLEDON, HAMBLE & HOUND £ £ £ £

Bartletts Field Play Area -                       14,500                -                       -                  

Benches at Southern Quay 40,000                -                       -                       -                  

BHH Benches replacement Budget -                       10,000                -                       -                  

BHH Bins 2,900                   9,620                   -                       -                  

BHH Dragon's Teeth 1,100                   490                      -                       -                  

BHH History and Wayfinding Trail project 20,020                -                       -                       -                  

BHH Public art -                       229,700              -                       -                  

BHH Public art Vision only 150                      14,850                -                       -                  

BOFORs Gun Budget 2,480                   -                       -                       -                  

Bursledon Parish Council Sign / Bin and Benches 740                      36,190                -                       -                  

Bursledon Village Hall 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Cleverley Rise Play Area 84,370                -                       -                       -                  

Coronation Parade Phase 2 26,720                -                       -                       -                  

Cricket Activity Camp  Improvement works -                       3,220                   -                       -                  

Cunningham Gardens Dragons Teeth 40                        -                       -                       -                  

Fencing around the emplacement at Hamble Shore 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Hamble Rail Trail 11,520                2,480                   -                       -                  

Hamble Sports Complex Grant 127,940              -                       -                       -                  

Hard landscape of road and car park in the new cemetery 24,570                -                       -                       -                  

Heron Open Space -                       76,320                -                       -                  

Ingleside Green Project -                       20,000                -                       -                  

Kestrel Park Play Area 75,010                -                       -                       -                  

King George V Playing Fields -                       60,060                -                       -                  

Kingfisher Grange Play Area  -                       70,440                -                       -                  

Lionheart Way Ecology Park -                       79,660                -                       -                  

Long Lane Play Area Refurbishment -                       65,060                -                       -                  

Mini Wildlife Habitat 6,970                   -                       -                       -                  

Mount Pleasant Redevelopment -                       120,740              -                       -                  

Netley Local Centre Improvements 1,570                   -                       -                       -                  

Netley Local Centre Public Art 320                      -                       -                       -                  

Netley Nibbles Grant 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Netley Station Platform Seat 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

New Gym Equipment at Station Road 20,000                -                       -                       -                  

New Kitchen at Hound Parish Hall 10,000                -                       -                       -                  

137



New Play Area at Station Road -                       100,100              -                       -                  

Pilands Wood Open Space -                       15,000                -                       -                  

Play area on land the East of Dodwell Lane and North of Pylands Lane 70,550                -                       -                       -                  

Purchase of Speed Indicator Device for BHH 290                      -                       -                       -                  

Renovation of Long Lane Pavilion -                       500,460              -                       -                  

Satchell Lane Footway Extension 3,960                   -                       -                       -                  

Tennis Court Refurbishment Long Lane -                       42,890                -                       -                  

TRO Netley Court School 6,060                   -                       -                       -                  

Winchester Close/New Road Improvements 10                        -                       -                       -                  

Woodlands Way Play Area Refurbishment -                       20,000                -                       -                  

TOTAL LAC - BURSLEDON, HAMBLE & HOUND 545,290              1,491,780           -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LAC - CHANDLERS FORD & HILTINGBURY £ £ £ £

	Chandler's Ford Bins 4,040                   -                       -                       -                  

Ashdown Rd Junction with Hiltingbury Rd Ped. Refuge -                       8,320                   -                       -                  

Ashdown Road Path to Schools -                       3,200                   -                       -                  

CFH Bench Improvements 1,990                   -                       -                       -                  

CFH Cycle parking -                       2,160                   -                       -                  

CFH Public Art -                       5,160                   -                       -                  

CFORD New Street Furniture 2,390                   -                       -                       -                  

Flexford Nature reserve improvements 2,050                   11,030                -                       -                  

Footpath connection at Hiltingbury Recreation Ground 19,670                -                       -                       -                  

Funding from NHB - Hiltingbury Pavilion 20,830                -                       -                       -                  

Hiltingbury Lakes Countryside Site -                       1,140                   -                       -                  

Hiltingbury Lakes Improvements 90,710                34,000                -                       -                  

Hiltingbury Recreation Ground Car Park Improvements 10,000                -                       -                       -                  

Hiltingbury Recreation Ground Playing Surface 15,740                -                       -                       -                  

Hut Farm Play Area 640                      -                       -                       -                  

Improvements to CFH Play areas -                       13,000                -                       -                  

Merdon Ave/Kingsway Junction Imp. 15,220                -                       -                       -                  

Ramalley Countryside Site 2,230                   -                       -                       -                  

Speed Indicator Device for CFH 50                        -                       -                       -                  

The Arch upgrade of facilities -                       3,530                   -                       -                  

Winchester Rd Fway Widening 1,880                   -                       -                       -                  

Winchester Rd/Hiltingbury Rd Junction Imp. 19,270                -                       -                       -                  

TOTAL LAC - CHANDLERS FORD & HILTINGBURY 206,710              81,540                -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LAC - EASTLEIGH £ £ £ £

A new community building for Allbrook Parish -                       165,070              -                       -                  

Access to Home Wood -                       848,230              -                       -                  

Allbrook Hill Play Area -                       290                      -                       -                  

Allbrook Meadows Public Art -                       4,810                   -                       -                  

Avenue Park Bridge Repairs 7,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Bishopstoke Recreation Ground 77,050                -                       -                       -                  

Bishopstoke Recreation Ground riverbank repairs 5,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Bus Shelter on Allbrook Hill 4,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Cheriton Road Play Area 66,040                -                       -                       -                  

CPZ Mount View 7,710                   -                       -                       -                  

Eastleigh Street Furniture 10,460                -                       -                       -                  

Eastleigh Town Centre Action Plan -                       250,400              -                       -                  

Eastleigh Town Centre Toilets 72,180                72,190                -                       -                  

Eastleigh War Memorial 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Falcon Square Open Space Imp. 3,630                   -                       -                       -                  

Fleming Park flood management -                       45,050                -                       -                  

Fleming Park landscaping & Public Art -                       83,920                -                       -                  

Fleming Park Old Golf Course Improvements 8,460                   26,110                -                       -                  

Fleming Park Play Area -                       31,210                -                       -                  

Fleming Park Play Area and Paddling Pool -                       26,380                -                       -                  

Fleming Park Public Art -                       10,290                -                       -                  

138



Freespace Skate Park (includes Gate) -                       134,020              -                       -                  

Freespace Skate Park Project -                       76,730                -                       -                  

Grantham Green Open Space Improvements 18,800                -                       -                       -                  

Illegal encampment prevention for the Lakeside Estate 580                      -                       -                       -                  

Improving local health provision -                       157,070              -                       -                  

Knowle Hill Footpath -                       1,530                   -                       -                  

Lakeside Country Park Access Road -                       6,240                   -                       -                  

Lakeside Country Park Car Parks -                       10,440                -                       -                  

Lawn Road Play Area 75,810                66,240                -                       -                  

Leigh Rd Rec. Ground - replacement furniture 9,690                   -                       -                       -                  

Leigh Road Recreation Ground -                       149,100              -                       -                  

Market Place Public Art Tree Grills 1,180                   -                       -                       -                  

Market Street MUGA ( Community Garden ) 4,210                   3,820                   -                       -                  

Market Street MUGA ( Parking element scheme ) 16,030                -                       -                       -                  

Market Street South Play Area 4,670                   -                       -                       -                  

New Litter Bins & Benches 1,500                   -                       -                       -                  

New vehicle access for Allbrook Meadow 6,800                   -                       -                       -                  

North Stoneham Park bus provision -                       97,080                -                       -                  

North Stoneham Park play areas 6,810                   -                       -                       -                  

North Stoneham Public Art 3,230                   256,070              -                       -                  

Pirelli Park Open Spaces 54,410                -                       -                       -                  

Shakespeare Junior School Cycle & Scooter Parking 6,090                   -                       -                       -                  

Sports Pitch Relocation Project 711,970              -                       -                       -                  

Station to Lidl Footpath 5,750                   -                       -                       -                  

Velmore Public Art 2,410                   -                       -                       -                  

Wells Place event space extension 40,040                -                       -                       -                  

Xmas Lighting 6,320                   6,060                   -                       -                  

Youth Facility in Eastleigh 2,000                   36,330                -                       -                  

TOTAL LAC - EASTLEIGH 1,241,830           2,564,680           -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

LAC - HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY £ £ £ £

Access to Cutbush Lane Playing Fields 20                        -                       -                       -                  

Ageas Bowl Boxing Facilities 700                      -                       -                       -                  

Automation of the village clock and upgrades to the clock tower in Botley 25,030                -                       -                       -                  

Barnsland Recreation and Skate Park 250                      176,880              -                       -                  

Berry Entrance 28,690                -                       -                       -                  

Berrywood Meadows, Hedge End -                       36,160                -                       -                  

Bins Heweb -                       14,400                -                       -                  

Boorley Park Kitchen Project -                       30,090                -                       -                  

Boorley Park Play Area 45,660                -                       -                       -                  

Boorley Park Public Art -                       108,360              -                       -                  

Botley Allotments 3,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Botley Transport Initiatives 7,000                   -                       -                       -                  

Bradbeers Roundabout -                       7,040                   -                       -                  

Car park barriers at Boorley Park -                       9,290                   -                       -                  

Community Facilities Boorley Park -                       70,360                -                       -                  

Cycle Link Barbe Baker Avenue (TSI 741) -                       14,950                -                       -                  

Cycle Link St John's Rd/Foord Rd & Upper Northam Drive -                       2,470                   -                       -                  

Cycleway Cutbush & Townhill Way (TSI 502) -                       880                      -                       -                  

Defibrillator, Boorley Park -                       1,800                   -                       -                  

Dowds Farm Play Area 990                      -                       -                       -                  

East Side of Moorgreen Rd Footway 16,530                -                       -                       -                  

Electric charging points, Botley 13,200                -                       -                       -                  

Environmental Imp around Next Development 720                      -                       -                       -                  

Flood Resilience 6,430-                   -                       -                       -                  

Hatch Farm Play Area, West End 5,120                   -                       -                       -                  

Hedge End Station Barriers 4,830                   -                       -                       -                  

High Hill Field IVCP 1,060                   -                       -                       -                  

Hilldene Car Park 1,500                   -                       -                       -                  

Hilldene Community Centre Car Parking 2,000                   -                       -                       -                  

IVCP Entrance Project 340                      -                       -                       -                  

IVCP Litter Bins 240                      -                       -                       -                  

IVCP Play Trail Upgrade 3,870                   -                       -                       -                  

Kings Copse Rd to Ave Cycle Strategy -                       2,030                   -                       -                  

139



Little Hatts Recreation Ground, Botley 1,830                   -                       -                       -                  

Lower Northam Rd Footway Links -                       5,460                   -                       -                  

Moorgreen Meadows -                       59,600                -                       -                  

Old Fire Station 10                        -                       -                       -                  

Peewit Hill Reptile Receptor Site -                       27,870                -                       -                  

Play Trail St Johns Development -                       50,840                -                       -                  

Public Art at Hatch Farm -                       45,790                -                       -                  

Public Art Charterhouse Way 14,080                -                       -                       -                  

Public Art Kings Copse Primary School -                       31,410                -                       -                  

Public art project at West End Heritage Trail 6,290                   -                       -                       -                  

Pudbrook Open Space 7,130                   -                       -                       -                  

Shafford Meadows Public Art -                       50                        -                       -                  

Shamblehurst Lane Bus Stop (TSI 119) 3,400                   -                       -                       -                  

Telegraph Woods 1,260                   22,600                -                       -                  

Telegraph Woods ( a study into the flooding issues) 1,260                   -                       -                       -                  

The Pavilions Public Art 7,320                   -                       -                       -                  

Toilet upgrades at either the Old School House or the Town Centre in Hedge End 13,130                -                       -                       -                  

Townhill Farm & Carpathia Close Play Areas 1,240                   -                       -                       -                  

Upgrade of existing paths at Itchen Valley Country Park -                       132,300              -                       -                  

Upgrade of the play areas at Botley Recreation Ground 41,170                -                       -                       -                  

Upgrade of the play areas at Moorgreen Recreation Ground 20,690                -                       -                       -                  

Upgrade of the play areas at Turnpike Way 12,760                20,790                -                       -                  

Upgrades at West End Parish Centre 25,840                -                       -                       -                  

Upgrades to the Drummond Centre in Hedge End 22,340                -                       -                       -                  

Upgrades to the pathways at Pudbrook open space in Botley 10,560                -                       -                       -                  

West End Copse trim trail equipment 4,130                   -                       -                       -                  

West End Heritage Trail 19,070                -                       -                       -                  

Wildern Community Hub - outdoor youth project -                       1,360                   -                       -                  

Wildern Leisure Centre - swimming pool roof 78,030                -                       -                       -                  

Woodhouse Lane development 3,291,800           -                       -                       -                  

TOTAL LAC - HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY 3,737,660           872,780              -                       -                  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Budget Budget Budget Budget

URBAN REGENERATION £ £ £ £

1 Upper Northam Road (Budgens) 50,000                138,630              -                       -                  

Acquistion of International House 2,600                   -                       -                       -                  

Chestnut Avenue Retail Park 7,270                   -                       -                       -                  

CIP Project Management Training 3,970                   -                       -                       -                  

Civic Infrastructure -                       -                       947,480              -                  

Civic Office Development Site 250,000              4,194,880           4,194,880           -                  

Enterprise House 50,740                400,000              -                       -                  

Former Barclays Bank, Hamble 75,130                -                       -                       -                  

Fryern Pavilion 11,220                -                       -                       -                  

Hampshire Community Bank 125,000              -                       -                       -                  

Hampshire House 198,730              -                       -                       -                  

Hendy Ford Development Site 33,640                -                       -                       -                  

Household Waste Recycle Centre Stoneycroft Rise 122,280              -                       -                       -                  

Jubilee Playing Fields 5,000                   -                       -                       -                  

North Stoneham Local Centre 197,380              -                       -                       -                  

Pitmore Road, Allbrook 45,000                -                       -                       -                  

Property Acquisition 425,450              -                       -                       -                  

St Johns Road Acquisition 494,500              -                       -                       -                  

Station Hill Acquisition 65,040                -                       -                       -                  

The Post Office 450,000              1,000,000           2,467,780           2,000,000      

Upper Northam Road 600,000              976,690              -                       -                  

TOTAL URBAN REGENERATION 3,212,950           6,710,200           7,610,140           2,000,000      

TOTAL COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 65,432,330         51,987,160         38,909,520         51,031,790    

140



 

 

141



 

 

 
Governance of Live Projects 

Housing 
Programme Board 

Local Area 
Committees (x5) 

Community Project 
Board 

Live 
Projects 

Live 
Projects 

Live 
Projects 

Highlight (i.e. Progress)  
Reports  
Monthly 

PMO support these meetings, and collate reports 
Democratic Services  

support these meetings 

Strategic Level 

Delivery Level, 
with Project 

Boards 

142



  

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 
2022/23 

 

143



 2 

Contents 
 
Background ...................................................................................................... 3 

Economic Background ..................................................................................... 3 

Credit Outlook .................................................................................................. 4 

Interest Rate Forecast ..................................................................................... 4 

Local Context ................................................................................................... 5 

Table 1 – Existing Borrowing and Treasury Investment Position ..................... 5 

Table 2 - Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast ............................................ 5 

Borrowing Strategy .......................................................................................... 6 

Sources of Borrowing ....................................................................................... 7 

Treasury Investment Strategy .......................................................................... 8 

Table 3 – Approved Counterparties ................................................................. 9 

Table 4 – Investment limits per group ............................................................ 12 

Related Matters.............................................................................................. 12 

Other Options Considered ............................................................................. 13 

Table 5 – Alternative Strategies ..................................................................... 13 

 

 

  

144



 3 

Background 

Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 
borrowing and investments, and the associated risks.  The Council has 
borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  

 
Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework 
of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management 
Strategy before the start of each financial year.  This report fulfils the 
Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to the CIPFA Code. 

Investments held for service and commercial purposes are considered in a 
different report, the Investment Strategy – Appendix 3 

 

Economic Background 

The ongoing impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with higher inflation, 
higher interest rates, and the country’s trade position post-Brexit, will be major 
influences on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23. 

The Bank of England (BoE) increased Bank Rate to 0.25% in December 2021 
while maintaining its Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion. The 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 in favour of raising rates, and 
unanimously to maintain the asset purchase programme.  

Within the announcement the MPC noted that the pace of the global recovery 
was broadly in line with its November Monetary Policy Report. Prior to the 
emergence of the Omicron coronavirus variant, the Bank also considered the 
UK economy to be evolving in line with expectations, however the increased 
uncertainty and risk to activity the new variant presents, the Bank revised 
down its estimates for Q4 GDP growth to 0.6% from 1.0%. Inflation was 
projected to be higher than previously forecast, with CPI likely to remain 
above 5% throughout the winter and peak at 6% in April 2022. The labour 
market was generally performing better than previously forecast and the BoE 
now expects the unemployment rate to fall to 4% compared to 4.5% forecast 
previously, but notes that Omicron could weaken the demand for labour. 

UK CPI for November 2021 registered 5.1% year on year, up from 4.2% in the 
previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, 
rose to 4.0% y/y from 3.4%. The most recent labour market data for the three 
months to October 2021 showed the unemployment rate fell to 4.2% while the 
employment rate rose to 75.5%.  
 

145



 4 

Gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 1.3% in the third calendar quarter of 
2021 according to the initial estimate, compared to a gain of 5.5% q/q in the 
previous quarter, with the annual rate slowing to 6.6% from 23.6%. The Q3 
gain was modestly below the consensus forecast of a 1.5% q/q rise. During 
the quarter activity measures were boosted by sectors that reopened following 
pandemic restrictions, suggesting that wider spending was flat.  
 
The US economy expanded at an annualised rate of 2.1% in Q3 2021, 
slowing sharply from gains of 6.7% and 6.3% in the previous two quarters. In 
its December 2021 interest rate announcement, the Federal Reserve continue 
to maintain the Fed Funds rate at between 0% and 0.25% but outlined its plan 
to reduce its asset purchase programme earlier than previously stated and 
signalled they are in favour of tightening interest rates at a faster pace in 
2022, with three 0.25% movements now expected. 
 

Credit Outlook 

The generally improved economic outlook during 2021 helped bank 
profitability and reduced the level of impairments many had made as 
provisions for bad loans. However, the relatively recent removal of 
coronavirus-related business support measures by the government means the 
full impact on bank balance sheets may not be known for some time. 

The improved economic picture during 2021 led the credit rating agencies to 
reflect this in their assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as 
several financial institutions, revising them from negative to stable and in 
some cases making rating upgrades. 

Looking ahead, while there is still the chance of bank losses from bad loans 
as government and central bank support is removed, the institutions on the 
Authority’s counterparty list are well-capitalised and general credit conditions 
across the sector are expected to remain benign. Duration limits for 
counterparties on the Authority’s lending list are under regular review and will 
continue to reflect economic conditions and the credit outlook. 

Interest Rate Forecast 

The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting that 
Bank Rate will continue to rise in calendar Q1 2022 to subdue inflationary 
pressures and the perceived desire by the BoE to move away from 
emergency levels of interest rates. 

Investors continue to price in multiple rises in Bank Rate over the next 
forecast horizon, and Arlingclose believes that although interest rates will rise 
again, the increases will not be to the extent predicted by financial markets. In 
the near-term, the risks around Arlingclose’s central case are to the upside 
while over the medium-term the risks become more balanced. 

Yields are expected to remain broadly at current levels over the medium-term. 
The risks around for short and medium-term yields are initially to the upside 
but shifts lower later, while for long-term yields the risk is to the upside. 

146



 5 

However, as ever there will almost certainly be short-term volatility due to 
economic and political uncertainty and events. 

 

For the purpose of setting the budget, it will be assumed that new long-term 
loans will be borrowed at an average rate of 3.00%. 

 

Local Context 

On 31 December 2021 the Council held £496.5m of borrowing and £33.1m of 
treasury investments, shown in table 1 below: 

Table 1 – Existing Borrowing and Treasury Investment Position 

 

Borrowing and Investments Dec-21 Dec-21 

Actual 
Portfolio 

Average 
Rate 

£m % 

External Borrowing:   

Public Works Loan Board 350 1.92 

Local Authorities 146.5 0.05 

LOBO loans from banks 0 0 

Total External Borrowing 496.5 1.37 

Other Long Term Liabilities:   

PFI 0 0 

Finance Leases 0 0 

Transferred Debt 0 0 

Total Gross External Borrowing 496.5 1.37 

Investments:   

Banks and building societies (unsecured) 6.4 0.01 

Money Market Funds 17.5 0.11 

Pooled Funds 9.2 3.60 

Total Investments 33.1 1.00 

Net Borrowing 463.4  

 
Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in 
table 2 below. 

Table 2 - Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast 

 
2020/21 
Actual 

£m 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 
Forecast 

£m 

2023/24 
Forecast 

£m 

2024/25 
Forecast 

£m 

General Fund CFR 523 569 598 626 670 

Less: External borrowing (503) (549) (578) (606) (650) 

Internal (over) borrowing 20 20 20 20 20 

147



 6 

 
The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working 
capital are the underlying resources available for investment.  The Council’s 
current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing. 

The Council has an increasing CFR due to the capital programme, but 
minimal investments and therefore borrowing will increase up to £670m over 
the forecast period. 

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends 
that the Authority’s total borrowing should be lower than its highest forecast 
CFR over the next three years.  Table 2 (above) shows that the Council 
expects to comply with this recommendation during 2022/23.   

 

Borrowing Strategy 

The Council currently holds £496.5m of loans.  The balance sheet forecast in 
table 2 shows that the Council expects to borrow up to £578m in 2022/23.  
The Council may also borrow additional sums to pre-fund future year’s 
requirements, providing this does not exceed the authorised limit for 
borrowing of £598m in 2022/23.  This limit is reviewed monthly as part of the 
Community Investment Programme and any change in limits will be reported. 

The Council’s main objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are 
required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term 
plans change is a secondary objective. 

Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 
government funding, the Council’s Borrowing Strategy continues to address 
the key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of 
the borrowing portfolio.  With short-term interest rates are currently much 
lower than long-term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the short-
term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.   

By doing so, the Council can reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk.  The benefits of short-
term borrowing will continue to be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-
term borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the 
Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis.  Its output may 
determine whether the Council borrows additional sums at long-term fixed 
rates in 2022/23 with a view to keeping future interest costs low, even if this 
causes additional cost in the short-term. 

Less: Usable reserves (55) (55) (55) (55) (55) 

Net Investments (35) (35) (35) (35) (35) 

148



 7 

The Authority has previously raised all its long-term borrowing from the PWLB 
but will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, 
pensions and local authorities, and will investigate the possibility of issuing 
bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce 
over-reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code. PWLB 
loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment 
assets primarily for yield; the Authority intends to avoid this activity in order to 
retain its access to PWLB loans.  

Alternatively, the Council may arrange forward starting loans, where the 
interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This 
would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry 
in the intervening period. 

In addition, the Council may borrow further short-term loans to cover 
unplanned cash flow shortages. 

 

Sources of Borrowing 

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are: 

• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan 

Board) 

• any institution approved for investments (see below) 

• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

• any other UK public sector body 

• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Hampshire Pension 

Fund) 

• capital market bond investors 

• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues 

 
 
 
 
In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are 
not borrowing, but may be classed as other borrowing liabilities: 
 
• leasing 

• hire purchase 

• Private Finance Initiative  

• sale and leaseback 

Other sources of borrowing may include: 
 

• Municipal Bond Agency: UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc. was 
established in 2014 by the Local Government Association as an 
alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds on the capital markets and 

149



 8 

lends the proceeds to local authorities.  This is a more complicated 
source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities 
will be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund 
their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any 
reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between 
committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable.  Any 
decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Cabinet. 
 

• Short-term and variable rate loans: These loans leave the Council 
exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore 
subject to the interest rate exposure limits in the treasury management 
indicators below. 

• Borrowing Rescheduling: The PWLB allows authorities to repay 
loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a discount 
according to a set formula based on current interest rates.  Other 
lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption 
terms.  The Council may take advantage of this and replace some 
loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. 

 

Treasury Investment Strategy 

The Council holds invested funds, representing income received in advance 
of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2021/22, the 
Council’s short-term investment balance has ranged between £16m and 
£36m, and similar levels are expected to be maintained in the forthcoming 
year. 

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money 
is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk 
of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low 
investment income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more 
than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or 
higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending 
power of the sum invested. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the Bank of England will 
set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative 
interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. Since investments 
cannot pay negative income, negative rates will be applied by reducing the 
value of investments. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than 
the amount originally invested. 
 
Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments 
depends on the Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council 
aims to achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments by a 

150



 9 

business model of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore, where 
other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to be accounted for 
at amortised cost. 

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in 
table 3 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time limits 
shown. 

Table 3 – Approved Counterparties 

 

Sector Time Limit 
Counterparty 

Limit 
Sector Limit 

The UK Government. 50 Years Unlimited n/a 

Local Authorities & other 
Government entities 

364 Days £10m Unlimited 

Secured Investments * 30 Days £10m Unlimited 

Banks (Unsecured) * 30 Days £10m Unlimited 

Building Societies 
(Unsecured) * 

30 Days £10m £10m 

Registered Providers 
(Unsecured) * 

30 Days £10m £10m 

Money Market Funds * n/a £10m Unlimited 

Strategic Pooled Funds n/a £10m £10m 

Real Estate Investment 
Trusts 

n/a £10m £10m 

Other Investments * 30 Days £10m £10m 

This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below 
 

* Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be 
made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower 
than A-. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment 
or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is 
used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit 
ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
considered. 

Government: Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, national 
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development 
banks. These investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a 
lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the 
UK Government are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to create 
additional currency and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 
50 years.  

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which 
limits the potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality 
of the security will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds 

151



 10 

and reverse repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are 
exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but 
the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the 
higher of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be 
used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one 
counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. 

Banks and building societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates 
of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, 
other than multilateral development banks. These investments are subject to 
the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank 
is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to operational 
bank accounts. 

Registered providers (unsecured): Loans to, and bonds issued or 
guaranteed by, registered providers of social housing or registered social 
landlords, formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are 
regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish 
Housing Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for 
Communities (in Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain 
the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.   

Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice 
liquidity and very low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money 
markets. They have the advantage over bank accounts of providing wide 
diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional 
fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to 
money market funds, the Authority will take care to diversify its liquid 
investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash. 

Strategic pooled funds: Bond, equity and property funds that offer enhanced 
returns over the longer term but are more volatile in the short term.  These 
allow the Authority to diversify into asset classes other than cash without the 
need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these funds 
have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice 
period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in 
real estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar 
manner to pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer 
enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more volatile especially as the 
share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well as changes in the 
value of the underlying properties. 
 

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed 
above, for example unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-
bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the 
Authority’s investment at risk.  
 
Operational Bank Accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures, 
for example through current accounts, collection accounts and merchant 

152



 11 

acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and 
with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are not classed as investments, 
but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be 
kept below £10m per bank.  The Bank of England has stated that in the event 
of failure, banks with assets greater than £25billion are more likely to be 
bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council 
maintaining operational continuity. 

Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Authority’s treasury advisers, 
who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an entity has its credit 
rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria 
then: 

• no new investments will be made; 

• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be 
and 

• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 
investments with the affected counterparty. 

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below 
the approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn on 
the next working day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of 
the review is announced.  This policy will not apply to negative outlooks, 
which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change 
of rating. 

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, 
predictors of investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other 
available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it 
invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information 
on potential government support, reports in the quality financial press and 
analysis and advice from the Council’s Treasury Management Adviser.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts 
about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria. 

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of 
all organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally 
reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these 
circumstances, the Counil will restrict its investments to those organisations of 
higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be 
in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean 
that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to 
invest the Authority’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with 
the UK Government, or with other local authorities.  This will cause investment 
returns to fall but will protect the principal sum invested. 

In order to limit the risk of loss, a group of Banks under the same ownership 
will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes. 

153



 12 

Table 4 – Investment limits per group 

 

Investment Limits Cash limit 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management £10m 

Foreign countries £10m 

Negotiable Instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £10m 

 
The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting spreadsheets to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  
The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council 
being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments.  Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the 
Council’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast. 

Related Matters 

The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy. 
 
Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded 
into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate 
collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the 
expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general 
power of competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of 
the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives 
(i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or investment). 

The Authority will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to 
reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the Authority is exposed to. 
Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be considered when determining the overall level of risk. 
Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward 
starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they 
present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management 
strategy. 

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria, assessed using the appropriate credit 
rating for derivative exposures.  

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will 
consider that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it 
fully understands the implications. 

The Authority has opted up to professional client status with its providers of 
financial services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, 
allowing it access to a greater range of services but without the greater 
regulatory protections afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the 

154



 13 

size and range of the Authority’s treasury management activities, the Chief 
Financial Officer believes this to be the most appropriate status.  

Other Options Considered 

The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management 
strategy for local authorities to adopt. The Chief Financial Officer, having 
consulted the Treasury Management Review Group, believes that the above 
strategy represents an appropriate balance between risk management and 
cost effectiveness.  Some alternative strategies, with their financial and risk 
management implications, are listed below. 
 
Table 5 – Alternative Strategies 

 

Alternative Impact on income and 
expenditure 

Impact on risk 
management 

Invest in a narrower 
range of counterparties 
and/or for shorter times 

Interest income will be 
lower 

Lower chance of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be greater 

Invest in a wider range 
of counterparties and/or 
for longer times 

Interest income will be 
higher 

Increased risk of losses 
from credit related 
defaults, but any such 
losses may be smaller 

Borrow additional sums 
at long-term fixed 
interest rates 

Borrowing interest costs 
will rise; this is unlikely 
to be offset by higher 
investment income 

Higher investment 
balance leading to a 
higher impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
more certain 

Borrow short-term or 
variable loans instead of 
long-term fixed rates 

Borrowing interest costs 
will initially be lower 

Increases in borrowing 
interest costs will be 
broadly offset by rising 
investment income in 
the medium term, but 
long-term costs may be 
less certain  

Reduce level of 
borrowing  

Saving on borrowing 
interest is likely to 
exceed lost investment 
income 

Reduced investment 
balance leading to a 
lower impact in the 
event of a default; 
however long-term 
interest costs may be 
less certain 

 
 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement of Policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision for the year 2021/22 and 2022/23 - 
Unsupported borrowing: The Council’s policy for MRP is to calculate the 
amount to be charged to the Income and Expenditure Account by applying the 
following methods: 

 
Prudential Code debt incurred prior to 1 April 2008 - the Council will 
calculate MRP by applying 4% to the apportionment of the value attributed to 
each financial year’s opening CFR in relation to such capital expenditure. 

 
Prudential Code debt incurred in the year 2008/09 - the Council will 
calculate the amounts for MRP  by applying 2% to the apportionment of the 
value attributed to each financial year’s opening CFR in relation to such 
capital expenditure where the item purchased/built is expected to have a life 
of 50 years or more. 

 
Prudential Code debt incurred in the year 2009/10 and onwards in 
relation to income generating property acquisitions - the Council will 
calculate the amounts for MRP by applying an annuity formula incorporating a 
long-term borrowing rate commensurate in duration to the estimated life of the 
item purchased/built to the apportionment of the value attributed to each 
financial year’s opening CFR in relation to such income generating capital 
expenditure where the item purchased/built is expected to have a life of up to 
50 years or more. 

 
Prudential Code debt incurred in the year 2009/10 and onwards in 
relation to other non-income generating capital expenditure - the Council 
will calculate the amounts for MRP by applying a linear percentage akin to the 
estimated life duration of the item purchased/contributed/built to the 
apportionment of the value attributed to each financial year’s opening CFR  in 
relation to such capital expenditure where the item purchased/contributed/built 
is expected to have a life of up to 50 years or more. 
 
Prudential Code debt incurred in relation to Housing Development 
generating capital expenditure - the Council will calculate the amounts for 
MRP by matching debt repayment percentage to the annual income 
generated in the business plan of each individual scheme, or the period of up 
to 50 years, or in full in the year that the asset is disposed. 
 
It is normal and accepted practice in relation to amounts borrowed by 
reference to the Prudential Code, for the Council to calculate MRP in the year 
that follows the year of the capital expenditure. 

 
Minimum Revenue Provision - for the year 2020/21 & 2021/22 - 
Supported borrowing: No circumstances relating to supported borrowing 
exist for the Council at the current time.  Should the situation arise the Council 
would apply annual MRP charge set at 4% of the CFR at the end of the 
preceding financial year. 

 

157



 
All of the above elements are subject to further regard of regulatory 
amendments where applicable. This policy presents a prudent and robust 
approach to the Council’s duty to calculate and make charges for MRP. 

 

158



Appendix 2B

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Annual Capital Expenditure 51,301 65,432 51,987 38,909 51,031

% % % % %

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 27.2 86.4 106.7 120.5 120.1

Percentage that Interest & Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is of 

the net annual budget.

Net borrowing requirement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

       Brought forward 1 April 484,748 503,233 549,059 578,359 606,026

       Carried forward 31 March 503,233 549,059 578,359 606,026 650,316

       In year borrowing requirement 18,485 45,826 29,300 27,666 44,290

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 523,343 569,170 598,470 626,136 670,426 Total value of capital spend financed from borrowing.

Annual change in capital financing requirement (CFR) 29,010 45,826 29,300 27,666 44,290

Net impact that capital spend less MRP has on the CFR. When MRP 

exceeds the spend this will be negative.

Net debt and the capital financing requirement

Net debt as at 31st March 503,233 549,059 578,359 606,026 650,316 Estimated total funds borrowed.

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £ p £ p £ p £ p £ p

on the Council Tax

       Cumulative impact of all decisions taken at Full Council (275.14) (225.00) (202.66) (222.14) (214.38)

This is an indicator of the annual impact of the Community Investment 

Programme on Council Tax. ( ) indicate a benefit.

Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

       Borrowing 522,343 568,170 597,470 625,136 669,426

       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

       Total 523,343 569,170 598,470 626,136 670,426

Operational boundary for external debt

       Borrowing 511,343 557,170 586,470 614,136 658,426

       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

       Total 512,343 558,170 587,470 615,136 659,426

% % % % %

Upper limit for fixed rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

% % % % %

Upper limit for variable rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Upper limit for total principal sums invested >364 days 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing

       under 12 months Note - Whilst the Council is reopening the Housing 

       12 months and within 24 months Revenue Account (HRA). There are no liabilities

       24 months and within 5 years within the HRA, so these amounts refer to non

       5 years and within 10 years HRA amounts

       10 years and above

Based on the Authority's estimate of most likely requirement for 

external debt.

This section of indicators reflect the limits attributed to long term 

borrowing with a fixed Interest rate. The Council keep these limits at 

100% to ensure that an instant change can be made to long term 

borrowing when approved by the Treasury Management Group.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS Notes

Annual actual borrowing estimates.

The affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with the 

Local Government Act 2003. This sum can not exceed the CFR.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS DECEMBER 2021

159



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

Investment 
Strategy Report 
2022/23 

 

161



 2 

Contents 
 
Background ...................................................................................................... 3 

Treasury Management Investments ................................................................. 3 

Service Investments - Loans ............................................................................ 3 

Table 1 - Loans for service purposes ............................................................... 4 

Commercial Investments - Property ................................................................. 5 

Proportionality .................................................................................................. 7 

Table 2 - Proportionality of Commercial Property Income ................................ 7 

Capacity, Skills and Culture ............................................................................. 7 

Investment Indicators ....................................................................................... 8 

 

 

  

162



 3 

Background 

 
The authority invests its money for three broad purposes: 
 

• The Council has surplus cash as a result of its day to day activities, for 
example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 
Treasury Management Investments) 

• to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (known as service investments); 

• to achieve a number of corporate objectives for Regeneration, 
Economic and Housing Development  and achievement of the 
Council’s Efficiency Strategy through the purchase and building of 
property (known as commercial investments) 

 
This Strategy meets the requirements of statutory guidance issued by the 
government in 2018 and focuses on the second and third of these investment 
categories, with the first, Treasury Management Investments being covered in 
more detail in the 22/23 Treasury Management Strategy report. 
 
 

Treasury Management Investments 

The authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from taxes and grants) 
before it pays for its expenditure in cash (e.g. through payroll and invoices).  It 
also holds reserves for future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of 
other local authorities and central government.  These activities, plus the 
timing of borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is invested in 
accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).   

 
The balance of Treasury Management Investments is expected to fluctuate 
between £10m and £60m during the 2022/23 financial year.  This is based on 
the authority having a constant £10m investment in the CCLA property fund, 
alongside having access to one current account and four money market 
funds, each with an internal limit of £10m.   
 
The contribution that these investments make to the objectives of the Council 
is to support effective treasury management activities 
 
 

Service Investments - Loans 

The Council lends money to local residents, employees, businesses and local 
charities to support local public services and to help the Council achieve its 
Corporate Objectives, through stimulating local economic growth, 
regeneration of the local area, and increased provision of affordable Housing. 

 
The largest loan currently forecast is to a Council Subsidiary to accelerate 
delivery of both housing and infrastructure and seek to increase the 

163



 4 

percentage of affordable housing on a development.  Without this loan the 
additional community benefit desired by the Council would not have been 
delivered by the private sector.  By providing this loan the Council has helped 
to meet the corporate objective for an increased provision and a more diverse 
mix of housing as well as accelerating delivery. 

 
The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to 
repay the principal lent and/or the interest due.  In order to limit the risk, and 
ensure that the total exposure to service loans remains proportionate to both 
the size and aspirations of the Council, upper limits on the outstanding loans 
to each category of borrower are detailed in the table below: 
 
Table 1 - Loans for service purposes 

 

Category of Borrower 

31/03/2021 actual 2022/23 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 

Loss 
Allowance 

£’000 

Net Figure in 
Accounts 
£’000 

Approved 
Limit 
£’000 

Subsidiaries 24,500 0 22,500 43,100 

Businesses 2,500 0 2,500 8,000 

Local Residents – Mortgages 8 0 8 8 

Employees – Loans 117 0 117 
30% of 

employee 
salary 

Total 27,125 0 27,125  

 
 

Due to the nature and timing of these loans, the limits will be monitored 
throughout the year, and should any new loans be identified for approval, 
limits will be adjusted accordingly and reported to Cabinet. 
 
Accounting standards require the Council to set aside loss allowance for 
loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment.  The figures for loans in the 
Council’s statement of accounts are shown net of this loss allowance.  
However, the Council makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum 
lent and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to recover 
overdue repayments.  Details of the recovery process are outlined in the Write 
Off of Irrecoverable Debts report, presented for approval to Cabinet annually. 
 
The authority assesses the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
service loans by:   

 

• Assessing the markets in which the Council is looking to invest, 
in order to ascertain why the market is currently not delivering 
the outcomes the Council requires through its Corporate 
Objectives.  If this is due to financial reasons the Council will 
then assess whether a service loan would provide the means to 
achieve the desired outcome. 

164



 5 

 

• Upon determining that a service loan may be required, the 
Council will then seek external advice where necessary, this may 
include the use of external legal, financial and tax advice as 
appropriate. 

 

• A credit check and analysis of the beneficiary’s financial 
statements will also be carried out to determine their financial 
strength.  Loans will only be entered into should the beneficiary 
be of a suitable strength, and additional security may be sought, 
for instance, through a charge on land, should the Council 
require this.  

 

• In order to ensure the objectives of the Council are delivered, the 
terms of the loan may oblige the borrower to meet certain 
criteria, for instance to deliver a new road to aid congestion 
before houses are built, or to seek to provide additional 
affordable housing on a housing development. 

 

• Where possible, the Council will also place a staff member or 
one of its subsidiaries staff on the board of the project, in order to 
ensure effective on-going monitoring of the project is maintained. 

 

• Once the loan has been made, the Council will continue to 
monitor credit ratings and financial statements of the beneficiary 
half yearly to ensure loss adjustments can be made accurately 
and in a timely manner should the beneficiary’s credit rating or 
financial performance decrease. 

 
 

Commercial and Housing Investments 

The Council invests in commercial and housing investments with the primary 
intention for regeneration, economic and housing development, either through 
the direct impact of investments within the borough, or through the indirect 
impact of investments within the wider region by providing additional income 
that is then spent on regeneration, economy and housing within the local 
area. 
 
Investments in commercial property and housing follow broadly the same 
assessment of the risk of loss before entering into contractual arrangements 
by: 

 

• Assessing covenant strength - This includes, but is not limited to, credit 
checks on potential tenants or strategic partners, meetings with the 
senior management of potential tenants of large value transactions, a 
detailed review of their accounting statements, and charges on land 
where necessary in order to have security over any investment. 
 

• Assessing a thorough financial business case - costing not only the 

165



 6 

purchase price or amount invested, but also associated long term costs 
such as future maintenance and void costs.  This includes setting aside 
provisions as follows: 

 
a) The Council charges an interest adjustment on each investment.  

This is where, although the Council predominantly borrows at 
cheap variable rates, any financial business case is charged at 
higher long term rates.  This ensures should interest rates rise in 
the future, the Council will still make a financial return.  This 
adjustment is taken to the Interest Rate Reserve, an earmarked 
reserve used to mitigate the risk of future rate rises affecting the 
Councils ability to provide services. 
 

b) The Council also charges a void adjustment to each business 
case.  This reserves a percentage of the income so that when 
the initial lease period expires, the Council has enough funds set 
aside to cover the loss of income and void costs such as empty 
rates for up to 12 months should that tenant decide not to renew 
a lease, leaving the Council having to find a new tenant.  This 
adjustment is taken to the Property Reserve, an earmarked 
reserve used to ensure a future loss of tenant does not affect the 
Councils ability to provide services.   

 
c) The Council also has a similar maintenance reserve, where, 

depending on the age and condition of the building, between 5 
and 10% of all income is put in reserve each year to cover future 
maintenance works to the buildings.  This Maintenance Reserve 
is then used to fund the Repairs and Renewals Programme 
prepared by the Property Services Team. 

 

• Where housing is delivered through one of the Council’s housing 
companies, the provisions for maintenance will have already been 
taken through a maintenance contract prior to the payment of income 
to the Council.  The Council therefore budgets for and receives, just the 
net income from Housing rental income.  

 

• Decisions on property purchases are also subject to additional levels of 
scrutiny through staff meetings.   Discussions will occur between 
members of Corporate Leadership Team, Asset Management, 
Planning, Legal Services and Financial Services to scrutinise the due 
diligence that has been carried out, and to scrutinise financial business 
cases to ensure potential purchases are sound. 

 

• Once the property has been purchased, the Council will continue to 
monitor credit ratings and financial statements of the tenant half yearly 
to ensure loss adjustments can be made accurately and in a timely 
manner should the tenant’s credit rating or financial performance 
decrease. 
 
 

166



 7 

 

Proportionality 

The Council is dependent on profit generating investment activity to achieve a 

balanced revenue budget. The table below shows the extent to which the 

expenditure planned to meet the service delivery objectives and place making 

role of the Council is dependent on achieving the expected net profit from 

investments over the lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial Plan. The 

Council maintains large reserves in order to mitigate the impact of any loss of 

revenue income from its commercial properties, and monitors performance 

quarterly in order to ensure any possible impact can be identified, controlled 

and managed as effectively as possible 

Table 2 - Proportionality of Commercial Property Income 

 

Proportionality 
2020/21 
actual 
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 
£’000 

2022/23 
budget 
£’000 

2023/24 
budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
budget 
£’000 

Gross Service Expenditure 81,452 65,312 66,763 66,763 66,763 

Commercial Property Income 13,506 13,530 13,663 13,663 13,663 

Proportionality of 
Commercial Property Income 

17% 21% 20% 20% 20% 

 

Capacity, Skills and Culture 

Staff within Treasury Management hold quarterly treasury meetings with the 
Treasury Management Review Group (TMRG).  This is a Group consisting of 
the Leader of the Council, and containing members of the Cabinet, 
Councillors from the party in power and the opposition parties, alongside 
senior representation from the Finance Team.  The basis of these meetings is 
for staff to give TMRG an update on the current borrowing and investment 
position of the Council, as well as to update on upcoming governance 
changes, legislation and accounting changes, or legal changes that may 
affect the Council and its investment decision making going forward.   This is 
then followed by questions from the TMRG to further their understanding of 
the key areas surrounding both investment and borrowing decision making, 
and to enable them to make informed decisions surrounding Investments. 
 
During 2018/19 and 2019/20 the Council has held training sessions on 
Treasury Management and the current borrowing and investment 
environment, led by our Treasury Advisers, Arlingclose, another of these 
sessions is planned for 2022/23.  This is a formal training evening, where both 
staff and advisers brief all Councillors on the current investment position of 
the Council, future investment position and possible changes to governance 
that may impact future decisions.  A questions and answers session is held 
after the briefing where Councillors are encouraged to ask questions to both 
staff and Arlingclose to further their understanding of the way the Council 

167



 8 

makes decisions on both investments and borrowing. 
 

To ensure staff have the correct knowledge and skills to inform investment 
decisions, the team currently includes: 

 
• A Finance Team with five CIPFA qualified accountants, all with over ten 

years of experience in Local Government accounting, and one CIMA 
qualified accountant. 
 

• An Asset Management Team including a number of Chartered 
Surveyors with over 10 years’ experience who are members of the 
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), two of which are RICS 
Registered Valuers. They are regulated by their professional body 
(RICS) and comply with the RICS rules in relation to conduct and 
Continuing Professional Development. They maintain their knowledge 
and skills through regular technical updates from appropriate bodies.  

 

• A Legal Team with 4 qualified solicitors, 2 Chartered Legal Executives, 
a locum barrister and a trainee Legal Executive and a Trainee 
Solicitor.  This includes 2 with over 10 years’ in Local Government; 5 
with significant property and related commercial transaction knowledge; 
3 with extensive planning experience and 3 with substantial regulatory 
and governance background.  
 

When negotiating commercial deals, there is mandatory representation from 
both the Council’s finance and legal staff in all stages.  This is to ensure that 
both the prudential and legal framework that local authorities operate within is 
considered.  Once it is ensured the Council would be operating within its 
powers, Finance and Legal representation will stay at the forefront of any 
decision made, and commercial deals must be approved internally by the 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) before being formally approved by Cabinet. 
 
 

Investment Indicators 

The Council has set investment indicators to monitor the future performance 
of Investments and allow elected councillors and the public to assess the 
Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions.  Appendix 
3A shows the current Investment Indicators 
 

168



Investment Indicators      Appendix 3A 

Security 

The Council considers a property investment to be secure if its accounting valuation 

is at or higher than the amount of debt currently outstanding for the asset.  

Security Indicator 

Property 
Purchases 

2018/19 
actual 
£’000 

2019/20 
actual 
£’000 

2020/21        
actual  
£’000 

2021/22 
forecast 

£’000 

2022/23 
forecast 

£’000 

Asset Valuations 210,484 201,401 197,566 197,566 197,566 

Debt Outstanding 205,706 203,674 201,580 199,418 197,180 

Security Value 4,778 (2,441) (4,014) (1,865) 386 

 

This indicator has fallen from 2018/19 as asset valuations have fallen, although the 

Council has continued to make prudent provision for the repayment of debt.  This 

indicator is forecast to improve as the Council’s policy on the repayment of debt 

increases the security value over time. 

Fluctuations in value are common, as valuations are predominantly market driven 

and the Covid 19 pandemic caused a reduction in valuations over the last 2 financial 

years, and also due to a general decline in the retail sector over a similar period 

which has reduced some values however in the main, the retail within the Council’s 

property portfolio is not high risk and falls into the subsectors which are less affected 

by the current market changes.   

Valuations are also impacted by the age of the Council’s property portfolio.  As the 

Council has acquired assets, these are often reduced in value in the initial years 

after purchase, as associated costs from the purchase such as stamp duty and 

professional fees are discounted when valued but remain within the debt outstanding 

figure.  The effect of this is reduced over time due to the Council’s policy on the 

repayment of debt. 

The condition of the Council’s property portfolio is closely monitored by the asset 

management team, and the cost of maintaining the buildings is covered both by the 

maintenance reserve seen later in this appendix, as well as through repairing leases, 

whereby tenants are responsible for keeping the buildings they occupy in good 

condition.   This ensures fluctuations are market driven, rather than impairments due 

to a building being in disrepair. 

The Council currently has no plans for the sale of its portfolio and has actively 

engaged with tenants during the pandemic to ensure the security of income, as can 

be seen from the yield indicators later in this appendix. 

169



 

Liquidity 

Compared with other investment types, property is relatively difficult to sell and 

convert to cash at short notice.  Therefore, in order to assess liquidity, the Council 

monitors the income stream attached to properties, a much more liquid asset, 

comparing budgets to forecasts and actuals. 

Liquidity Indicator  

Revenue Income from Properties 
2020/21 actual 

£’000 
2021/22 forecast 

£’000 
2022/23 budget 

£’000 

Budget 10,941 12,546 12,400 

Actual/Forecast at Year End 10,818 12,546 n/a 

Percentage Attained 98.9% 100% n/a 

 

Yield 

The Council monitors property yields both prior to purchase and post purchase, to 

ensure the portfolio makes a financial surplus.  

Yield Indicator 

Property Purchases Yield 
2019/20 

 % 
2021/22 

 % 
2022/23  

% 

Gross Yield 6.56% 6.84% 6.85% 

 

Service Investment – Loans 

The Council also monitors and reports on the outstanding balance and potential loss 

allowances applied to service investment loans.  This will ensure that appropriate 

action can be taken should the loss allowance begin to rise.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

170



Limit and loss allowance indicator 

Category of Borrower 

31/03/2021 actual 2022/23 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 

Loss 
Allowance 

£’000 

Net Figure in 
Accounts £’000 

Approved 
Limit £’000 

Subsidiaries 24,500 0 22,500 43,100 

Businesses 2,500 0 2,500 8,000 

Local Residents – Mortgages 8 0 8 8 

Employees – Loans 117 0 117 
30% of 

employee 
salary 

Total 27,125 0 27,125  

 

Commercial Investments - Voids and Maintenance 

As described in the main Appendix, each purchase by the Council makes allowance 

for funds to be transferred to reserves at the end of each financial year to cover 

unforeseen void and maintenance costs.  To ensure these reserves are maintained 

to the correct level, balances will be regularly reported as part of the Prudential 

Indicators.  These balances will also be monitored through the Medium Term 

Financial Plan and Budget setting processes, and both overall balances of these 

reserves, and individual property balances will be assessed to ensure they continue 

to provide the correct level of risk management.   

Void and Maintenance Reserve Indicator  

Property Reserves 
2020/21 actual 

£’000 
2021/22 forecast 

£’000 
2022/23 budget 

£’000 

Void Reserve 2,472 2,863 3,254 

Maintenance Reserve 1,154 1,487 1,821 

Total Reserve 3,626 4,350 5,075 

 

Commercial Investments – Vacancy Levels 

Monitoring vacancy levels (voids) ensures the property portfolio is being managed 

effectively (including marketing and tenant relations) to ensure the portfolio is as 

productive as possible 

Vacancy Level Indicator 

Vacancy Levels 2018/19 actual  2019/20 actual  2020/21 actual  

Square Footage Vacant 5362 Sq Feet 3298 Sq Feet 10,249 Sq Feet 

% of lettable properties 0.52% 0.32% 1.00% 

 

171



In addition, the performance of the property portfolio and its impact on reserves is 

monitored quarterly as part of the Property Performance report.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

172



AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 8 February 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 

WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS 2020/21 

COUNCIL TAX, NATIONAL NON DOMESTIC RATES, HOUSING 
BENEFIT & SUNDRY DEBTORS 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Audit & Resources Committee note the contents of this 
report and make recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet:   

(1) consider any recommendations from Audit & Resources Committee; 

(2) note debts of £5,000 or under approved for write off by the Executive Head of 
Finance and Housing Programme with a net total of £2,123.03; 

(3) note debts of £5,000 or under, and debts relating to bankruptcy or liquidation 
proceedings, approved for write off by the Corporate Director (CFO) with a net 
total of £182,922.25; 

(4) note debts of £5,000 or under, approved for write off by the Corporate Director 
(CFO) totalling £51,566.06; and 

(5) approve the write-off of debts in respect of one debtor in excess of £5,000 
totalling £187,727.00 relating to National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR); 
 

 

Summary 
 
The Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme and the Corporate Director 
(CFO) have exercised delegated powers to write-off certain debts below £5,000. 

Approval is sought for one debt over £5,000 to be written off. 

173

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Focus for Scrutiny 

Approval is sought for one debt over £5,000 to be written off. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Statutory authority under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 has been 
exercised and the delegated powers stated in Financial Regulations 6.6.1 utilised. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to the financial management and sustainability of the 
Council, operating in a business-like way which underpins the delivery of all of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) objectives.  The issues detailed in 
the report do not represent any significant variance in the Council’s delivery to 
meet these objectives. 

Introduction 

2. Councillors are aware that the Executive Head of Finance and Housing 
Programme is authorised within the Constitution’s Scheme of Delegation to 
write-off debts of £5,000 or less in respect of housing benefits, council tax and 
business rates respectively.  The Chief Financial Officer is authorised to write-
off debts of £5,000 or less and debts over this amount where bankruptcy or 
liquidation proceedings have been instituted.  Anything outside of these limits 
should be approved by Cabinet. 

3. To provide some context, in 2020/21 the net value of sundry debtors raised 
was £27,219,925 with a collection rate in year of 83%.  Councillors are 
reminded that the fact that a debt has been written off does not prevent action 
to recover the debt subsequently being taken if a debtor is traced, provided 
such action is not statute barred through lapse of time.  The process for debt 
collection is regularly reviewed to ensure that income to the Council can be 
maximised. 

4. As previously reported there is an increasing number of Debt Relief Orders 
(DRO) and Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVA) being entered into and 
therefore the figures in relation to these cases have been included with 
bankruptcy and liquidation totals as there are similar restrictions on collecting 
these debts. 

5. This write-off report is produced annually and details of the write-offs are 
given in the following paragraphs of this report. 

174



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Summary of Revenue and Benefits Debts under £5,000 or in 
Bankruptcy/Liquidation/Debt Relief Order/IVAs 

6. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Executive 
Head of Finance and Housing Programme and in cases of bankruptcy and 
liquidation by the Chief Financial Officer. 

DEBTS £5,000 or less 
and Credits 
Written Off  

 
 

(£) 

Bankruptcy 
Liquidation 
Debt Relief 
Orders & 

IVAs 
 (£) 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

(£) 

Reversed 
or 

Recovered 
Debts  

 
(£) 

NET TOTAL  
 
 
 
 

(£) 

COUNCIL TAX 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs) 

 
£ 12,174.24    

 
£91,918.47  

 
£104,092.71 

 
-£14,276.72 

 
£89,815.99  

No. of Accounts 103 212 315 43 358 

NNDR 
Amount (£) 
(inc costs) 

 
£8,999.33 

 
£69,830.21 

 
£78,829.54 

 
-£32,912.30 

 
£45,917.24 

No of Accounts 25 23 48 13 61 

HOUSING 
BENEFITS 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs & interest) 

 
 

£2,123.03 

 
 

£0.00  

 
 

£2,123.03 

 
 

£0.00 

 
 

£2,123.03 

No. of debtors.   
3 0 3 0 3 

TOTALS 
Amount (£)  

(inc costs) 

£23,296.60 £161,748.68 £185,045.28 -£47,189.02 £137,856.26 

 

Summary of Sundry Debtors under £5,000 

7. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

DEBTS £5,000 or less 
and Credits 
Written Off  

 
 

(£) 

Reversed 
or 

Recovered 
Debts  

 
(£) 

TOTAL  
 
 
 
 

(£) 

SUNDRY 
DEBTORS 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs) 

 
£51,566.06    

 
0 

 
£51,566.06 

No. of Debtors 61 0 61 

 

175



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Debts Over £5,000 

8. In addition to the above debts approval is sought to write-off the following debt 
above £5,000 in relation to NNDR.  This debt is detailed below. 

 

NDR 

Reference No 
& Area 

Amount (£) 

(including 
costs) 

Reason 

NDR Account 
Ref:  Redacted 

£187,727.00 

 

The debt relates to a property with a 
rateable value of £199,000 for a liable 
period of 19 months.   

The Council were recovering against the 
previous business rate payer whom were 
liable for the past 18 years.  While 
recovery processes were undertaken 
against the occupant they continued to 
engage with the council and entered into a 
number of payment arrangements to clear 
the arrears. As a result of the previous 
companies continued contact and 
payments there was nothing to indicate 
they were no longer liable for the rates.  

The agreed payment arrangements 
ceased and subsequent enforcement visits 
noted a new company had been in 
occupation. This resulted in the council 
having to reflect the correct liable party.  
Back dated bills were issued but the 
company were no longer trading and 
inactive with no assets.  

Throughout this period, all recovery action 
processes were followed.  The council 
relies on business rate payers to confirm 
when they are no longer liable for 
business rates and it is extremely 
uncommon that a business would not 
inform the council at the time 

 

176



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Performance against Previous Year 

9. One of the key areas of effective debt monitoring is to look back on the 
previous year to assess how the debt portfolio has been managed.   
Comparator tables follow: 

Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Benefits 

Debts under £5k 
and liquidation 

2019/20 2020/21 

Council Tax 220,281.02 89,815.99 

NNDR 163,968.05 45,917.24 

Housing Benefits 13,889.10 2,123.03 

 

 

Debts over £5k 2019/20 2020/21 

NNDR & Council 
Tax 

5,243.75 187,727.00 

Housing Benefits - - 

 

Sundry Debtors 

Debts under £5k 2019/20 2020/21 

Sundry Debtors 107,027.30 51,566.06 

 

Debts over £5k 2019/20 2020/21 

Sundry Debtors 39,350.38 - 

 

10. The comparison shows the value of debts under £5,000 being written off have 
significantly decreased in all services from 2019/20 to 2020/21.  The value of 
debts over £5,000 has greatly increased due to a high value NNDR write off. 

11. The decrease in Council Tax debts being written off is the result of the 
extensive review of debts in 2019/20.  This resulted in a high level of historic 
debts being written off.  The 2020/21 total is comparable with the amount 

177



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

written off in 2018/19.  There are no Council Tax debts over £5,000 to be 
written off. 

12. NNDR debts under £5,000 being written off have decreased, mainly due to 
Central Government introducing Covid 19 rate relief schemes which reduced 
most business rate liabilities to zero in 2020/21.  There was one high value 
write off over £5,000.  

13. Housing Benefit debts being written off reduced due to more effective use of 
recovery tools to successfully collect outstanding debt. 

14. The decrease in Sundry Debtor debts being written off follows a review of 
aged debts.  Many of these are being repaid on instalment plans resulting in 
fewer debts to be written off.  There are no debts over £5,000 proposed for 
write off. 

Financial Implications 

15. The financial implications of write-offs for Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
debts falls on the General Fund Revenue Account and every reasonable effort 
to recover debts is made before this action is taken.  There is already a 
provision in the statement of accounts for bad debts so this does not 
represent an additional cost to the General Fund Revenue Account. 

16. National Non Domestic Rate Debts that are written off are offset against the 
payments made in relation to the business rate retention scheme and 
therefore 40% of written off debts falls on the Borough’s Council Tax Payers. 

17. All amounts shown in this report are net of VAT.  Bad debt relief can be 
claimed within 4 years and 6 months of the invoice supply date so VAT can 
usually be recovered.  In 20/21 there are two invoices ineligible for bad debt 
relief where the total VAT of £237 cannot be reclaimed.  

Risk Assessment 

18. With any debt collection facility the risk of not taking full recovery action prior 
to writing off debts leads to bad publicity and more customers failing to pay 
the amounts owed leading to an increase in Council Tax for the Borough. 

19. Staff within both Revenue & Benefits and Case Management continually 
monitor debts to ensure that they are collected in the most efficient and 
economical manner and only written off where all means of recovery have 
been exhausted. 

20. Debt and debt recovery is regularly monitored across all areas of the Council 
and there is a risk that levels of unrecoverable debt may increase due to the 
impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on both businesses and individuals. 

178



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

21. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. Therefore it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

22. There is no impact to climate change or the environment for this report. 
 

Conclusion 

23. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the 
Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme to write off debts not 
exceeding £5,000 provided the Executive Head of Finance and Housing 
Programme is satisfied that all appropriate recovery action has been pursued.  
The debts detailed in this report have all been assessed on an individual basis 
and are now considered irrecoverable, as any further recovery action would 
be counter-productive and uneconomical. 

24. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the Chief 
Financial Officer to write off debts not exceeding £5,000 and debts where 
bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings have been instituted.  Should the 
circumstances for any of these debts change, the write off can be reversed 
and sums recovered.  The debts detailed in this report have all been assessed 
on an individual basis and are now considered irrecoverable, as any further 
recovery action would be counter-productive and uneconomical.   

 

SARAH KING 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
Date: 24 January 2022 
Contact Officer: Mark Reed/Declan Kelly/Kerrie Thomas 
Tel No: 023 8068 8075/8047/8326 
e-mail: mark.reed@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 declan.kelly@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 kerrie.thomas@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 0 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

179



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

180


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Corporate Action Plan 2022/23
	CAP App 1

	6 Corporate Performance
	Performance Appendix
	Appendix A - Corporate KPI Listing Cabinet
	Appendix B - Service Variances
	Appendix C - Community Investment Programme
	Appendix D - Risk Assesement
	Appendix E - Finance and Housing
	Appendix F - Assets and Project Delivery
	Appendix G - Governance
	Appendix H - Customer Care
	Appendix I - Organisational Development
	Appendix J - Planning and Economy
	Appendix K - Environment
	Appendix L - Health and Wellbeing
	Appendix M - Neighbourhood Services


	7 General Fund Revenue Budget
	Appendix A - MTFP
	Appendix B - Key Budget Movements
	Appendix C - Hampshire Chamber of Commerce response to Eastleigh Borough Council Consultation
	Appendix D - Risk Log

	8 Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategy
	Appendix1CapitalStrategy
	Appendix1ACIPProgramme
	Appendix1BProjectMap
	Appendix2TreasuryManagementStrategy
	Appendix2AMRPStatement
	Appendix2BPrudentialIndicators
	Appendix3InvestmentStrategy2223
	Appendix3AInvestmentIndicators

	9 Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts 2020/21

